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DISCLOSURES 72 ITEM 5 4€“ OTHER INFORMATION 72 ITEM 6 &4€“ EXHIBITS 73 A 2 A A PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION A ITEM 1.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A 3 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. A CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A For the nine
months ended November 30, 2024 A (Unaudlted Expressed in U.S. Dollars) A 4A A FingerMotion, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
A AA AAAA AAA AA November 30,A A February 29, A AA 2024A A 2024A AA (Unaudlted)AA AA ASSETSA AAAA AAA AA AAAA
A A A Current AssetsA AAAA AAA Cash and cash equlvalentsA $164,600A A $1,517,232A Accounts receivableA A 26,383,266A A

A 9,153,692A InventoriesA A 31,096A A A a€”A Prepayment and dep051tA A 4,108,183A A A 5,538,401A Other receivablesA A 1,058,368A A

A 2,515,593A A Total Current AssetsA A 31,745,513A A A 18,724,918A Non-current AssetsA A AAA AAA EquipmentA A 27,334A A A 45,706A
Intangible assetsA A 14,916A A A 30,456A Right-of-use assetA A 154,570A A A 13,734A A Total Non-Current AssetsA A 196,820A A A 89,896A

AA AAAA AAA TOTAL ASSETSA $31,942,333A A $18,814, 814A AA AAAA AAA LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERA&€™ S DEFICITA

AAAA AAA AA AAAA AAA Current LiabilitiesA AAAA AAA Accounts payableA $18,433,571A A $5,153,359A Accrual and other

payablesA A2,172,447A A A 1,595,760A Loan payable - shareholdersA A 1,596,806A A A 4€”A Lease liability, current portionA A 116,081A A

A 4,796A TotalA Current Liabilities A A 22,318,905A A A 6,753,915A Non-current LiabilitiesA AAA A A A A Lease liability, non-current portlonA
A 39,933A A A 4€”A TotalA Non-Current LiabilitiesA A 39,933A A A4€”A AA AAAA AAA TOTAL LIABILITIESA $22,358,838A A $6,753,915A
AA AAAA AAA SHAREHOLDERS4€™ EQUITYA AAAA A A A Preferred stock, par value $.0001 per share; Authorized 1,000,000 shares;
issued and outstanding -0- shares.A A 4€”A A A a€”"A AA AAAA AAA Common Stock, par value $.0001 per share; Authorized 200,000,000
shares; issued and outstanding 53,807,850 shares and 52,545,350 issued and outstanding at November 30, 2024A and February 29, 2024
respectivelyA A 5,381AA A5,254A AA AAAA AAA Additional paid-in capitalA A 42,304,746A A A 40,292,778A AA AAAA AAA Additional

paid-in capital - stock optionsA A 1,656,321A A A 1,037,276A AA AAAA AAA Accumulated deficitA A (33,453,767)A A (28,448,833) A A

AAAA AAA Accumulated other comprehensive incomeA A (881,81 l)A A (782,362) AA AAAA AAA Stockholdersa€™ equity before non-
controlling interestsA A 9,630,870A A A 12,104,113A AA AAAA AAA Non- controlhng interestsA A (47,375)A A (43,214) AA AAAA AAA
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERSA&€™ EQUITYA A 9,583,495A A A 12,060,899A AA AAAA AAA TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS4€™
EQUITYA $31,942, 333A A $18,814, 814A A 5A A FingerMotion, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations A AA
AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA AA Three Months EndedA A Nine Months EndedA A A November 30,A A November 30,A A November 30,A A
November 30,A A A 2024A A 2023A A 2024A A 2023A RevenueA $8,534,079A A $6,140, 146A A $25,366, 825A A $27,588,403A Cost of
revenueA A (8,090, 509)A A (5,502, 151)A A (23,940, 338)A A (24,446,325) AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Gross proﬁtA A 443,570A A

A 637,995A A A1,426,487A A A3,142,078A AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Amortization & deprec1at1onA A (11,561)A A (17,525)A

A (35,315)A A (53,538) General & administrative expensesA A (1,579,619)A A (2,256, 185)A A (4,997 452)A A (5,252, 531) Marketmg costA

A (140,478)A A (40, 963)A A (274, 584)A A (92,559) Research & developmentA A (146, 735)A A (176, 119)A A (506, 001)A A (525,174) Stock
compensatlon expensesA A (179 284)A A (108 213)A A (582, 517)A A (559 092) AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Total operatmg expensesA
A (2,057, 677)A A (2,599 005)A A (6,395 869)A A (6,482 ,894) AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Netloss from operatlonsA A (1,614, 107)A
A(1,961,010)A A (4,969,382)A A (3,340,816) A A AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Other income (expense):A AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA
Interest incomeA A 4,270A A A12,578A A A 36,511A A A 49,425A Interest expenseA A (67, 325)A A age”A A A (95, 903)A A (121,451) Exchange
gain (loss)A A (261)A A448A A A12,132AA A (1,580) Other incomeA A 14,768A A A 2,181A A A 19,584A A A 69,705A Total other income
(expense)A A (48,548)A A 15,207A A A (27,676)A A (3,901) AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Netloss before income taxA $(1,662 ,655)A
$(1,945, 803)A $(4,997, 058)A $(3,344,717) Income tax expensesA A (57)A A a€”A A A (12,037)A A 4€”A Net lossA $(1,662, 712)A $(1,945, 803)A

$(5,009, 095)A $(3,344,717) AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Less: Net profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interestA A (1, 911)A

A (1,460)A A (4,161)A A (822) AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Netloss attributable to the Companya€™s shareholdersA $(1 660 801)A
$(1,944,343)A $(5,004,934)A $(3,343, 895) AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Other comprehensive income:A AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA
Foreign currency translation adjustmentsA A (274,666)A A 252,155A A A (99,449)A A (271,579) Comprehensive lossA $(1,935,467)A
$(1,692,188)A $(5,104,383)A $(3,615,474) Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interestA A (181)A A 221A A A (1,064)A

A (23) Comprehensive loss attributable to the CompanyA $(1 935, 286)A $(1 692,409)A $(5,103, 319)A $(3,615,451) AA AAAA AAAA AAAA
A A A NET PROFIT (LOSS) PER SHAREA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Loss Per Share - BasicA $(0.03)A $(0.04)A $(0.09)A $(0.06) Loss Per
Share - DilutedA $(O 03)A $(0 O4)AA$(OA09)A $(0 06)AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA NET PROFIT (LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

THE COMPANYA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Loss Per Share - BasicA $(0.03)A $(0.04)A $(0.09)A $(0.06) Loss Per Share - DilutedA $(0.03)A

$(0.04)A $(0.09)A $(0.06) AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding - BasicA A 53,326,531A A

A 52,527,382A A A 52,898,259A A A 52,044,125A Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding - DilutedA A 53,326,531A A A 52,527,382A A

A 52,898,259A A A 52,044,125A A 6 A A FingerMotion, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Shareholdersa€™ Equity A AA

AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA AA AAA AAA AAA AAA AAA AccumulatedAA AAA AAA

AA AA AA A A Capital PaidA A AdditionalAA AAA OtherAA AA A AA AA Common StockA A in ExcessA A Paid-in capitalA A
Co

Accumulated. mprehensiveA A Stockholdersa€™A A Non-controlling: A A A SharesA A AmountA A of Par ValueA A stock optionsA A

A A A AAA A
AA AA AA A



DeficitA A IncomeA A equityA A interestA A TotalA Balance at March 1, ZQZL}A A 52,545,
A (28,448,833)A A (782,362)A A 12,104,113A A A (43,214)A A 12,060,899A AA AAAA
AAAA AAA Common stock issued for professional serviceA A 167,500A A A 17AAA A3

A é€"A A A 369, 594A Additional paid-in capital a€“ stock optlonsA A a€”A A A a€ "A A A

> >
<"’<"2

,7
30,104,73 7)A A (847,361)A A 10,949,148A A A (43, 142)A A 10, 996A006A
A AAAAAAA A Additional paid-in capital 4€“ stock optionsA A a€’:A A A a€’
a€”"A A A 422, 701A Accumulated other comprehenswe 1nc0meA A a€”

A

>

88,229)A A a€”AA
AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA A AA Balance at August 31,
,656,321A A A (31,792,966)A A (607,145)A A 9,923,836A A A (45,464)A A 9,878,372A
AAA AAAA AAA Common stock issued for cashA A 1,095,000A A A110A A

AA Aag”AA A1,642,501A Accumulated other comprehensive incomeA A a€”A A

4,666)A A a€”"A A A (274,666) Net lossA A a€”A A Aa€”AA Aac”AA Aae”AA
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A1,642,391AA Aag”’AA €
Aae”’AA Aac”AA Aa€”AA Aa€”’AA A 74,
A(1,660,801)A Aa€”AA A (1,660,801)A A (1,911)A A(1,662,712)AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA
Balance at November, 2024A A 53,807,850A A A 5,381A A A 42,304,746A A A 1,656,321A A A (33,453,767)A A (881,811)A A 9,630,870A A
A47,375)A A9,583,495A A 7A A AA AAA AAA AAA AAA AAA AccumulatedAA AAA AAA AA AA AAA AAA Capital PaidA A
AdditionalAA AAA OtherAA AAA AAA AA AA Common StockA A in ExcessA A Paid-in capltalAA AccumulatedA A ComprehensweAA
Stockholdersa€™A A Non-controllingA A AA A A SharesA A AmountA A of Par ValueA A stock optlonsAA DeficitA A IncomeA A equltyAA

interestA A TotalA Balance at March 1, 2023A A 49,432,214A A A 4,943A A A 37,406,415A A A 632,664A A A (24,691,314)A A (391,692)A

A 12,961,016AA A11,284A A A 12,972,300A AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Common stock
issued for cashA A 20, 000AA A2AA A 59,998A A Aa€"AA Aa€"AA Aa€”AA A60,000AA Aag”AA A60,000A Common stock issued for
professional serviceA A 70,000AA A7AA A124,243AA Aa€"AA A&a€”AA Aa€”"AA A124250AA Aa€”AA A 124,250A Execution of
convertible notesA A 2,465,816A A A 247A A A1,682,466AA Aa€”AA Aac”AA Aa€”AA A1,682,713AA Aa€”AA A1,682,713A Accumulated
other comprehensive incomeA A &4€”AA Aa€”AA Aac”AA Aae”AA Aa€”AA A413,808AA A413,808AA Aae”A A A413,808A Net profit

(loss)A Aae”’AA Aae”AA Aae’AA Aae”AA A(1 265,471)A A a€”A A A(l 265,471)A A 1,209A A A(l 264,262) A A AAAA AAAA AA
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AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Balance at May 31, 2023A A 51,988,030AA A5,199A A A39,273,122A A A 632,66

A (25,956,785)A A 22,116AA A 13,976,316AA A12,493AA A13,988,809A AA AAAA AAAA AAAA A
e
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>
>

AAAA AAA Common stock issued for cashA A 260,000A A A26A A A 779,974AA Aae’AA Aa
A 780,000A Common stock issued for professional serviceA A 12,500A A A1AA A 30,821A A A &€~
A 30,822A Cashless exercise of warrantsA A 121,422A A A12AA A(12)A A4a€"AA Aa€"AA
paid-in capital 4€“ stock optionsA A 4€”A A A a€”AA Aa€”AA A 483,086AA Aa€”AA A a€”
Accumulated other comprehensive incomeA A a€”A A Aa€”AA Aac”’AA Aa€”AA Aa€”AA

NetlossA Aa€"AA Aa€”AA Aa€”AA Aa€"AA A (134,081)A Aa€”AA A (134,081)A A (571)A A (134,652) AA AAAA AA. AAA
AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Balance at August 31, 2023A A 52,381,952A A A5,238A A A 40,083,905AA A1,115750A A
A (26,090,866)A A (915,426)A A 14,198,601A A A11,922AA A14,210,523A AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AA AAAA

AAAA AAA Common stock issued for cashA A a€”A A Aa€”"AA Aac”AA Aae”AA Aac”AA Aa

stock issued for professional serviceA A 72,500AA A7A A A130,408AA Aa€”AA Aa€”AA Aa€”AA A130,415AA A4€"AA A130,415A
Deemed net-stock exercise of optionsA A 90,898A A A9AA A 78,465AA A (78,474)A Aa€"AA Aa€"AA A&€”AA A4€”AA Aa€”A Accumulated
other comprehensive incomeA A a€”AA Aac”AA Aac”AA Aae”AA Aae”AA A 252,155A A A 252,155A A A a€”A A A 252,155A Net lossA
Aae"AA Aae"AA Aa€"AA A&€"AA A(1,944,343)A A&€"AA A (1,944,343)A A (1,460)A A (1,945,803)AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA
AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA A A A Balance at November, 2023A A 52,545,350A A A 5,254A A A 40,292,778A A A 1,037,276A A

A (28,035,209)A A (663,271)A A 12,636,828A A A 10,462A A A 12,647, 290A A 8A A FingerMotion, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows A AA AAAA AAA AA Nine Months EndedA A A November 30,A A November 30,A A A 2024A A 2023A Net lossA
$(5,009,095)A $(3,344, 717) Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: A AAAA AAA Share based
compensation expensesA A 988,639A A A 927,372A Amortization and depreciationA A 35,315A A A 53,538A AA AAAA AAA Change in
operating assets and liabilities: A AAAA AAA (Increase) decrease in accounts receivableA A (17,296, 795)A A (5,072,577) (Increase) decrease in
prepayment and dep051tA A 1,390,794A A A (1,113,267) (Increase) decrease in other receivablesA A 1,438,128A A A (2 161,319) (Increase)
decrease in inventoriesA A (31, 096)A A a€”A Increase (decrease) in accounts payableA A 13,319,337A A A 3,864,745A Increase (decrease) in
accrual and other payablesA A 567,593A A A (102,182) Increase (decrease) in due to lease hab111tyA A 10,314AA A (4,618) Net cash provided by
(used in) operating activitiesA A (4,586,866)A A (6,953,025)AA AAAA AAA Cash flows from investing activitiesA AAAA AA A Purchase of
equipmentA A (1, 705)A A (379) Net cash provided by (used in) investing activitiesA A (1, 705)A A(379)AA AAAA AAA Cash flows from
financing activitiesA AAAA AAA Proceed from loan payableA A 1,596,806A A A 4€”A Repayment of convertible noteA A 4€”A A A (1,135, 333)
Common stock issued for cashA A 1,642,500A A A 840,000A Net cash prov1ded by (used in) flnancmg activitiesA A 3,239,306A A A (295 333) A A

AAAA AAA Effectof exchange rates on cash and cash equivalentsA A (3, 367)A A (56, 939) AA AAAA AAA Net change in cashA

A (1,352,632)A A (7,305,676) AA AAAA AAA Cashat beginning of perlodA A1,517,232A A A9,240,241A AA AAAA AAA Cashatend of
periodA $164,600A A $1,934,565A AA AAAA AAA Major non-cash transactions:A AAAA A A A Conversion of loan payables to sharesA
$a€”A A $1 682,713A AA AAAA AAA Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:A AAAA AAA Interest paidA $a€”A A $a€”A
Taxes paidA $4€”A A $a€”A A 9 AA A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 1 4€“Nature of Business and basis of Presentation A FingerMotion, Inc. fka Property Management
Corporation of America (the &€ceCompanya€) was incorporated on January 23, 2014 under the laws of the State of Delaware. The Company then
offered management and consulting services to residential and commercial real estate property owners who rent or lease their property to third
party tenants. A The Company changed its name to FingerMotion, Inc. on July 13, 2017 after a change in control. In July 2017 the Company acquired
all of the outstanding shares of Finger Motion Company Limited (4€0eFMCL&€), a Hong Kong corporation that is an information technology company
which specialize in operating and publishing mobile games. A Pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement with FMCL, effective July 13, 2017 (the
a€ceShare Exchange Agreementa€), the Company agreed to exchange the outstanding equity stock of FMCL held by the FMCL Shareholders for
shares of common stock of the Company. At the Closing Date, the Company issued 12,000,000 shares of common stock to the FMCL shareholders. In
addition, the Company issued 600,000 shares to other consultants in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Share Exchange
Agreement. A The transaction was accounted for as a €cereverse acquisitiona€ since, immediately following completion of the transaction, the
shareholders of FMCL effectuated control of the post-combination Company. For accounting purposes, FMCL was deemed to be the accounting
acquirer in the transaction and, consequently, the transaction is treated as a recapitalization of FMCL (i.e., a capital transaction involving the
issuance of shares by the Company for the shares of FMCL). Accordingly, the consolidated assets, liabilities and results of operations of FMCL
became the historical financial statements of FingerMotion, Inc. and its subsidiaries, and the Companya€™s assets, liabilities and results of
operations were consolidated with FMCL beginning on the acquisition date. No step-up in basis or intangible assets or goodwill were recorded in this
transaction. A As a result of the Share Exchange Agreement and the other transactions contemplated thereunder, FMCL became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. FMCL, a Hong Kong corporation, was formed in April 6, 2016. A On October 16, 2018, the Company through its indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, Shanghai JiuGe Business Management Co., Ltd. (a4€mJiuGe Managementa€), entered into a series of agreements known as
variable interest agreements (the &€eVIE Agreementsa€) pursuant to which Shanghai JiuGe Information Technology Co., Ltd. (3€ce]JiuGe
Technologya€) became JiuGe Managementa€™s contractually controlled affiliate. The use of VIE agreements is a common structure used to acquire
PRC corporations, particularly in certain industries in which foreign investment is restricted or forbidden by the PRC government. The VIE
Agreements include a Consulting Services Agreement, a Loan Agreement, a Power of Attorney Agreement, a Call Option Agreement, and a Share
Pledge Agreement in order to secure the connection and commitments of JiuGe Technology. A On March 7, 2019, JiuGe Technology also acquired
99% of the equity interest of Beijing XunLian (a€ceBXa€), a subsidiary that provides bulk distribution of SMS messages for JiuGe Technology
customers at discounted rates. A Finger Motion Financial Company Limited was incorporated on January 24, 2020 and is 100% owned by
FingerMotion, Inc. The company has been activated for the insurtech business during the last quarter of the fiscal year 2021 where the Big Data
division secured its first contract and recorded revenue. A Shanghai TengLian JiuJiu Information Communication Technology Co., Ltd. was
incorporated on December 23, 2020 for the purpose of venturing into the mobile phone sales in China. It is 99% owned by JiuGe Technology. A On
February 5, 2021, JiuGe Technology disposed of its 99% owned subsidiary, Suzhou BuGuNiao Digital Technology Co., Ltd., which was established to
venture into R&D projects. A Shanghai KeShunXiang Automobile Service Co., Ltd. was incorporated on April 10, 2024 for the purpose of venturing
into the communication and streaming services in China. It is 99% owned by JiuGe Technology. AA 10 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months
ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 2 - Summary of Principal Accounting



Policies A Principles of Consolidation and Presentation A The condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (a&€mU.S. GAAP&€). The condensed consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts, transactions, and profits have been eliminated upon consolidation. A
Variable interest entity A Pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board (a€eFASBa€) Accounting Standards Codification (a€0eASC&€) Section
810, a€eConsolidationa€ (4€0cASC 8104a€), the Company is required to include in its consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of its
variable interest entities (&€0eVIEsd€). ASC 810 requires a VIE to be consolidated if that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss for the
VIE or is entitled to receive a majority of the VIE&€™ s residual returns. VIEs are those entities in which a company, through contractual
arrangements, bears the risk of, and enjoys the rewards normally associated with ownership of the entity, and therefore the company is the primary
beneficiary of the entity. A Under ASC 810, a reporting entity has a controlling financial interest in a VIE, and must consolidate that VIE, if the
reporting entity has both of the following characteristics: (a) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly affect the VIE&€™ s
economic performance; and (b) the obligation to absorb losses, or the right to receive benefits, that could potentially be significant to the VIE. The
reporting entitya€™s determination of whether it has this power is not affected by the existence of kick-out rights or participating rights, unless a
single enterprise, including its related parties and de - facto agents, have the unilateral ability to exercise those rights. JiuGe Technologya€™ s actual
stockholders do not hold any kick-out rights that affect the consolidation determination. A Through the VIE agreements disclosed in Note 1, the
Company is deemed the primary beneficiary of JiuGe Technology. Accordingly, the results of JiuGe Technology have been included in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. JiuGe Technology has no assets that are collateral for or restricted solely to settle their obligations.
The creditors of JiuGe Technology do not have recourse to the Companya€™s general credit. A 11 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended
November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 2 - Summary of Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued) A The following assets and liabilities of the VIE and VIE&€™ s subsidiaries are included in the accompanying condensed consolidated
financial statements of the Company as of November 30, 2024 and February 29, 2024: A Assets and liabilities of the VIE A Schedule of variable
interest entltyA AAA AA AA November 30, 2024A A February 29, 2024A A A (unaudlted)A A A A Current assetsA $8 567,626A A
$10,578,657A Non-current assetsA A 177,762A A A 53,109A Total assetsA $8,745,389A A $10,631,766A AA AAAA A A A Current liabilitiesA
$8,836,742AA $9,654,896A Non-current liabilitiesA A 39,933A A A a€”A Total liabilitiesA $8,876,675AA $9,654,896A A Assets and liabilities of
the VIE Subsidiary A A A November 30, 2024A A February 29, 2024A A A (unaudited)A A A A Current assetsA $21,284,868A A $4,826,781A
Non-current assetsA A 5,328A A A 6,088A Total assetsA $21,290,196A A $4,832,869A AA AAAA A AA Current liabilitiesA $26,019,060A A
$9,181,719A Non-current liabilitiesA A a€”A A A 4€”A Total liabilitiesA $26,019,060A A $9,181,719A A 12 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine
months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 2 - Summary of Principal Accounting
Policies (Continued) A Operating Result of VIE A’ A A For the Nine Months Ended November 30, 2024A A For the Nine Months Ended November
30, 2023A A A (unaudlted)AA (unaudlted)A RevenueA $4,375,824A A $18,952,973A Cost of revenueA A (3,613,533)A A (17,165,083) Gross
profltA $762 291A A $1,787,890A AA AAAA AAA Amortization and depre01at10nA A@7,721)A A (18, 947) General and administrative
expensesA A (1,559,299)A A (1,672,860) Marketmg costA A (91 849)A A (16,193) Research & developmentA A (257, 022)A A (244, 859) Total

operating expensesA $(1 925 891)A $(1 952,859) AA AAAA AAA Net proﬁt (loss) from operationsA $(1,163,600)A $(164 969) AA AAAA

A A A Interest incomeA A 36,387A A A 48,931A Other incomeA A 18,273A A A 69,352A Total other incomeA $54,660A A $118,283A A A
AAAA AAA Tax expenseA A a€”"AA A a€”A Net profit (loss)A $(1,108,940)A $(46,686) A Operating Result of VIE Subsidiaries A A A For the
Nine Months Ended November 30, 2024A A For the Nine Months Ended November 30, 2023A A A (unaudlted)A A (unaudlted)A RevenueA
$20,991,002A A $7,573,286A Cost of revenueA A (20,326,805)A A (7,281,242) Gross profitA $664,197A A $292,044A AA AAAA AAA
Amortization and depreciationA A (719)A A (726) General and administrative expensesA A (819,258)A A (235,617) Marketing costA A (182,735)A
A (76,367) Research & developmentA A (66, 580)A A (62,213) Total operating expensesA $(1 069, 292)A $(374,923) AA AAAA AAA Net profit
(loss) from operatlonsA $(405 095)A $(82,879)AA AAAA AAA InterestincomeA A 23A A A 356A Other incomeA A 1,000A A A 353A Total
other incomeA $1,023A A $709A AA AAAA AAA Tax expenseA A (12,037)A A 4€”A Net profit (loss)A $(416,109)A $(82,170) A 13 A A
FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 2 -
Summary of Principal Accounting Policies (Continued) A Use of Estimates A The preparation of the Companya€™s financial statements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles of the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management makes its best estimate of the ultimate outcome for these
items based on historical trends and other information available when the financial statements are prepared. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. A Certain Risks and Uncertainties A The Company relies on cloud-based hosting through a global accredited hosting provider.
Management believes that alternate sources are available; however, disruption or termination of this relationship could adversely affect our
operating results in the near-term. A Identifiable Intangible Assets A Identifiable intangible assets are recorded at cost and are amortized over 3-10
years. Similar to tangible property and equipment, the Company periodically evaluates identifiable intangible assets for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. A Impairment of Long-Lived Assets A The Company
classifies its long-lived assets into: (i) computer and office equipment; (ii) furniture and fixtures, (iii) leasehold improvements, and (iv) finite &€“ lived
intangible assets. A Long-lived assets held and used by the Company are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be fully recoverable. It is possible that these assets could become impaired as a result of
technology, economy or other industry changes. If circumstances require a long-lived asset or asset group to be tested for possible impairment, the
Company first compares undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by that asset or asset group to its carrying value. If the carrying value of
the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, an impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying
value exceeds its fair value. Fair value is determined through various valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow models, relief from royalty
income approach, quoted market values and third-party independent appraisals, as considered necessary. A The Company makes various
assumptions and estimates regarding estimated future cash flows and other factors in determining the fair values of the respective assets. The
assumptions and estimates used to determine future values and remaining useful lives of long-lived assets are complex and subjective. They can be
affected by various factors, including external factors such as industry and economic trends, and internal factors such as the Companya€™s business
strategy and its forecasts for specific market expansion. A Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Risk A Accounts receivable, net is stated at the
amount the Company expects to collect, or the net realizable value. The Company provides a provision for allowances that includes returns,
allowances and doubtful accounts equal to the estimated uncollectible amounts. The Company estimates its provision for allowances based on
historical collection experience and a review of the current status of trade accounts receivable. It is reasonably possible that the Companya€™s
estimate of the provision for allowances will change. A 14 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to
the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 2 - Summary of Principal Accounting Policies (Continued) A Lease A Operating and
finance lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of the future lease
payments over the lease term. When the rate implicit to the lease cannot be readily determined, the Company utilizes its incremental borrowing rate
in determining the present value of the future lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate is derived from information available at the lease
commencement date and represents the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term
and amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. The right-of-use asset includes any lease payments made and lease
incentives received prior to the commencement date. Operating lease right-of-use assets also include any cumulative prepaid or accrued rent when
the lease payments are uneven throughout the lease term. The right-of-use assets and lease liabilities may include options to extend or terminate the
lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. A Cash and Cash Equivalents A Cash and cash equivalents represent
cash on hand, demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments placed with banks, which have original maturities of three months or
less and are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. A Property and Equipment A Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of
property and equipment is provided using the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes at rates based on the estimated useful lives of the
assets. Estimated useful lives range from three to seven years. Land is classified as held for sale when management has the ability and intent to sell,
in accordance with ASC Topic 360-45. A Earnings Per Share A Basic (loss) earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period while the effects of potential common shares outstanding during the period are included in diluted earnings per
share. A FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 260 (4€0eASC 2604a€), a€ceEarnings Per Share,a€ requires that employee equity share
options, non-vested shares and similar equity instruments granted to employees be treated as potential common shares in computing diluted earnings
per share. Diluted earnings per share should be based on the actual number of options or shares granted and not yet forfeited, unless doing so would
be anti-dilutive. The Company uses the &€cetreasury stocka€ method for equity instruments granted in share-based payment transactions provided in
ASC 260 to determine diluted earnings per share. Antidilutive securities represent potentially dilutive securities which are excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings or loss per share as their impact was antidilutive. A 15 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November
30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 2 - Summary of Principal Accounting Policies (Continued) A
Revenue Recognition A The Company adopted ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (4€0eASC 6064€) beginning on January 1, 2018
using the modified retrospective approach. ASC 606 establishes principles for reporting information about the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entitya€™s contracts to provide goods or services to customers. The core principle requires
an entity to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that it expects to



be entitled to receive in exchange for those goods or services recognized as performance obligations are satisfied. A The Company has assessed the
impact of the guidance by reviewing its existing customer contracts and current accounting policies and practices to identify differences that will
result from applying the new requirements, including the evaluation of its performance obligations, transaction price, customer payments, transfer of
control and principal versus agent considerations. Based on the assessment, the Company concluded that there was no change to the timing and
pattern of revenue recognition for its current revenue streams in scope of ASC 606 and therefore there was no material changes to the
Companya€™s consolidated financial statements upon adoption of ASC 606. A The Company recognizes revenue from providing hosting and
integration services and licensing the use of its technology platform to its customers. The Company recognizes revenue when all of the following
conditions are satisfied: (1) there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement; (2) the service has been provided to the customer (for licensing, revenue
is recognized when the Companya€™s technology is used to provide hosting and integration services); (3) the amount of fees to be paid by the
customer is fixed or determinable; and (4) the collection of fees is probable. We account for our multi-element arrangements, such as instances
where we design a custom website and separately offer other services such as hosting, which are recognized over the period for when services are
performed. A Income Taxes A The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes in accordance with Accounting
Standards Codification (3€0eASC&€) 740, a€elncome Taxesd€ (4€aASC 7404a€). Under this method, income tax expense is recognized as the amount
of: (i) taxes payable or refundable for the current year and (ii) future tax consequences attributable to differences between financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date. A
valuation allowance is provided to reduce the deferred tax assets reported if based on the weight of available evidence it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. A Non-controlling interest A Non-controlling interests held 1% of the shares of two
of our subsidiaries are recorded as a component of our equity, separate from the Companya€™s equity. Purchase or sales of equity interests that do
not result in a change of control are accounted for as equity transactions. Results of operations attributable to the non-controlling interest are
included in our consolidated results of operations and, upon loss of control, the interest sold, as well as interest retained, if any, will be reported at
fair value with any gain or loss recognized in earnings. A Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements A The Company does not believe recently
issued but not yet effective accounting standards, if currently adopted, would have a material effect on the consolidated financial position, statements
of operations and cash flows. A 16 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 3 - Going Concern A The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared
assuming the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates, among other things, the realization of assets and satisfaction of
liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company had an accumulated deficit of $33,453,767 and $28,448,833 as at November 30, 2024 and
February 29, 2024, respectlvely, and had a net loss of $5,009,095 and $3,344,717 for the nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. A The Companya€™s continuation as a going concern is dependent on its ability to obtain additional financing to fund operations,
implement its business model, and ultimately, attain profitable operations. The Company will need to secure additional funds through various means,
including equity and debt financing or any similar financing. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain additional equity or
debt financing, if and when needed, on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all. Any additional equity or debt financing may involve substantial
dilution to the Companya€™ s stockholders, restrictive covenants or high interest costs. The Companya€™ s long-term liquidity also depends upon its
ability to generate revenues and achieve profitability. A Note 4 - Revenue A We recorded $25,366,825 and $27,588,403 in revenue, respectively, for
the nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023. A Schedule of revenueA AAAA AAA A A For the nine months endedA A A November 30,
2024A A November 30, 2023A A A (unaudlted)AA (unaudited)A Telecommunication Products & ServicesA $17,125, 936A A $27,332, 154A SMS &
MMS BusinessA A 8,212,021A A A 24,213A Command & CommunicationA A 28,868A A A a€”A Big DataA A 4€”A A A 232,036A AA
$25,366,825A A $27,588,403A A Note 5 4€“ Equipment A At November 30, 2024 and February 29, 2024, the company has the following amounts
related to equipment: A Schedule of property, plant and equipmentA AAAA AAA AA November 30, 2024A A February 29, 2024A AA o
(unaudlted)AA A A EquipmentA $102,086A A $117,961A Less: accumulated depreciationA A (74,752)A A (72,255) Net equipmentA $27,334A A
$45,706A A No significant residual value is estimated for the equipment. Depreciation expense for the nine months ended November 30, 2024 and
2023 totalled $19,893 and $23,231, respectlvely A 17 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 6 4€“ Intangible Assets A At November 30, 2024 and February 29, 2024, the company has the
following amounts related to intangible assets: A A Schedule of intangible assetsA AAA AA AA November 30, 2024A A February 29, 2024A AA
(unaudited)A A A A LicensesA $a€”A A $200, 000A Mobile applicationsA A 203,130A A A 204,684A A A A 203,130A A A 404,684A Less:
accumulated amortizationA A (147,169)A A (333,183) Impairment of intangible assetsA A (41,045)A A (41,045) Net intangible assetsA $14,916A A
$30,456A A No significant residual value is estimated for these intangible assets. Amortization expense for nine months ended November 30, 2024
and 2023 totalled $15,422 and $30,307, respectively. A Note 7 4€“ Prepayment and Deposit A Prepaid expenses consist of the deposit pledge to the
vendor for stocks credits for resale. Our current vendors are China Unicom and China Mobile for our Telecommunication Products & Services
business and our SMS & MMS business. Deposits also includes payments placed into the e-commerce platforms where we offer our products and
services. The platforms are PinDuoDuo, Tmall and JD.com. A Schedule of prepaid expenseA AAA AA AA November 30, 2024A A February 29,
2024A A A (unaudited)AA A A Dep051tA $3,680,467A A $5,192,533A PrepaymentA A 427,716A A A 345,868A A A $4,108,183A A $5,538,401A
A Note 8 4€“ Other Receivables A At November 30, 2024 and February 29, 2024, the company has the following amounts related to other
receivables: A Schedule of other receivablesA AAAA AAA A A November 30, 2024A A February 29, 2024A A A (unaudlted)A A A A Other
receivables represent: A AAAA AAA Advances to supphersA $256, 390A A $1,491,348A Security depositA A 789,751A A A 1,015,489A

OthersA A 12,227A A A 8,756A Other receivablesA A $1,058,368A A $2,515,593A A 18 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended
November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 9 4€“ Right-of-use Asset and Lease Liability A The
Company has entered into lease agreements with various third parties. The terms of operating leases are one to two years. These operating leases
are included in "Right-of-use Asset" on the Company's Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet and represent the Companya€™s right to use the
underlying asset for the lease term. The Companya€™s obligation to make lease payments are included in "Lease liability" on the Company's
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. Additionally, the Company has entered into various short-term operating leases with an initial term of twelve
months or less. These leases are not recorded on the Company's Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. All operating lease expense is recognized on
a straight-line basis over the lease term in the nine months ended November 30, 2024. A Information related to the Company's right-of-use assets
and related lease liabilities were as follows: A Schedule of operating leases assets and liabilitiesA AAAA AAA A A November 30, 2024A A

February 29, 2024A A A (unaudlted)A A AA Right-of-use assetA AAAA AAA nght-of use asset, netA $154,570A A $13 734A AA AAAA
AAA Lease 11ab111tyA AAAA AAA Current lease liability A $116,081A A $4,796A Non-current lease liabilityA A 39,933A A A 4€”A Total lease
11ab111tyA $156,014A A $4,796A A Remaining lease term and discount rateA November 30, 2024A Weighted-average remaining lease termA A 17
monthsA Weighted-average discount rateA A 4.75% A Commitments A The following table summarizes the future minimum lease payments due
under the Companya€™s operating leases as of November 30, 2024: A Schedule of future minimum lease payments dueA A A A 2024A $120,987A
ThereafterA A 40,329A Less: imputed interestA A (5,302) A A $156,014A A Note 10 - Convertible Note Payable A A Note Payable having a Face
Value of $730,000 at May 1, 2022 and accruing interest at 20% was due on April 30, 2023. The note was convertible anytime from the date of
issuance into $0.0001 par value Common Stock at $4.00 per share. A On April 28, 2023, the Company repaid the Note Payable of $730,000. A 19 A
A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 11 -
Common Stock A On March 17, 2023, we issued 2,465,816 shares of common stock at price of $0.863 per share to our primary lender pursuant to
the conversion of $2,128,000 of principal amount of the Note issued to our primary lender on August 9, 2022. A On April 18, 2023, we issued 20,000
shares of common stock at a price of $3.00 per share pursuant to the exercise of warrants. A On April 24, 2023, we issued 70,000 shares of our
common stock at a deemed price of $1.64 per share to one entity pursuant to a consulting agreement. A On July 17, 2023, the Company issued
121,422 shares of our common stock at a deemed price of $1.75 per share to The Benchmark Company, LLC (&€eBenchmarka€) pursuant to the
cashless exercise of warrants. A On August 3, 2023, the Company issued 260,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $3.00 per share to three
individuals pursuant to the exercise of warrants. A On August 3, 2023, the Company issued 12,500 shares of our common stock at a deemed price of
$2.47 per share to one entity pursuant to a consulting agreement. A On September 5, 2023, the Company issued 2,500 shares of our common stock
at a deemed price of $2.47 per share to one entity pursuant to a consulting agreement and issued 70,000 shares of our common stock at a deemed
price of $1.64 per share to one entity pursuant to a consulting agreement. A On September 14, 2023, two officers of the Company exercised an
aggregate of 180,400 stock options on a deemed net-stock exercise basis resulting in the issuance of an aggregate of 90,898 shares of our common
stock and the forfeiture of 89,502 stock options to the Company. A On March 29, 2024, the Company issued 17,500 shares of our common stock at a
deemed price of $2.80 per share to one entity pursuant to consulting agreements, dated February 27, 2023 and February 24, 2024. A On March 29,
2024, the Company issued 150,000 shares of our common stock under its 2023 Stock Incentive Plan at a deemed price of $2.15 per share to two
individuals pursuant to consulting agreements. A A On October 11, 2024, the Company issued 1,095,000 shares of common stock to 15 individuals
due to the closing of its private placement at $1.50 per share for gross proceeds of $1,642,500. In connection with the closing of the private
placement, the Company paid cash findera€™s fees of an aggregate of $158,000 to three individuals. A As of November 30, 2024 there were
53,807,850 shares of the Companya€™s common stock issued and outstanding, and none of the preferred shares were issued and outstanding. A 20
A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Share



Purchase Warrants A A continuity schedule of outstanding share purchase warrants as at November 30, 2024, and the changes during the periods, is
as follows: A Schedule of outstanding share purchase warrantsA AAAA AAA AA Number of WarrantsA A Weighted Average Exercise PriceA
Balance, February 28, 2023A A 2,287,480A A $3.32A ExercisedA A (20, OOO)A $3.00A EXplredA A (188, 500)A $2.00A ExercisedA A (260,000)A
$3.00A ExplredA A (1,137 668)A $3.00A Cashless ExercisedA A (168,000)A $1.75A ExpiredA A (475,000)A $5.00A Balance, November 30,
2024A A 38,312A A $7.82A A On April 18, 2023, the Company received $ 60,000 from the exercise of warrants for the purchase of 20,000 shares of
common stock of the Company at a price of $3.00 per share from 1 individual. A On April 19, 2023, 188,500 stock purchase warrants having an
exercise price of $2.00 per share expired. A On July 13, 2023, the Company received $780,000 from the exercise of warrants for the purchase of
260,000 shares of common stock of the Company at a price of $3.00 per share from three individuals. A On July 13, 2023, 1,137,668 stock purchase
warrants having an exercise price of $3.00 per share expired. A On July 17, 2023, Benchmark exercised 168,000 warrants on the cashless exercise
basis resulting in the issuance of 121,422 shares of common stock. A On September 19, 2024, 350,000 stock purchase warrants having an exercise
price of $5.00 per share expired. A On October 1, 2024, 125,000 stock purchase warrants having an exercise price of $5.00 per share expired. A A
summary of share purchase warrants outstanding and exercisable as at November 30, 2024 is as follows: A A Schedule of share purchase warrants
outstanding and exercisableAA AAAA AAAA AAA AAA Number of WarrantsA A Remaining ContractualA A A A Exercise PriceA A
OutstandlngA A Life (Years)A A Expiry DateA $8. 22A A A28,312AA A0.93A A A A November 4, 2025A $6.70A A A 10,000A A A 0.98A A

A November 21, 2025A $7.82A A A38,312AA AAAA AAA A 21 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Stock Options A On December 28, 2021, the Company granted an aggregate of
4,545,000 stock options pursuant to the Companya€™s 2021 Stock Incentive Plan havingA an exercise price of $8.00 per share and an expiry date of
five years from the date of grant to 40 individuals who were directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company. We relied upon the
exemption from registration under the U.S. Securities Act provided by Rule 903 of Regulation S promulgated under the U.S. Securities Act for the
grant of stock options to individuals who are non-U.S. persons and upon the exemption from registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the U.S. Securities
Act for two individuals who are U.S. persons. The stock options are all subject to vesting provisions of 20% on the date of grant and 20% on each of
the first, second, third, and fourth anniversary of the date of grant. At our annual meeting of stockholders held on February 17, 2023, the stockholder
approved an amendment to the exercise price of the outstanding stock options from $8.00 to $3.84. The strike price adjustment did not affect the fair
value. A The fair value of these stock options was estimated at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes Option Valuation Model, with the following
weighted average assumptions: A Schedule of valuation assumptlonsA AAAA AAA AA November 30, 2024A A February 29, 2024A Expected
Risk-Free Interest RateA A 1.06%A A 1.06% Expected VolatilityA A 15.27%A A 15.27% Expected Life in YearsA A 2.08A A A 2.83A Expected
Dividend YieldA A 46”A A A a€”A Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair ValueA $6.46A A $6.46A A On July 28, 2023, the Company granted an
aggregate of 2,648,500 stock options pursuant to the Companya€™s 2023 Stock Incentive Plan havingA an exercise price of $4.62 per share and an
expiry date of five years from the date of grant to 22 individuals who were employees and consultants of the Companya€™s subsidiaries and
contractually controlled affiliate. The stock options are all subject to vesting provisions of 20% on the date of grant and 20% on each of the first,
second, third and fourth anniversary of the date of grant. A The fair value of these stock options was estimated at the date of grant, using the Black-
Scholes Option Valuation Model, with the following weighted average assumptions: A Schedule of valuation assumptionsA AAAA AAA AA
November 30, 2024A A February 29, 2024A Expected Risk-Free Interest RateA A 5.37%A A 5.37% Expected VolatilityA A 25.48%A A 25.48%
Expected Life in YearsA A 3.66A A A 4.41A Expected Dividend YieldA A 4€”A A A 4€”A Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair ValueA $4.58A A
$4.58A A A continuity schedule of outstanding stock options as at November 30, 2024, and the changes during the nine months periods, is as
follows: A Schedule of stock option activityA AAAA AAA AA Number of Stock OptlonsA A Exercise PriceA Balance, February 29, 2024A

A 6,039,100A A $4.18A Cancelled/ForfeitedA A a4€”A A 4€”A Balance, November 30, 2024A A 6,039,100A A $4.18A A 22 A A FINGERMOTION,
INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Stock Options (continued) A
The table below sets forth the number of issued shares and cash received upon exercise of stock options: A Schedule of number of issued shares and
cash received upon exercise of stock optionsA AAAA AAA AA November 30, 2024A A February 29, 2024A Number of Options Exercised on
Forfeiture BasisA A 4€”A A A 89,502A Number of Options Exercised on Cash BasisA A 4€”A A A 4€”A Total Number of Options ExercisedA
Aae”A A A89,502A AA AAAA AAA Number of Shares Issued on Cash ExerciseA A 4€”A A A 4€”A Number of Shares Issued on Forfeiture
BasisA A a€”A A A 90,898A Total Number of Shares Issued Upon Exercise of OptionsA A 4€”A A A 90,898A AA AAAA AAA Cash Received
from Exercise of Stock OptlonsA $a€”A A $a€”A Total Intrinsic Value of Options ExercisedA $a€”A A $a€”A A A continuity schedule of
outstanding unvested stock options at November 30, 2024, and the changes during the nine months periods, is as follows: A Schedule of unvested
restricted stockA AAAA AAA AA Number of UnvestedA A Weighted Average Grant DateA A A Stock OptionsA A Fair ValueA Balance,
February 29, 2024A A 3,547,200A A $5.34A A A Vested 4€“ July 28, 2024A A (529,700)A $4.58A Balance, November 30, 2024A A 3,017, SOOAA
$5.47A A As at November 29, 2024, the aggregate intrinsic value of all outstanding stock options granted was estimated at $0 as the current price
as of November 29, 2024 is $2.04, which is lower than the strike price of all outstanding options. AA summary of stock options outstanding and
exercisable as at November 30, 2024 is as follows: A Schedule of stock optionsA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA AA Options
OutstandingA A Options ExercisableA A A A Range of Exercise PricesA Outstanding at November 30, 2024A A Exercise PriceA A Weighted
Average Remaining Contractual Term (Years)A A Exercisable at November 30, 2024A A Exercise PriceA A Weighted Average Remaining
Contractual Term (Years)A AA AAA AAA AAA AAA AAA AA $7.00to$9.00A A3,390,600AA $3.84AA A2.08AA A1,962,200AA

$3. 84A A A 2.08A $4.00 to $5. 00A A 2,648,500A A $4.62AA A3.66AA A 1,059,400AA $4.62AA A3.66A AA A6,039,100AA AAAA AAAA
A3,021,600AA AAAA AAA A 23 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 12 - Earnings Per Share A The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings
per common share: A Schedule of basic and diluted earnings per common shareA AAAA AAA A A For the nine months endedA A A November
30, 2024A A November 30, 2023A Numerator - basic and dilutedA AAAA AAA NetLossA $(5,009,095)A $(3,344,717) DenominatorA AAAA
A A A Weighted average number of common shares outstanding a€”basicA A 52,898,259A A A 52,044,125A Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding a€”dilutedA A 52,898,259A A A 52,044,125A Loss per common share 4€” basicA $(0.09)A $(0.06) Loss per common share 4€”
dilutedA $(0.09)A $(0.06) A Note 13 - Income Taxes A The Company and its subsidiaries file separate income tax returns. A The United States of
America A FingerMotion, Inc. is incorporated in the State of Delaware in the U.S. and is subject to a U.S. federal corporate income tax of 21%. The
Company generated a taxable loss for the nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023. A Hong Kong A Finger Motion Company Limited,
Finger Motion (CN) Limited and Finger Motion Financial Company Limited were incorporated in Hong Kong and Hong Konga€™s profits tax rate is
16.5%. These companies did not earn any income that was derived in Hong Kong for the nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023. A The
Peoplea€™s Republic of China (PRC) A JiuGe Management, JiuGe Technology, Beijing XunLian, Shanghai TengLian JiuJiu and Shanghai
KeShunXiang were incorporated in the Peopled€™s Republic of China and subject to PRC income tax at 25%. A Income tax mainly consists of foreign
income tax at statutory rates and the effects of permanent and temporary differences. The Companya€™s effective income tax rates for the nine
months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 are as follows: A Schedule of effective income tax rate reconciliationA AAAA AAA A A For the nine
months endedA A A November 30, 2024A A November 30, 2023A A A (unaudlted)AA (unaudlted)A U.S. statutory tax rateA A 21.0%A A 21.0%
Foreign income not reglstered in the U.S.A A (21. 0%)A A (21 0%) PRC proflt tax rateA A 25.0%A A 25.0% Changes in valuation allowance and
othersA A (25.0%)A A (25.0%) Effective tax rateA A 0.0%A A 0.0% A 24 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and
2023 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements A Note 13 - Income Taxes (continued) A At November 30, 2024 and February 29,
2024, the Company has a deferred tax asset of $2,893,532 and $939,380, resulting from certain net operating losses in U.S., respectively. The
ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends on the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those net operating losses
are available. The Company considers projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making its assessment. At present, the Company
concludes that it is more-likely-than-not that the Company will be able to realize all of its tax benefits in the near future and therefore a valuation
allowance has been provided for the full value of the deferred tax asset. A valuation allowance will be maintained until sufficient positive evidence
exists to support the reversal of any portion or all of the valuation allowance. At November 30, 2024 and February 29, 2024, the valuation allowance
was $2,893,532 and $939,380, respectively. A Schedule of deferred tax assets and liabilitiesA AAAA AAA A A November 30, 2024A A February
29, 2024A A A (unaudlted)A A A A Deferred tax asset from ooperating | losses carry-forwardsA $2,893,532A A $939,380A Valuation allowanceA

A (2,893,532)A A (939,380) Deferred tax asset, netA $4€”A A $4€”A A Note 14 - Commitments and Contingencies A Legal proceedings A The
Company is not aware of any material outstanding claim and litigation against it. A Note 15 4€“ Loan Payable - shareholders A On June 1, 2024, the
Companya€™s wholly owned subsidiary, Finger Motion Company Limited (the a€ceBorrowera€), entered into a loan agreement with Dr. Liew Yow
Ming (the a€ceLendera€) whereby the Lender agreed to advance a short-term loan facility of SGD$370,000 (the &€ceLoanéa€) to the Borrower for
working capital purposes. As of the date hereof, the full amount of the Loan has been drawn upon by the Borrower. Each drawdown portion of the
Loan is due one (1) year from the date of the drawdown, unless extended by the Lender. If the Lender agrees, the Borrower may prepay the whole or
any part of the Loan by providing the Lender not less than three (3) business days prior written notice and subject to payment of interest accrued
thereon. Any prepayment of the Loan shall be in an amount of SGD$50,000 or multiples thereof. The Loan shall bear interest at the rate of 1.67% per
month, any such interest to accrue from day to day and to be calculated based on a 365-day year, and is payable on a monthly basis on or before the
last day of each successive month. A On July 18, 2024, the Companya€™s wholly owned subsidiary, Finger Motion Company Limited (the
d€meBorrowera€), entered into a loan agreement with Dr. Liew Yow Ming (the a€ceLendera€) whereby the Lender agreed to advance a short-term
loan facility of SGD$1,500,000 (the 4€ceLoana€) to the Borrower for working capital purposes. As of September 4, 2024, the full amount of the Loan



has been drawn upon by the Borrower. Each drawdown portion of the Loan is due one (1) year from the date of the drawdown, unless extended by
the Lender. If the Lender agrees, the Borrower may prepay the whole or any part of the Loan by providing the Lender not less than three (3) business
days prior written notice and subject to payment of interest accrued thereon. Any prepayment of the Loan shall be in an amount of SGD$50,000 or
multiples thereof. The Loan shall bear interest at the rate of 1.50% per month, any such interest to accrue from day to day and to be calculated based
on a 365-day year, and is payable on a monthly basis on or before the last day of each successive month. A On November 4, 2024, the Companya€™ s
wholly owned subsidiary, Finger Motion Company Limited (the 4€ceBorrowera€), entered into a loan agreement (the 4€ceLoan Agreementa€) with
Rita Chou Phooi Har (the &€ ceLendera€) whereby the Lender agreed to advance a short-term loan facility of SGD$250,000 (the &€meLoanéa€) to the
Borrower for working capital purposes. As of November 7, 2024, the full amount of the Loan has been drawn upon by the Borrower. The Loan is due
one (1) year from the date of the drawdown, unless extended by the Lender. If the Lender agrees, the Borrower may prepay the whole or any part of
the Loan by providing the Lender not less than three (3) business days prior written notice and subject to payment of interest accrued thereon. Any
prepayment of the Loan shall be in an amount of SGD$50,000 or multiples thereof. The Loan shall bear interest at the rate of 1.67% per month, any
such interest to accrue from day to day and to be calculated based on a 365-day year, and is payable on a monthly basis on or before the last day of
each successive month.A A 25 A A FINGERMOTION, INC. Nine months ended November 30, 2024 and 2023 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements A Note 16 - Subsequent Events A On December 3, 2024, following the resignation of Mr. Chan as a director of the Company
creating a vacancy on each of the Boarda€™s audit committee and the compensation committee, the Board appointed Hsien Loong Wong as a
member of the audit committee of the Board and appointed Yew Poh Leong as the chair of the audit committee of the Board. In addition, the Board
appointed Eng Ho Ng as a member of the compensation committee of the Board. A On December 16, 2024, the Company and Univest Securities, LLC
mutually agreed to terminate the At-the-Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated September 11, 2023, between the Company and Univest, effective
December 16, 2024. A On December 20, 2024, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the 4€cePurchase Agreementa€) with
certain institutional investors (the a€cePurchasersa€), which provided for the issuance and sale, in a registered direct offering by the Company of (i)
3,333,336 shares of its common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the &€ceCommon Stocka€) and (ii) warrants (the &€ceCommon Warrantsa€) to
purchase up to an aggregate of 5,000,004 shares of its common stock (the a€oeOfferinga€) at a combined purchase price of $1.50 per share and one
and one-half Common Warrants. A Each share of Common Stock was offered together with one and one-half Common Warrants, with each whole
Common Warrant to purchase one share of Common Stock. The Common Warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share of Common Stock. The
Common Warrants are exercisable upon issuance and expire five years from the date of issuance. The exercise price of the Common Warrants is
subject to adjustment for share dividend, share splits, share combinations and similar capital transactions, as further described in the Common
Warrants. In addition, the exercise price of the Common Warrants is subject to reduction in the event of certain Common Stock and Common Stock
equivalent issuances, other than certain agreed exempt issuances, at a price lower than the exercise price of the Common Warrants then in effect.
Furthermore, if at any time on or after the date of issuance there occurs any share split, share dividend, share combination recapitalization or other
similar transaction involving our common stock (each, a &€ceShare Combination Eventa€) and the lowest daily volume weighted average price during
the period commencing five consecutive trading days immediately preceding and ending immediately after the five consecutive trading days
beginning on the date of such Share Combination Event, is less than the exercise price of the Common Warrants then in effect, then the exercise
price of the Common Warrants will be reduced to the lowest daily volume weighted average price during such period. A The Purchase Agreement
contains customary representations and warranties and agreements of the Company and the Purchasers, and customary indemnification rights and
obligations of the parties. In addition, the Purchase Agreement includes a participation right in favor of the Purchasers under which the Purchasers
will be entitled, for a period of one year following closing, to participate in future equity financings of the Company up to a participation rate of a
maximum of 40% of such offering. The Company has agreed not to enter into or complete certain equity financings, subject to certain agreed
exemptions, for a 60 day period from the date of closing of the Offering. In addition, the Company has agreed not to enter into any a€ceVariable Rate
Transactionsa€, as defined in the Purchase Agreement, for a period of six months following closing of the Offering, provided that the Company is
entitled to proceed with an a€ceat-the-market offeringa€ after the expiry of the initial 60 day period following closing. Certain directors, officers and
10% stockholders of the Company also entered into lock-up agreements in connection with the Offering under which they have agreed not to sell or
transfer any of their equity securities in the Company for a period of 60 days, subject to certain customary exceptions. A In connection with the
Offering, the Company entered into a Placement Agency Agreement (the &€cePlacement Agency Agreementa€) on December 20, 2024 with Roth
Capital Partners, LLC (the a€cePlacement Agenta€), as the exclusive placement agent in connection with the Offering. As compensation to the
Placement Agent, the Company paid the Placement Agent a cash fee of 7.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds raised in the Offering and issued to the
Placement Agent a placement agent warrant to purchase up to 250,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.88 per share (the
d€mePlacement Agent Warranta€) for a term of five years from the date of commencement of sales in the Offering. The Placement Agent Warrant
includes adjustment provisions equivalent to the adjustment provisions provided to the Purchasers under the Common Warrants, as described above.
In addition, the Company has agreed to pay the Placement Agent up to $110,000 for its expenses.A A The shares of Common Stock, the Common
Warrants and the Placement Agent Warrants described above and the shares of Common Stock underlying each of the Common Warrants and the
Placement Agent Warrant were offered and sold pursuant to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-274456), which was declared
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 29, 2023 (the 4€ceRegistration Statementa€). The Company filed a prospectus
supplement to the base prospectus incorporated in the Registration Statement with the SEC on December 23, 2024 in connection with the Offering,
which closed on December 23, 2024. A The Company received net proceeds of approximately $4.44 million from the Offering, after deducting the
estimated offering expenses payable by the Company, including the fees and expenses of the Placement Agent. A Except for the above, the Company
has determined that it does not have any material subsequent events to disclose in these consolidated financial statements. A 26 A A ITEM 2 a€“
MANAGEMENTA€™ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS A The terms the
d€mRegistranta€, a€cewed€, d€weusa€, a€ceourd€, a€ceFingerMotiona€ and the 4€ceCompanya€ mean FingerMotion, Inc. or as the context requires,
collectively with its consolidated subsidiaries and contractually controlled companies. A Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements A
The following managementa€™s discussion and analysis of the Companya€™s financial condition and results of operations (the 4€ceMD&A&€)
contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions including, among others, statements regarding our capital
needs, business plans and expectations. In evaluating these statements, you should consider various factors, including the risks, uncertainties and
assumptions set forth in reports and other documents we have filed with or furnished to the SEC and, including, without limitation, this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the nine months ended November 30, 2024, and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 29,
2024, including the consolidated financial statements and related notes contained therein. These factors, or any one of them, may cause our actual
results or actions in the future to differ materially from any forward-looking statement made in this document. Refer to &€ceCautionary Note
Regarding Forward-looking Statementsa€ as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024, and Item 1A -
Risk Factors, under Part II - Other Information of this Quarterly Report. A Introduction A This MD&A is focused on material changes in our financial
condition from February 29, 2024, our most recently completed year end, to November 30, 2024, and our results of operations for the three and nine
months ended November 30, 2024, and should be read in conjunction with Item 7, Managementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations as contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024. A Corporate Information A
The Company was initially incorporated as Property Management Corporation of America on January 23, 2014 in the State of Delaware. A On June
21, 2017, the Company amended its certificate of incorporation to effect a 1-for-4 reverse stock split of the Company&a€™s outstanding common
stock, to increase the authorized shares of common stock to 200,000,000 shares and to change the name of the Company from a€ceProperty
Management Corporation of Americad€ to a4€ceFingerMotion, Inc.a4€ (the 4€ceCorporate Actionsa€). The Corporate Actions and the amended
certificate of incorporation became effective on June 21, 2017. A Our principal executive offices are located at 111 Somerset Road, Level 3,
Singapore 238164, and our telephone number is (347) 349-5339. A We are a holding company incorporated in Delaware and not an operating
company incorporated in the Peoplea€™s Republic of China (the a€0ePRCa€ or &€ceChinaa€). As a holding company, we conduct a significant part of
our operations through our subsidiaries and through the VIE Agreements with the VIE based in China. A 27 A A The following diagram depicts our
corporate structure: A A Our holding company structure presents unique risks as our investors may never directly hold equity interests in our
subsidiaries or the VIE, and will be dependent upon contributions from our subsidiaries and the VIE to finance our cash flow needs. Our subsidiaries
and the VIE are currently not required to obtain permission from the Chinese authorities including the China Securities Regulatory Commission (the
4€®CSRCa€), or Cybersecurity Administration Committee (the 4€0eCAC&€£), to operate or to issue securities to foreign investors. However, as of
March 31, 2023, pursuant to the Overseas Listing Trial Measures promulgated by the CSRC, we will be required to file with the CSRC with respect to
a new offering of our securities. The business of our subsidiaries and the VIE until now are not subject to cybersecurity review with the CAC, given
that: (i) data processed in our business does not have a bearing on national security and thus may not be classified as core or important data by the
authorities; (ii) we do not possess a large amount of personal information in our business operations. In addition, we are not subject to merger
control review by Chinaa€™s anti-monopoly enforcement agency due to the level of our revenues which provided from us and audited by our auditor
and the fact that we currently do not expect to propose or implement any acquisition of control of, or decisive influence over, any company with
revenues within China of more than RMB400 million. Currently, these statements and regulatory actions have had no impact on our daily business
operations, the ability to accept foreign investments and list our securities on an U.S. or other foreign exchange. However, since these statements
and regulatory actions, including the Overseas Listing Trial Measures, are new, it is uncertain what potential impact such modified or new laws and
regulations will have on our daily business operation, the ability to accept foreign investments and list our securities on an U.S. or other foreign



exchange. A 28 A A To operate, the VIE and Beijing XunLian TianXia Technology Co., Ltd. are required to obtain, and have obtained, a value-added
telecommunications business licence from PRC authorities. In connection with our previous issuance of securities to foreign investors, under current
PRC laws, regulations and regulatory rules, as of the date of this periodic report on Form 10-Q, we, our PRC subsidiaries and the VIE, (i) are not
required to obtain permissions from the CSRC except that as of March 31, 2023 we will be required to file with the CSRC with respect to a new
offering of our securities, (ii) are not required to go through cybersecurity review by the CAC, and (iii) have received or were not denied such
requisite permissions by any PRC authority. If we, our subsidiaries or the VIE (i) do not receive or maintain such permissions or approvals, (ii)
inadvertently conclude that such permissions or approvals are not required or (iii) applicable laws, regulations, or interpretations change and we are
required to obtain such permissions or approvals in the future, we may be subject to government enforcement actions, investigations, penalties,
sanctions and fines imposed by the CSRC, the CAC and relevant departments of the State Council. In severe circumstances, the business of our PRC
subsidiary may be ordered to suspend and its business qualifications and licenses may be revoked. A To address challenges resulting from laws,
policies and practices that may disfavor foreign-owned entities that operate within industries deemed sensitive by the Chinese government, we use
the VIE structure to provide contractual exposure to foreign investment in the PRC-based companies. We own 100% of the equity of a WFOE,
Shanghai JiuGe Business Management Co., Ltd. (4€ceJiuGe Managementa€), which has entered into the VIE Agreements with the VIE, which is
owned by Ms. Li Li the legal representative and general manager, and also the shareholder of the VIE. The VIE Agreements have not been tested in
court. As a result of our use of the VIE structure, you may never directly hold equity interests in the VIE. Any securities that we offer will be
securities of the Company, the Delaware holding company, not of the VIE.A A We fund the registered capital and operating expenses of the VIE by
extending loans to the shareholders of the VIE. The VIE Agreements governing the relationship between the VIE and our WFOE enable us to (i) direct
the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the VIEa€™ s economic performance, (ii) receive substantially all of the economic benefits of
the VIE, and (iii) have an exclusive call option to purchase, at any time, all or part of the equity interests in and/or assets of the VIE to the extent
permitted by Chinese laws. As a result of the VIE Agreements, the Company is considered the primary beneficiary of the VIE for accounting purposes
and is able to consolidate the financial results of the VIE in its consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. As a result, investors
in our Common Shares are not purchasing an equity interest in the VIE but instead are purchasing equity interest in FingerMotion, Inc., a Delaware
holding company. A Share Exchange Agreement A Effective July 13, 2017, the Company entered into that certain Share Exchange Agreement (the
d€meShare Exchange Agreementa€) by and among the Company, Finger Motion Company Limited, a Hong Kong corporation (4€ceFMCL&€) and
certain shareholders of FMCL (the a€0eFMCL Shareholdersa€). FMCL, a Hong Kong corporation, was formed on April 6, 2016, and is an information
technology company that specializes in operating and publishing mobile games. Pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement, the Company agreed to
exchange the outstanding equity stock of FMCL held by the FMCL Shareholders for shares of common stock of the Company. On the closing date of
the Share Exchange Agreement, the Company issued 12,000,000 shares of common stock to the FMCL shareholders. In addition, the Company issued
600,000 shares to consultants in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Share Exchange Agreement, and 2,562,500 additional shares
to accredited investors, which was a concurrent financing but not a condition of closing the Share Exchange Agreement. A As a result of the Share
Exchange Agreement and the other transactions contemplated thereunder, FMCL became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The Company
operates its video game division through FMCL. However, in June 2018, the Company decided to pause the operation of the game division as it saw
the opportunity in the telecommunication business and have since refocused into this business. A This description of the Share Exchange Agreement
does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the terms of the Share Exchange Agreement, which was filed as an
exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 20, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein. A 29 A A VIE Agreements A
On October 16, 2018, the Company, through its indirect wholly owned subsidiary, Shanghai JiuGe Business Management Co., Ltd. (a€eeJiuGe
Managementa€), entered into a series of agreements known as variable interest agreements (the 4€eVIE Agreementsa€) pursuant to which
Shanghai JiuGe Information Technology Co., Ltd. (4€eJiuGe Technologya€) became our contractually controlled affiliate. The use of VIE agreements
is a common structure used to acquire PRC corporations, particularly in certain industries in which foreign investment is restricted or forbidden by
the PRC government. The VIE Agreements include a Consulting Services Agreement, a Loan Agreement, a Power of Attorney Agreement, a Call
Option Agreement, and a Share Pledge Agreement in order to secure the connection and commitments of JiuGe Technology. We operate our mobile
payment platform business through JiuGe Technology. A The VIE Agreements included: A A 4— a consulting services agreement through which
JiuGe Management is mainly engaged in data marketing, technical services, technical consulting and business consultancy to JiuGe Technology (the
d€mxJiuGe Technology Consulting Services Agreementa€). This agreement was duly signed among the WFOE and the VIE. Under this agreement, the
WFOE will provide the following services to the VIE on an exclusive basis: (i) providing a comprehensive solution for all technical issues required for
the VIE&€™ s business; (ii) providing training to the professional technicians of the VIE; (iii) assisting the VIE in collecting technical and commercial
information and conducting market surveys; (iv) assisting the VIE in procuring business opportunities to obtain contracts awarded by the telecom
carries in China and maintaining the commercial relationship with the telecom carries; (v) introducing clients to the VIE and assisting the VIE in
developing commercial and cooperative relationship with the clients; (vi) providing suggestions and opinions on establishment and improvement of
the VIE&G€™s corporate structure, management system and departmental organization; (vii) assisting the VIE in formulating annual business plans,
the draft of which shall be made available to WFOE by the VIE prior to the end of November each year; (viii) granting license to the VIE to use
WFOE&€™s intellectual property necessary for the services; and (ix) providing other consulting and technical services at the request of the VIE. The
VIE will pay to the WFOE service fees equivalent to the after-tax net profits distributable by the VIE to its shareholder each year, as set forth in the
audited financial statements in accordance with the PRC accounting standards, ensuring all the distributable profits of the VIE will be dispatched to
the WFOE. The VIE may not assign any of its rights and obligations under the JiuGe Technology Consulting Services Agreement without prior written
consent of the WFOE. This agreement ensures that the WFOE and investors will be able to legally obtain the profits of the VIE, and transfer them to
the WFOE more conveniently in the form of &€oeservice feed€; A A A A 4— a loan agreement through which JiuGe Management grants a loan to the
Legal Representative of JiuGe Technology for the purpose of capital contribution (the 4€ceJiuGe Technology Loan Agreement&€). This agreement was
duly signed between the WFOE and Ms. Li Li. Under this agreement, the WFOE loaned RMB 10,000,000 to Ms. Li Li, as the sole shareholder of the
VIE, solely for the purpose of the capital contribution of the subscribed capital of the VIE. The loan amount has now been increased to
RMB50,000,000. The WFOE has the right to convert the whole or any part of the outstanding principal amount into the equity interests in the VIE
and may demand repayment of any or all of the principal amount/ As security for performance and discharge of Ms. Li Lia€™ s obligations under the
JiuGe Technology Loan Agreement, Ms. Li Li pledged 100% equity interests in the VIE, representing the entire registered capital of the VIE, by way
of first-ranking security to the WFOE. This agreement could constrain Ms. Li Li to cooperate with WFOEa€™s instructions and avoid damaging the
rights and interests of the WFOE and investors; A A A A 4— a power of attorney agreement under which the owner of JiuGe Technology has vested
their collective voting control over JiuGe Technology to JiuGe Management and will only transfer their equity interests in JiuGe Technology to JiuGe
Management or its designee(s) (the a€eJiuGe Technology Power of Attorney Agreementa€). The Power of Attorney Agreement was duly issued by
Ms. Li Li to the WFOE. Under the JiuGe Technology Power of Attorney Agreement, the WFOE is the exclusive agent who may exercise, at WFOE&a€™s
sole discretion, all the rights and powers in respect of all the 100% equity interests held by Ms. Li Li in the VIE on Ms. Li Lia€™ s behalf, including
without limitation to propose to convene, attend and vote at the shareholdera€™s meeting of the VIE. Ms. Li Li cannot assign her rights and
obligations under the JiuGe Technology Power of Attorney Agreement without prior written consent of the WFOE and the WFOE will bear its own
costs, expenses and fees in connection with performance of the JiuGe Technology Power of Attorney Agreement. This agreement ensures that the
WFOE can replace Ms. LI Li in the operation and management of the VIE, and controlling its assets; A 30 A A A 4— a call option agreement under
which the owner of JiuGe Technology has granted to JiuGe Management the irrevocable and unconditional right and option to acquire all of their
equity interests in JiuGe Technology or transfer these rights to a third party (the &€m]JiuGe Technology Call Option Agreementa€). This agreement
was duly signed by and among Ms. Li Li, the WFOE and the VIE. Under this agreement, the WFOE has an exclusive, irrevocable and unconditional
option to purchase or to designate a third party to purchase 100% equity interests of the VIE at RMB one (1) yuan or the lowest amount of
consideration permitted under the laws of PRC at any time, giving the WFOE a sole discretion to exercise such option at any time and in any manner
as permitted by the laws of PRC. Pursuant to the JiuGe Technology Call Option Agreement, Ms. Li Li may not, without prior written consent of the
WFOE: (i) transfer or dispose of the equity interests in the VIE or the assets of the VIE in any manner; (ii) create any encumbrance of any kind over
the equity interests in the VIE, other than the VIE Agreements; and (iii) resolve to or procure the VIE to: (a) change its registered capital; (b) amend
its articles of association; (c) change any of its shareholders; (d) appoint, remove or replace its senior management; (e) make or receive investment of
any kind or merge or consolidate with any entity; (f) change information filed at the competent authorities in the PRC; (g) make any lending or
borrowing or provide security of any kind; (h) pay, make or declare any dividend, charge, fee or other distribution of any kind; (i) incure, create or
permit to subsist or have any outstanding financial indebtedness; (j) enter into any agreements that conflict with the JiuGe Technology Call Option
Agreement; or (k) do any acts that would adversely impair the VIE&€™ s ability to perform the obligations under the VIE Agreements. Neither Ms. Li
Li nor the VIE may assign any of its rights and obligations under the agreement without the prior written consent of WFOE or unilaterally terminate
the agreement. This agreement is one of the guarantees for WFOE and investors to ensure that the VIE will not have any potential equity changes
that endanger the rights and interests of WFOE and investors; and A A A A 4— a share pledge agreement under which the owner of JiuGe
Technology has pledged all of their rights, titles and interests in JiuGe Technology to JiuGe Management to guarantee JiuGe Technologya€™s
performance of its obligations under the JiuGe Technology Consulting Services Agreement (the a€ceJiuGe Technology Share Pledge Agreementa€).
This agreement was duly signed among Ms. Li Li, the WFOE and the VIE. Under this agreement, all the equity interests of the VIE held by Ms. Li Li
were pledged to the WFOE, giving the WFOE a right to exercise the share pledge where Ms. Li Li or the VIE violates the VIE Agreements. This



measure under this agreement will result in the equity of the VIE being locked, making it impossible for any third party to legally obtain the equity of
the VIE without the prior consent of the WFOE. A Our PRC counsel has reviewed these agreements and believes that all the VIE Agreements were
duly signed and are not in violation of applicable laws of PRC. We are of the opinion that the VIE Agreements are valid and giving the WFOE a full
control over the VIE in respect of the current and effective PRC laws and regulations. However, the VIE Agreements have never been challenged or
recognized in court for the time being, and the PRC government may determine that the VIE Agreements are not in compliance with applicable PRC
laws, rules and regulations compared with direct ownership, there may be less effective in controlling through the VIE structure. A In the first half of
2018, JiuGe Technology established contracts with China Unicom and China Mobile, initiating the provision of mobile data services to businesses and
corporations in key provinces/municipalities including Chengdu, Jiangxi, Jiangsu, Chongqing, Shanghai, Zhuhai, Zhejiang, Shaanxi and Inner
Mongolia. As with all dynamic markets, the specifics of our operational contracts have naturally evolved over time but our dedication to these
provinces is unwavering, and we consistently enhance our service and product offerings to ensure optimal service. Additionally, as we continue to
grow, there is the potential for our reach to expand into additional provinces in the PRC. A 31 A A In September 2018, JiuGe Technology launched
and commercialized mobile payment and recharge services to businesses for China Unicom. The JiuGe Technology mobile payment and recharge
platform enables the seamless delivery of real-time payment and recharge services to third-party channels and businesses. We earn a negotiated
rebate amount from each of China Unicom and China Mobile for all monies paid by consumers to China Unicom and China Mobile that we process. To
encourage consumers to utilize our portal instead of using our competitorsa€™ platforms or paying China Unicom or China Mobile directly, we offer
mobile data and talk time at a rate discounted from these companiesad€™ stated rates, which are also the rates we must pay to them to purchase the
mobile data and talk time provided to consumers through the use of our platform. Accordingly, we earn income on the rebates we receive from the
telecommunications companies, reduced by the amounts by which we discount the mobile data and talk time sold through our platform. A In October
2018, China Unicom and China Mobile awarded JiuGe Technology with contracts that established partnerships for data analysis, that could unlock
potential value-added services. A This description of the VIE Agreements discussed above do not purport to be complete and are qualified in their
entirety by reference to the terms of the VIE Agreements, which were filed as exhibits to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 27, 2018 and are incorporated by reference herein. The English translation version of the JiuGe Technology Share Pledge Agreement was
filed as Exhibit 10.6 to our Form S-1/A (Amendment No. 1) filed with the SEC on January 5, 2023, and is incorporated by reference herein. A
Acquisition of Beijing Technology A On March 7, 2019, the Company through JiuGe Technology acquired Beijing Technology, a company in the
business of providing mass SMS text services to businesses looking to communicate with large numbers of their customers and prospective
customers. Through Beijing Technology, the Company entered into the business of mass SMS text message service as a compliment to its mobile
payment and recharge business. The mass SMS text message service offers bulk SMS services to end consumers with competitive pricing. Currently,
the Companya€™s SMS integrated platform is processing more than 150 million SMS text messages per month. Beijing Technology retains a license
from the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (a€eMIITa€) to operate SMS and MMS business in the PRC. Similar to the mobile
recharge business, Beijing Technology is required to make a deposit or bulk purchase in advance and has secured business customers that will utilize
Beijing Technologya€™s SMS integrated platform to send bulk SMS text messages monthly. Beijing Technology has the capability to manage and
track the entire process, including to assist the Companya€™s clients to fulfil the government guidelines, until the SMS messages have been
delivered successfully. A China Unicom Cooperation Agreement A On July 7, 2019, JiuGe Technology entered into that certain Yunnan Unicom
Electronic Sales Platform Construction and Operation Cooperation Agreement (the &€ceCooperation Agreementa€) with China United Network
Communications Limited Yunnan Branch (&€ceChina Unicom Yunnana€). Under the Cooperation Agreement, JiuGe Technology is responsible for
constructing and operating China Unicom Yunnana€™s electronic sales platform through which consumers can purchase various goods and services
from China Unicom Yunnan, including mobile telephones, mobile telephone service, broadband data services, terminals, 4€cesmarta€ devices and
related financial insurance. The Cooperation Agreement provides that JiuGe Technology is required to construct and operate the platforma€™s
webpage in accordance with China Unicom Yunnand€™s specifications and policies, and applicable law, and bear all expenses in connection
therewith. As consideration for the services it provides under the Cooperation Agreement, JiuGe Technology receives a percentage of the revenue
received from all sales it processes for China Unicom Yunnan on the platform. A The Cooperation Agreement expires three years from the date of its
signature, subject to a yearly auto-renewal clause, which is currently in an auto-renewal period, but it may be terminated by (i) JiuGe Technology
upon three monthsa€™ written notice or (ii) by China Unicom Yunnan unilaterally. The Cooperation Agreement contains customary representations
from each party regarding such partya€™s authority to enter into and perform under the Cooperation Agreement, and provides customary events of
default, including for various types of failure to perform. Any disputes arising between the parties under the Cooperation Agreement will be
adjudicated in Chinese courts. A This description of the Cooperation Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by
reference to the terms of the Cooperation Agreement, which was filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
November 9, 2019 and is incorporated by reference herein. A In January 2022, Shanghai TengLian JiuJiu Information Communication Technology
Co., Ltd. (a€eTengLiana€) (a 99% owned subsidiary of Shanghai JiuGe Information Technology Co., Ltd.) signed a co-operation agreement with
China Unicom to launch the Device Protection program for mobile phones and the new 5G phones. A 32 A A Intercorporate Relationships A The
following is a list of all of our subsidiaries and the corresponding date of jurisdiction of incorporation or organization and the ownership interest of
each entity. All of our subsidiaries are directly or indirectly owned or controlled by us: A Name of Entity A Place of Incorporation / Formation A
Ownership Interest Finger Motion Company Limited (1) A Hong Kong A 100% Finger Motion (CN) Global Limited (2) A Samoa A 100% Finger
Motion (CN) Limited (3) A Hong Kong A 100% Shanghai JiuGe Business Management Co., Ltd.(4) A PRC A 100% Shanghai JiuGe Information
Technology Co., Ltd.(5) A PRC A Contractually controlled (5) Beijing XunLian TianXia Technology Co., Ltd.(6) A PRCA Contractually controlled
Finger Motion Financial Group Limited(7) A Samoa A 100% Finger Motion Financial Company Limited(8) A Hong Kong A 100% Shanghai TengLian
JiuJiu Information Communication Technology Co., Ltd.(9) A PRC A Contractually controlled Shanghai KeShunXiang Automobile Service Co., Ltd.
(10) A PRC A Contractually controlled A Notes: A A (1) Finger Motion Company Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of FingerMotion, Inc. A (2)
Finger Motion (CN) Global Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of FingerMotion, Inc. A 3) Finger Motion (CN) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Finger Motion (CN) Global Limited. A (4) Shanghai JiuGe Business Management Co., Ltd. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Finger Motion (CN)
Limited. A (5) Shanghai JiuGe Information Technology Co., Ltd. is a variable interest entity that is contractually controlled by Shanghai JiuGe
Business Management Co., Ltd. A (6) Beijing XunLian TianXia Technology Co., Ltd. is a 99% owned subsidiary of Shanghai JiuGe Information
Technology Co., Ltd. A (7) Finger Motion Financial Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of FingerMotion, Inc. A (8) Finger Motion Financial
Company lelted is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Finger Motion Financial Group Limited. A (9) Shanghai TengLian JiuJiu Information
Communication Technology Co., Ltd. is a 99% owned subsidiary of Shanghai JiuGe Information Technology Co., Ltd. A (10) Shanghai KeShunXiang
Automobile Service Co., Ltd. is a 99% owned subsidiary of Shanghai JiuGe Information Technology Co., Ltd. A Because we do not directly hold equity
interests in the VIE, we are subject to risks and uncertainties of the interpretations and applications of Chinese laws and regulations, including but
not limited to, the validity and enforcement of the VIE Agreements among the WFOE, the VIE and the shareholder of the VIE. We are also subject to
the risks and uncertainties about any future actions of the Chinese government in this regard that could disallow the VIE structure, which would
likely result in a material change in our operations and may cause the value of our Common Shares to depreciate significantly or become worthless.
A The VIE Agreements may not be as effective as direct ownership in providing operational control. For instance, the VIE and its shareholders could
breach their contractual arrangements with us by, among other things, failing to conduct their operations in an acceptable manner or taking other
actions that are detrimental to our interests. The shareholder of the VIE may not act in the best interests of our Company or may not perform their
obligations under the VIE Agreements. Such risks exist throughout the period in which we intend to operate certain portions of our business through
the VIE Agreements with the VIE. In the event that the VIE or its shareholder fail to perform their respective obligations under the VIE Agreements,
we may have to incur substantial costs and expend additional resources to enforce such arrangements. In addition, even if legal actions are taken to
enforce the VIE Agreements, there is uncertainty as to whether Chinese courts would recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts against us or
such persons predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the United States or any state. See d€ceRisk Factorsa€”Risks
Related to the VIE Agreementsa€. We rely on the VIE Agreements with the VIE and its shareholder for a significant portion of our business
operations. The VIE Agreements may not be as effective as direct ownership in providing operational control. Any failure by the VIE or its
shareholder to perform their obligations under such contractual arrangements would have a material and adverse effect on our business. A 33 A A
As of the date of this periodic report on Form 10-Q, we and the VIE are not required to seek permissions from the CSRC, the CAC, or any other entity
that is required to approve of the operations of the VIE, other than a value-added telecommunications business licence, which has already been
obtained. Nevertheless, Chinese regulatory authorities may in the future promulgate laws, regulations or implement rules that require us, our
subsidiaries or the VIEs to obtain permissions from such regulatory authorities to approve the operations of the VIE or any securities listing. A
Overview A The Company is a mobile data specialist company incorporated in Delaware, USA, with its head office located at 111 Somerset Road,
Level 3, Singapore 238164. The Company operates the following lines of business: (i) Telecommunications Products and Services; (ii) Value Added
Products and Services (iii) Short Message Services (a€eSMSa€) and Multimedia Messaging Services (&€eMMSa€); (iv) a Rich Communication
Services (4€eRCSa€) platform; (v) Big Data Insights; and (vi) a Video Games Division (inactive). A Telecommunications Products and Services A The
Companya€™s current product mix consisting of payment and recharge services, data plans, subscription plans, mobile phones, loyalty points
redemption and other products bundles (i.e. mobile protection plans). Chinese mobile phone consumers often utilize third-party e-marketing websites
to pay their phone bills. If the consumer connected directly to the telecommunications provider to pay his or her bill, the consumer would miss out on
any benefits or marketing discounts that e-marketers provide. Thus, consumers log on to these e-marketera€™s websites, click into their respective



phone providera€™s store, and 4€cetop up,a€ or pay, their telecommunications provider for additional mobile data and talk time. A To connect to the
respective mobile telecommunications providers, these e-marketers must utilize a portal licensed by the applicable telecommunication company that
processes the payment. We have been granted one of these licenses by China United Network Communications Group Co., Ltd. (24€ceChina
Unicoma€) and China Mobile Communications Corporation (&€ceChina Mobilea€), each of which is a major telecommunications provider in China. We
principally earn revenue by providing mobile payment and recharge services to customers of China Unicom and China Mobile. A We conduct our
mobile payment business through JiuGe Technology, our contractually controlled affiliate through the entry into the VIE Agreements in October
2018. In the first half of 2018, JiuGe Technology secured contracts with China Unicom and China Mobile to distribute mobile data for businesses and
corporations in nine provinces/municipalities, namely Chengdu, Jiangxi, Jiangsu, Chongqing, Shanghai, Zhuhai, Zhejiang, Shaanxi, Inner Mongolia,
Henan and Fujian. In September 2018, JiuGe Technology launched and commercialized mobile payment and recharge services to businesses for
China Unicom. In May 2021, JiuGe Technology signed a volume-based agreement with China Mobile Fujian to offer recharge services to the Fujian
province which we have launched and commercialized in November 2021. A The JiuGe Technology mobile payment and recharge platform enables
the seamless delivery of real-time payment and recharge services to third-party channels and businesses. We earn a rebate from each
telecommunications company on the funds paid by consumers to the telecommunications companies we process. To encourage consumers to utilize
our portal instead of using our competitorsa€™ platforms or paying China Unicom or China Mobile directly, we offer mobile data and talk time at a
rate discounted from these companiesa€™ stated rates, which are also the rates we must pay to them to purchase the mobile data and talk time
provided to consumers through the use of our platform. Accordingly, we earn income on the rebates we receive from China Unicom and China
Mobile, reduced by the amounts by which we discount the mobile data and talk time sold through our platform. A 34 A A FingerMotion started and
commercialized its &€ceBusiness to Businessa€ (a€ceB2Ba€) model by integrating with various e-commerce platforms to provide its mobile payment
and recharge services to subscribers or end consumers. In the first quarter of 2019 FingerMotion expanded its business by commercializing its first
a€ceBusiness to Consumera€ (a&€0eB2Ca€) model, offering the telecommunication providersa€™ products and services, including data plans,
subscription plans, mobile phones, and loyalty points redemption, directly to subscribers or customers of the e-commerce companies, such as
PinDuoDuo (a€ePDDa€), TMall (a4€eTMALL&€) and JD.Com. The Company is planning to further expand its universal exchange platform by setting
up B2C stores on several other major e-commerce platforms in China. In addition to that, we have been assigned as one of Chinad€™s Mobilea€™'s
loyalty redemption partner where we will be providing the services for their customers via our platform. A Additionally, as previously disclosed, on
July 7, 2019, JiuGe Technology, our contractually controlled affiliate, entered into that certain Cooperation Agreement with China Unicom Yunnan,
whereby JiuGe Technology is responsible for constructing and operating China Unicoma€™ s electronic sales platform through which consumers can
purchase various goods and services from China Unicom, including mobile telephones, mobile telephone service, broadband data services, terminals,
d€mesmarta€ devices and related financial insurance. The Cooperation Agreement provides that JiuGe Technology is required to construct and
operate the platforma€™s webpage in accordance with China Unicoma€ ™ s specifications and policies, and applicable law, and bear all expenses in
connection therewith. As consideration for the service JiuGe Technology provides under the Cooperation Agreement, it receives a percentage of the
revenue received from all sales it processes for China Unicom on the platform. The Cooperation Agreement expires three years from the date of its
signature with a yearly auto-renewal clause, which is currently in an auto-renewal period, but it may be terminated by (i) JiuGe Technology upon
three months&€™ written notice or (ii) by China Unicom unilaterally. A During the recent fiscal year, the Company expanded its offering under their
telecommunication product and services by increasing their product line revenue streams. In March 2020, FingerMotion secured a contract with
both China Mobile and China Unicom to acquire new users to take up the respective subscription plans. A In February 2021, we increased the
mobile phones sales to end users using all of our platforms. This business will continue to contribute to the overall revenue for the group as part of
our offering to our customers. A Value Added Product and Services A These are new product and services that the Company expects to secure and
work with the telecommunication provider and all our e-commerce platform partners to market. In February 2022, our contractually controlled
subsidiary, JiuGe Technology, through its 99% own subsidiary TengLian signed an agreement with both China Unicom and China Mobile to co-
operate to roll out the Mobile Device Protection product which is incorporated into the Telecommunication subscription plans in line with their roll
out of new mobile phones and new 5G phones. In mid-July 2022, we launched the roll out of the Mobile Device protection product with the roll out of
the new mobile phones and 5G phones. Complementing our hardware protection services, we have introduced cloud services designed to offer
corporate customers robust data storage, processing capabilities, and databases accessible via the internet. A SMS and MMS Services A On March
7, 2019, the Company through JiuGe Technology acquired Beijing Technology Co, a company in the business of providing mass SMS text services to
businesses looking to communicate with large numbers of their customers and prospective customers. With this acquisition, the Company expanded
into a second partnership with the telecom companies by acquiring bulk SMS and MMS bundles at reduced prices and offering bulk SMS services to
end consumers with competitive pricing. Beijing Technology retains a license from MIIT to operate the SMS and MMS business in the PRC. Similar to
the mobile payment and recharge business, Beijing Technology is required to make a deposit or bulk purchase in advance and has secured business
customers, including premium car manufacturers, hotel chains, airlines and e-commerce companies, that utilize Beijing Technologya€™s SMS
integrated platform to send bulk SMS text messages monthly. Beijing Technology has the capability to manage and track the entire process,
including guiding the Companya€™s customer to meet MIITa€™ s guidelines on messages composed, until the SMS messages have been delivered
successfully. A 35 A A Rich Communication Services A In March 2020, the Company began the development of an RCS platform, also known as
Messaging as a Platform (a&€ceMaaPa€). This RCS platform will be a proprietary business messaging platform that enables businesses and brands to
communicate and service their customers on the 5G infrastructure, delivering a better and more efficient user experience at a lower cost. For
example, with the new 5G RCS message service, consumers will have the ability to list available flights by sending a message regarding a holiday and
will also be able to book and buy flights by sending messages. This will allow telecommunication providers like China Unicom and China Mobile to
retain users on their systems without having to utilize third-party apps or log onto the Internet, which will increase their user retention. We expect
this to open up a new marketing channel for the Companya€™ s current and prospective business partners. Currently, the deployment of this RCS
platform is under review, with discussion ongoing among government bodies, major service providers, and telecommunication companies. These
deliberations aim to assess the potential market impacts and establish the necessary consents before the launch, considering the significant changes
the platform may introduce to user interactions with existing services. These discussions seek to ensure that all stakeholdersa€™ concerns are
addressed comprehensively. Once these issues are resolved and the necessary approval is obtained, we anticipate a substantial enhancement in our
service offerings and an expansion of our market reach. A Big Data Insights A In July 2020, the Company launched its proprietary technology
platform &€ceSapientusa€ as its big data insights arm to deliver data-driven solutions and insights for businesses within the insurance, healthcare,
and financial services industries. The Company applies its vast experience in the insurance and financial services industry and capabilities in
technology and data analytics to develop revolutionary solutions targeted towards insurance and financial consumers. Integrating diverse publicly
available information, insurance and financial based data with technology and finally registering them into the FingerMotion telecommunications and
insurance ecosystem, the Company would be able to provide functional insights and facilitate the transformation of key components of the insurance
value chain, including driving more effective and efficient underwriting, enabling fraud evaluation and management, empowering channel expansion
and market penetration through novel product innovation, and more. The ultimate objective is to promote, enhance and deliver better value to our
partners and customers. A The Companya€™s proprietary risk assessment engine offers standard and customized scoring and appraisal services
based on multi-dimensional factors. The Company has the ability to provide potential customers and partners with insights-driven and technology-
enabled solutions and applications including preferred risk selection, precision marketing, product customization, and claims management (e.g.,
fraud detection). The Companya€™s mission is to deliver the next generation of data-driven solutions in the financial services, healthcare, and
insurance industries that result in more accurate risk assessments, more efficient processes, and a more delightful user experience. A On or around
January 25, 2021, the Companya€ ™ s wholly owned subsidiary, Finger Motion Financial Company Limiteda€™s, big data analytic arm branded
a€meSapientus,a€ entered into a services agreement with Pacific Life Re, a global life reinsurer serving the insurance industry with a comprehensive
suite of products and services. A In December 2021, the Company through JiuGe Technology formed a collaborative research alliance with Munich
Re in extending behavioral analytics to enhance understanding of morbidity and behavioral patterns in China market, with the goal of creating value
for both insurers and the end insurance consumers through better technology, product offerings and customer experience. A Our Video Game
Division A The video game industry covers multiple sectors and is currently experiencing a move away from physical games towards digital software.
Advances in technology and streaming now allow users to download games rather than visiting retailers. Video game publishers are expanding their
direct-to-consumer channels with mobile gaming, the current growth leader, and eSports and virtual reality gaining momentum as the Companya€™s
Board of Directors decided to re-focus the Companya€™s resources into new business opportunities in China, particularly the mobile phone payment
and data business. A 36 A A Recent Developments A On September 10, 2024, we appointed CT International LLP as our new independent
registered public accounting firm, succeeding our previous auditors, Centurion ZD CPA & Co. A On November 29, 2024, Michael Chan resigned as a
director of the Company. A Results of Operations A Three Months Ended November 30, 2024 - Compared to the Three Months Ended November 30,
2023 A The following table sets forth our results of operations for the periods indicated: A A A For the three months endedA A A November 30,
2024A A November 30, 2023A RevenueA $8,534,079A A $6,140, 146A Cost of revenueA $(8,090,509)A $(5,502,151) Total operating expensesA
$(2,057 677)A $(2,599,005) Total other income (expenses)A $(48, 548)A $15,207A Net loss attributable to the Companya€™ s shareholdersA
$(1,660 801)A $(1,944,343) Foreign currency translation adJustmentA $(274, 666)A $252 155A Comprehensive loss attributable to the CompanyA
$(1,935, 286)A $(1,692,409) Basic Loss Per Share attributable to the CompanyA $(0.03)A $(0.04) Diluted Loss Per Share attributable to the
CompanyA $(0.03)A $(0.04) A Revenue A The following table sets forth the Companya€™s revenue from its three lines of business for the periods



indicated: A A A For the three months endedAA AA A A November 30, 2024A A November 30, 2023A A Change (%)A Telecommunication
Products & ServicesA $8,489,622A A $6,126,662A A A 39% SMS & MMS BusinessA $44,457A A $7,900A A A 463% Command &
CommunicationA $4€”A A $4€”A A A 4€”A Big DataA $4€”A A $5,584A A A -100% Total RevenueA $8,534,079A A $6,140,146A A A 39% A We
recorded $8,534,079 in revenue for the three months ended November 30, 2024, an increase of $2,393,933 or 39%, compared to the three months
ended November 30, 2023. This increase resulted from an increase in revenue of $2,362,960 and $36,557 from our Telecommunication Products &
Services and SMS & MMS businesses, respectively; offset by decreases in revenue of $5,584 from our Big Data business. We principally earn revenue
by providing mobile payment and recharge services to customers of telecommunications companies in China. Specifically, we earn a negotiated
rebate amount from the telecommunications companies for all monies paid by consumers to those companies that we process. For the three months
ended November 30, 2024, revenue contribution came mainly from the Telecommunication Products & Services segment. In shifting focus to our Big
Data business since FY2021, we forged an alliance and collaborative partnerships with two key reinsurance companies, Pacific Life Re and Munich
Re, which enabled us to develop a holistic multi-faceted risk rating concept, leveraging the Companya€ ™ s proprietary approach to analytics by
drawing data from novel sources and filtering them through advance algorithms with the ultimate goal of applying new insights generated from our
predictive model to the traditional insurance industry and extending behavioral analytics to enhance understanding of morbidity and behavioral
patterns in the Chinese market. Our goal is to create value for both insurers and end consumers by driving technological advancements, improving
product offerings, and enhancing customer experiences. After successfully executing joint initiatives with Munich Re, we are now actively working on
promoting our data capabilities to customers. A 37 A A Cost of Revenue A The following table sets forth the Companya€™s cost of revenue for the
periods indicated: A A A For the three months endedA A A November 30, 2024A A November 30, 2023A Telecommunication Products &
ServicesA $8,049,278A A $5,494,641A SMS & MMS BusinessA $41 231A A $7,510A Command & CommunicationA $a€”A A $a€”A Big DataA
$a€”A A $a€”A Total Cost of RevenueA $8,090,509A A $5,502,151A A We recorded $8,090,509 in costs of revenue for the three months ended
November 30, 2024, an increase of $2,588,358 or 47%, compared to the three months ended November 30, 2023. As previously mentioned, we
principally earn revenue by providing mobile payment and recharge services to customers of telecommunications companies, subscription plans and
mobile phone sales in China. To earn this revenue, we incur cost of the product, certaln customer acquisition costs, including discounts to our
customers and promotional expenses, which is reflected in our cost of revenue. A Gross profit A Our gross profit for the three months ended
November 30, 2024 was $443,570, a decrease of $194,425 or 30%, compared to the three months ended November 30, 2023. The decrease in gross
profit was primarily due to the higher margins realized from the Cloud business segment under the Telecommunication Product & Services during
the prior period. In contrast, the current perioda€™s product mix resulted in a lower gross profit generated from recharge services revenue. A
Amortization & Depreciation A We recorded depreciation of $11,561 for fixed assets for the three months ended November 30, 2024, a decrease of
$5,964 or 34%, compared to the three months ended November 30, 2023. A General & Administrative Expenses A The following table sets forth the
Companya€™s general and administrative expenses for the periods indicated: A A A For the three months endedA A A November 30, 2024A A
November 30, 2023A AccountlngA $185, 352A A $49, 342A ConsultmgA $224,664A A $800,001A EntertainmentA $86,751A A $74,724A ITA
$12,048A A $11,535A RentA $33,140A A $34, 949A Salaries & WagesA $616,996A A $501,396A Technical FeeA $24,195A A $34,853A
TravellingA $100,538A A $85,373A OthersA $295,935A A $664,012A Total G&A ExpensesA $1,579,619A A $2,256,185A A We recorded
$1,579,619 in general and administrative expenses for the three months ended November 30, 2024, a decrease of $676,566 or 30%, compared to the
three months ended November 30, 2023. The expenses encompass a range of costs integral to the Companya€™s ongoing operational and
administrative requirements; which include, but are not limited to, regulatory filings, professional services fees, ongoing funding activities, and other
costs associated with adhering to both domestic and international operational standards and requirements. A 38 A A Marketing Cost A The
following table sets forth the Companya€™s marketing cost for the periods indicated: A A A For the three months endedA A A November 30,
2024A A November 30, 2023A Marketing CostA $140,478A A $40,963A A We recorded $140,478 in marketing cost for the three months ended
November 30, 2024, being an increase of $99,515 or 243%, compared to the three months ended November 30, 2023. The majority of these
marketing costs were incurred in promoting our newly launched Da Ge App platform. A Research & Development A The following table sets forth
the Companya€™s research & development for the periods indicated: A A A For the three months endedA A A November 30, 2024A A November
30, 2023A Research & DevelopmentA $146,735A A $176,119A A We incurred fees of $146,735 in research & development for the three months
ended November 30, 2024 as compared to $176,119 for the three months ended November 30, 2023. The decrease of $29,384 or 17% was due to the
reduced data access and usage fee charged by telecommunications companies. A Our Insurtech division focuses on consumer behavioral insights
extraction for the purpose of risk assessment. Insights are mined from a multitude of data sources, harmonized with the objectives of our various
business partners. The initial phase of business application is to focus on the insurance industry, particularly in the area of underwriting risk rating,
complementary claims adjudication and assessment, and risk segmentation & market penetration. A This division comprises of experienced
actuaries, data scientists, and computer programmers. A The expenses for research & development include associated wages and salaries, data
access fees and IT infrastructure. A Over the course of 2023, Sapientus has made great strides on several fronts: market implementation, analytical
advancement, and network engagement. These developments proceed in parallel with continued efforts to enrich our portfolio line-up towards
fulfilling our commercialization potential and value creation objectives: A A a— Deployment of an analytic engine within the leading reinsurera€™s
risk assessment and selection system. A A - Our rating models have been onboarded onto our partnera€™s innovative digital solutions platform as
an embedded component of their underwriting engine. Through this pilot adoption, we brought forward both integrative as well as complementary
value through injecting new data-driven insights and risk-scoring capabilities into our partnera€™s system. We believe this arrangement strategically
positions Sapientus for further market recognition and partnership opportunities. A A - Currently, our rating models are being used by more than 20
major insurance companies, with increasing reach in terms of user base and business coverage as our reinsurer partner continues to actively engage
more insurance clients and apply our model results across wider spectrums of product lines including medical and Critical Illness (CI) portfolios. A &
—Model enhancement through calibration against empirical data - We have deepened our analytic capabilities in generating risk insights and
behavioral understanding through sharpening our proprietary modelling tools with empirical insurance claims data, in conjunctionA A with our
partnera€™s medical as well as non-medical underwriting guidelines. The elevated intelligence of our system could empower our partners with a
greater latitude of risk and value segmentation abilities critical for successful portfolio management. A 39 A A A 4— Strengthening of existing
partnerships and broadening into new engagements -We continue to leverage our vast analytical assets and reinvent our capabilities to better serve
existing partners as well as recruit new collaboration parties. As part of our new business and partner acquisition strategy, we have been actively
developing and promoting new value propositions, such as offering proprietary analytlc tools and insights that facilitate more effective sales profiling
and creative product innovations, capturing a wider commercial audience. A A a— Official patent recognition 4€“ Over the past four years,
Sapientus has been granted eight patents by the National Copyright Administration of China (NCAC) for the abovementioned model algorithms and
technological infrastructure as well as insurance-oriented applications, for example, Risk Rating API Design, and Insurance Risk Assessment platform
and Insurance Fraud Detection System. NCAC is the governing body for patent and copyright verification and approval in China. The Companya€™s
successful applications for these patents validate Sapientusa€™ continuing innovation in data science and its application in the field of insurance,
finance, and beyond, demonstrating the Companya€™s active participation and contributions to the industry. A It is important to emphasize that our
allocation to research and development is foundational to our technology-oriented operations. Our steadfast dedication to innovation remains
undiminished, and we expect to persistently advance in our developmental endeavors to reinforce our technological edge. A Share Compensation
Expenses A The following table sets forth the Companyé&€™s share compensation expenses for the periods indicated: A A A For the three months
endedA A A November 30, 2024A A November 30, 2023A Share compensation expensesA $179,284A A $108,213A A We incurred fees of
$179,284 in share issuance for consultants in consideration of the services which have been provided to the Company for the three months ended
November 30, 2024, as compared to $108,213 for the three months ended November 30, 2023. The increase of $71,071 or 66% was due to the
engagement of consultants to the Company that were compensated with shares of our common stock. A Operating Expenses A We recorded
$2,057,677 in operating expenses for the three months ended November 30, 2024, as compared to $2,599,005 in operating expenses for the three
months ended November 30, 2023. The decrease of $541,328 or 21%, for the three months ended November 30, 2024, is as set forth above. A Net
loss attributable to the Companya€™s shareholders A The net loss attributable to the Companya€™ s shareholders was $1,660,801 for the three
months ended November 30, 2024, and $1,944,343 for the three months ended November 30, 2023. The decrease in net loss attributable to the
Companya€™s shareholders of $283,542 or 15%, is as discussed above. A 40 A A Nine Months Ended November 30, 2024 Compared to the Nine
Months Ended November 30, 2023 A The following table sets forth our results of operations for the periods indicated: A A A For the nine months
endedA A A November 30, 2024A A November 30, 2023A RevenueA $25,366,825A A $27,588,403A Cost of revenueA $(23,940,338)A
$(24,446,325) Total operating eXpensesA $(6,395,869)A $(6,482,894) Total other income (expenses)A $(27, 676)A $(3,901) Net loss attributable to
the Companya€™s shareholdersA $(5,004, 934)A $(3,343,895) Foreign currency translation adjustmentA $(99, 449)A $(271,579) Comprehensive
loss attributable to the CompanyA $(5,103, 319)A $(3,615 ,451) Basic Loss Per Share attributable to the CompanyA $(0.09)A $(0.06) Diluted Loss
Per Share attributable to the CompanyA $(O 09)A $(0.06) A Revenue A The followmg table sets forth the Companya€ ™s revenue from its three
lines of business for the periods indicated: A A A For the nine months endedAA AA A A November 30, 2024A A November 30, 2023A A Change
(%)A Telecommunication Products & ServicesA $17,125,936A A $27,332,154A A A -37% SMS & MMS BusinessA $8,212,021A A $24,213A A

A 33816% Command & CommunicationA $28,868A A $a€”A A A 100% Big DataA $a€”A A $232,036A A A -100% Total RevenueA $25,366,825A A
$27,588,403A A A -8% A We recorded $25,366,825 in revenue for the nine months ended November 30, 2024, a decrease of $2,221,578 or 8%,
compared to the nine months ended November 30, 2023. This decrease resulted from increases in revenue of $8,187,808 and $28,868 from our SMS



& MMS and Command & Communication businesses, respectively, offset by decreases in revenue of $10,206,218 and $232,036 from our
Telecommunication Products & Services and Big Data businesses, respectively. We principally earn revenue by providing mobile payment and
recharge services to customers of telecommunications companies in China. Specifically, we earn a negotiated rebate amount from the
telecommunications companies for all monies paid by consumers to those companies that we process. For the nine months ended November 30,
2024, our revenue remained primarily driven by our Telecommunication Products & Services segment, despite a decrease compared to the same
period in 2023. The SMS & MMS business experienced a notable increase during this period, reflecting our ongoing efforts to optimize our business
portfolio and allocate resources strategically. However, the overall revenue from recharge services for the nine months ended November, 2024 was
lower than prior corresponding period, it continues to be the primary contributor to our overall perfomance. In shifting focus to our Big Data
business, since FY2021, we forged an alliance and collaborative partnerships with two key reinsurance companies, Pacific Life Re and Munich Re,
which enabled us to develop a holistic multi-faceted risk rating concept, leveraging the Company&a€ ™ s proprietary approach to analytics by drawing
data from novel sources and filtering them through advance algorithms with the ultimate goal to apply new insights generated from our predictive
model to the traditional insurance industry and extending behavioral analytics to enhance understanding of morbidity and behavioral patterns in the
Chinese market. Our goal is to create value for both insurers and end consumers by driving technological advancements, improving product
offerings, and enhancing customer experiences. After successfully executing joint initiatives with Munich Re, we are now actively working on
promoting our data capabilities to customers. A 41 A A Cost of Revenue A The following table sets forth the Companya€™s cost of revenue for the
periods indicated: A A A For the nine months endedA A A November 30, 2024A A November 30, 2023A Telecommunication Products & ServicesA
$16,221,173A A $24,424,082A SMS & MMS BusinessA $7,691,030A A $22, 243A Command & CommunicationA $28,135A A $a€”A Big DataA
$a€”A A $a€”A Total Cost of RevenueA $23,940,338A A $24,446,325A A We recorded $23,940,338 in costs of revenue for the nine months ended
November 30, 2024, a decrease of $505,9870r 2%, compared to the nine months ended November 30, 2023. As previously mentioned, we principally
earn revenue by providing mobile payment and recharge services to customers of telecommunications companies, subscription plans and mobile
phone sales in China. To earn this revenue, we incur cost of the product, certain customer acquisition costs, including discounts to our customers and
promotional expenses, which is reflected in our cost of revenue. A Gross profit A Our gross profit for the nine months ended November 30, 2024 was
$1,426,487, a decrease of $1,715,591 or 55%, compared to the nine months ended November 30, 2023. The significant decline in gross profit was
primarily due to the higher margin product mix in the Telecommunication Product & Services segment during the prior period, particularly from our
cloud business. In contrast, there were no contributions from the cloud business during the current nine months, which typically generates higher
margin. A Amortization & Depreciation A We recorded depreciation of $35,315 for fixed assets for the nine months ended November 30, 2024, a
decrease of $18,223 or 34%, compared to the nine months ended November 30, 2023. A General & Administrative Expenses A The following table
sets forth the Company&€™s general and administrative expenses for the periods indicated: A A A For the nine months endedA A A November 30,
2024A A November 30, 2023A AccountlngA $244,609A A $119,641A ConsultlngA $1,010,730A A $1,644,887A EntertainmentA $214,351A A
$224,636A ITA $45,799A A $70,705A RentA $100, 080A A $108, 541A Salaries & WagesA $1,850,585A A $1,469,395A Technical FeeA
$119,436A A $107,447A TravellingA $263,995A A $195,926A OthersA $1,147,867A A $1,311,353A Total G&A ExpensesA $4,997,452A A
$5,252,531A A We recorded $4,997,452 in general and administrative expenses for the nine months ended November 30, 2024, a decrease of
$255,079 or 5%, compared to the nine months ended November 30, 2023. The decrease encompasses a range of costs integral to the Companya€™s
ongoing operational and administrative requirements. The expenses include, but are not limited to, regulatory filings, professional services fees,
ongoing funding activities, and other costs associated with adhering to both domestic and international operational standards and requirements. A
42 A A Marketing Cost A The following table sets forth the Companya€™s marketing cost for the periods indicated: A A A For the nine months
endedA A A November 30, 2024A A November 30, 2023A Marketing CostA $274,584A A $92,559A A We recorded $274,584 in marketing cost
for the nine months ended November 30, 2024, being an increase of $182,025 or 197%, compared to the nine months ended November 30, 2023. The
majority of these marketing costs were incurred in promoting our newly launched Da Ge App platform. A Research & Development A The following
table sets forth the Company4a€™s research & development for the periods indicated: A A A For the nine months endedA A A November 30,

2024A A November 30, 2023A Research & DevelopmentA $506,001A A $525,174A A We incurred fees of $506,001 in research & development for
the nine months ended November 30, 2024, as compared to $525,174 for the nine months ended November 30, 2023. The decrease of $19,173 or 4%
was due to the data access and usage fee charged by telecommunications companies. A Our Insurtech division focuses on consumer behavioral
insights extraction for the purpose of risk assessment. Insights are mined from a multitude of data sources, harmonized with the objectives of our
various business partners. The initial phase of business application is to focus on the insurance industry, particularly in the area of underwriting risk
rating, complementary claims adjudication and assessment, and risk segmentation & market penetration. A This division comprises of experienced
actuaries, data scientists, and computer programmers. A The expenses for research & development include associated wages and salaries, data
access fees and IT infrastructure. A Over the course of 2023, Sapientus has made great strides on several fronts: market implementation, analytical
advancement, and network engagement. These developments proceed in parallel with continued efforts to enrich our portfolio line-up towards
fulfilling our commercialization potential and value creation objectives: A A a— Deployment of an analytic engine within the leading reinsurera€™s
risk assessment and selection system. A A - Our rating models have been onboarded onto our partnera€™s innovative digital solutions platform as
an embedded component of their underwriting engine. Through this pilot adoption, we brought forward both integrative as well as complementary
value through injecting new data-driven insights and risk-scoring capabilities into our partnera€™s system. We believe this arrangement strategically
positions Sapientus for further market recognition and partnership opportunities. A A - Currently, our rating models are being used by more than 20
major insurance companies, with increasing reach in terms of user base and business coverage as our reinsurer partner continues to actively engage
more insurance clients and apply our model results across wider spectrums of product lines including medical and Critical Illness (CI) portfolios. A A
a— Model enhancement through calibration against empirical data - We have deepened our analytic capabilities in generating risk insights and
behavioral understanding through sharpening our proprietary modelling tools with empirical insurance claims data, in conjunctionA A with our
partnera€™s medical as well as non-medical underwriting guidelines. The elevated intelligence of our system could empower our partners with a
greater latitude of risk and value segmentation abilities critical for successful portfolio management. A 43 A A A 4— Strengthening of existing
partnerships and broadening into new engagements -We continue to leverage our vast analytical assets and reinvent our capabilities to better serve
existing partners as well as recruit new collaboration parties. As part of our new business and partner acquisition strategy, we have been actively
developing and promoting new value propositions, such as offering proprietary analytic tools and insights that facilitate more effective sales profiling
and creative product innovations, capturing a wider commercial audience. A A 4— Official patent recognition 4€“ Over the past four years,
Sapientus has been granted eight patents by the National Copyright Administration of China (NCAC) for the abovementioned model algorithms and
technological infrastructure as well as insurance-oriented applications, for example, Risk Rating API Design, and Insurance Risk Assessment platform
and Insurance Fraud Detection System. NCAC is the governing body for patent and copyright verification and approval in China. The Companya€™s
successful applications for these patents validate Sapientusa€™ continuing innovation in data science and its application in the field of insurance,
finance, and beyond, demonstrating the Companya€™s active participation and contributions to the industry. A It is important to emphasize that our
allocation to research and development is foundational to our technology-oriented operations. Our steadfast dedication to innovation remains
undiminished, and we expect to persistently advance in our developmental endeavors to reinforce our technological edge. A Share Compensation
Expenses A The following table sets forth the Company&€™ s share compensation expenses for the periods indicated: A A A For the nine months
endedA A A November 30, 2024A A November 30, 2023A Share compensation expensesA $582,517A A $559,092A A We incurred fees of
$582,517 in share issuance for consultants in consideration of the services which have been provided to the Company for the nine months ended
November 30, 2024, as compared to $559,092 for the nine months ended November 30, 2023. The increase of $23,425 or 4% was due to the
engagement of consultants to the Company that were compensated with shares of our common stock. The rationale for rewarding these consultants
and advisors with shares is to minimize the usage of cash by the Company to allow the Company to use the cash to invest in revenue-generating
activities. A Operating Expenses A We recorded $6,395,869 in operating expenses for the nine months ended November 30, 2024, as compared to
$6,482,894 in operating expenses for the nine months ended November 30, 2023. The decrease of $87,025 or 1%, the nine months ended November
30, 2024, is as set forth above. A Net Loss attributable to the Companya€™s shareholders A The net loss attributable to the Companya€™s
shareholders was $5,004,934 for the nine months ended November 30, 2024, and $3,343,895 for the nine months ended November 30, 2023. The
increase in net loss attributable to the Companya€™ s shareholders of $1,661,039 or 50% resulted primarily from the reduced revenue and gross
profit as discussed above. A Liquidity and Capital Resources A The following table sets out our cash and working capital as of November 30, 2024
and February 29, 2024:A A A A As at November 30, 2024A A As at February 29, 2024A Cash and cash equivalentsA $164,600A A $1,517,232A
Working capitalA $9,426,608A A $11,971,003A A 44 A A At November 30, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $164,600, as compared to
cash and cash equivalents of $1,517,232 at February 29, 2024. Our business model, particularly in mobile payment, requires periodic fund deposits
with our telecommunication companies to obtain access to the mobile data and talk time we make available to consumers on our portal. Additionally,
the expansion into areas such as cloud-based business, which features a longer collection cycle, as well as investments in other growth initiatives, has
increased our accounts receivable and placed added pressure on our liquidity. To manage these operational demands effectively, we have had to
carefully monitor and manage our cash flows. We anticipate our cash on hand and cash equivalents, along with our revenues from operations, will
support our ongoing operations and repayment of outstanding indebtedness in the near term. However, to sustain our growth and support strategic
initiatives, including the rollout of our Command & Communication business and increase deposits with telecommunication companies, we will
require additional capital. To support all these, we intend to continue to seek additional capital through public or private sales of our equity or debt



securities, or both. We may also explore entering into financing arrangements with commercial banks or non-traditional lenders. We cannot provide
investors with any assurance that we will be able to raise additional funding from the sale of our equity or debt securities, or both, in order to support
the rollout of our Command & Communication business and increase our deposits with our telecommunications company clients, or if available, that
such funding will be on terms acceptable to us. A On October 11, 2024, we closed a private placement of 1,095,000 shares of our common stock at a
price of $1.50 per share for gross proceeds of $1,642,500, most of which subscription proceeds were received during the prior quarter ended August
31, 2024. A Statement of Cashflows A The following table provides a summary of cash flows for the periods presented: A A A For the nine months
endedA A A November 30, 2024A A November 30, 2023A Net cash used in operating activitiesA $(4,586,866)A $(6,953,025) Net cash used in
investing activitiesA $(1,705)A $(379) Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitiesA $3,239,306A A $(295, 333) Effect of exchange rates on
cash & cash equivalentsA $(@3, 367)A $(56,939) Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalentsA $(1,352,632)A $(7,305,676) A Cash Flow
used in Operating Activities A Net cash used in operating activities decreased by $2,366,159 in the nine months ended November 30, 2024
compared to the nine months ended November 30, 2023, primarily due to an increase in account receivable of ($17,296,795) (November 30, 2023:
($5,072,577)) and increase in inventories ($31,096) (November 30, 2023 : nil); offset by decrease in prepayment and deposit of $1,390,794
(November 30, 2023: ($1,113,267)), decrease in other receivable of $1,438,128 (November 30, 2023: ($2,161,319)), increase in accounts payable of
$13,319,337 (November 30, 2023: $3,864,745), increase in accrual and other payable of $567,593 (November 30, 2023: ($102,182)) and increase in
lease liability of $10,314 (November 30, 2023: ($4,618)). A Cash Flow used in Investing Activities A During the nine months ended November 30,
2024, net cash used in investing activities increased by $1,326 compared to $379 in the nine months ended November 30, 2023 due to the purchase
of equipment. A A Cash Flow provided by Financing Activities A During the nine months ended November 30, 2024, net cash provided by financing
activities was $3,239,306 compared to net cash used by financing activities during the nine months ended November 30, 2023 of $295,333. The
increase was due to the receipt of subscription proceeds to purchase 1,095,000 shares of our common stock at $1.50 per share on a private
placement basis and short-term loan facilities of an aggregate of SGD$2,120,000. A Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements A There are no off-balance
sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to investors. A 45 A A Subsequent
Events A On December 3, 2024, following the resignation of Michael Chan as a director of the Company creating a vacancy on each of the
Boarda€™s audit committee and the compensation committee, the Board appointed Hsien Loong Wong as a member of the audit committee of the
Board and appointed Yew Poh Leong as the chair of the audit committee of the Board. In addition, the Board appointed Eng Ho Ng as a member of
the compensation committee of the Board. A On December 16, 2024, we and Univest Securities, LLC mutually agreed effective December 16, 2024
to terminate the At-the-Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated September 11, 2023. A On December 20, 2024, we entered into a Securities
Purchase Agreement with certain institutional investors (the &€cePurchasersa€), which provided for the issuance and sale, in a registered direct
offering by us of (i) 3,333,336 shares of our Common Stock and (ii) Common Warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 5,000,004 shares of our
common stock (the 4€ceOfferinga€) at a combined purchase price of $1.50 per share and one and one-half Common Warrants. A Each share of
Common Stock was offered together with one and one-half Common Warrants, with each whole Common Warrant to purchase one share of Common
Stock. The Common Warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share of Common Stock. The Common Warrants are exercisable upon issuance and
expire five years from the date of issuance. The exercise price of the Common Warrants is subject to adjustment for share dividend, share splits,
share combinations and similar capital transactions, as further described in the Common Warrants. In addition, the exercise price of the Common
Warrants is subject to reduction in the event of certain Common Stock and Common Stock equivalent issuances, other than certain agreed exempt
issuances, at a price lower than the exercise price of the Common Warrants then in effect. Furthermore, if at any time on or after the date of issuance
there occurs any share split, share dividend, share combination recapitalization or other similar transaction involving our common stock (each, a
d€meShare Combination Eventa€) and the lowest daily volume weighted average price during the period commencing five consecutive trading days
immediately preceding and ending immediately after the five consecutive trading days beginning on the date of such Share Combination Event, is
less than the exercise price of the Common Warrants then in effect, then the exercise price of the Common Warrants will be reduced to the lowest
daily volume weighted average price during such period. A The Purchase Agreement contains customary representations and warranties and
agreements of us and the Purchasers, and customary indemnification rights and obligations of the parties. In addition, the Purchase Agreement
includes a participation right in favor of the Purchasers under which the Purchasers will be entitled, for a period of one year following closing, to
participate in our future equity financings up to a participation rate of a maximum of 40% of such offering. We have agreed not to enter into or
complete certain equity financings, subject to certain agreed exemptions, for a 60 day period from the date of closing of the Offering. In addition, we
have agreed not to enter into any a€ceVariable Rate Transactionsa€, as defined in the Purchase Agreement, for a period of six months following
closing of the Offering, provided that we are entitled to proceed with an a€ceat-the-market offeringa€ after the expiry of the initial 60 day period
following closing. Certain of our directors, officers and 10% stockholders also entered into lock-up agreements in connection with the Offering under
which they have agreed not to sell or transfer any of their equity securities in us for a period of 60 days, subject to certain customary exceptions. A
In connection with the Offering, we entered into a Placement Agency Agreement on December 20, 2024 with Roth Capital Partners, LLC (the
d€mxPlacement Agenta€), as the exclusive placement agent in connection with the Offering. As compensation to the Placement Agent, we paid the
Placement Agent a cash fee of 7.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds raised in the Offering and issued to the Placement Agent a Placement Agent
Warrant to purchase up to 250,000 shares of our Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.88 per share for a term of five years from the date of
commencement of sales in the Offering. The Placement Agent Warrant includes adjustment provisions equivalent to the adjustment provisions
provided to the Purchasers under the Common Warrants, as described above. In addition, we have agreed to pay the Placement Agent up to $110,000
for its expenses.A A The shares of Common Stock, the Common Warrants and the Placement Agent Warrants described above and the shares of
Common Stock underlying each of the Common Warrants and the Placement Agent Warrant were offered and sold pursuant to the Registration
Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-274456), which was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 29, 2023. We
filed a prospectus supplement to the base prospectus incorporated in the Registration Statement with the SEC on December 23, 2024 in connection
with the Offering, which closed on December 23, 2024. A We received net proceeds of approximately $4.44 million from the Offering, after deducting
the estimated offering expenses payable by us, including the fees and expenses of the Placement Agent. We intend to use the net proceeds from the
Offering for general corporate and working capital purposes. A Other than the above, we have determined that we do not have any material
subsequent events to report. A 46 A A Critical Accounting Policies A For a complete summary of all our significant accounting policies refer to
Note 2 - Summary of Principal Accounting Policies of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as presented under Item 8, Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended February 29, 2024 filed with the SEC on May 29,
2024. A Refer to 4€ceCritical Accounting Policiesd€ under Item 7, Managementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended February 29, 2024 filed with the SEC on May 29, 2024. A Recently Issued
Accounting Pronouncements A The Company does not believe recently issued but not yet effective accounting standards, if currently adopted, would
have a material effect on the consolidated financial position, statements of operations and cash flows. A 47 A A ITEM 3 - QUANTITATIVE AND
QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK A As a smaller reporting company as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, the
Company is not required to provide the information required by this item. A ITEM 4 4€“ CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES A Evaluation of Disclosure
Controls and Procedures A Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the
end of the period covered by this Annual Report. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC4€™ s rules and forms, and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management
necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. A Based on such evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of November 30, 2024, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that due to the
existence of material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting, as discussed in more detail below, our disclosure controls and
procedures were not effective as of November 30, 2024. Management has continued to monitor the implementation of the remediation plan described
below. A Managementa€™s quarterly report on internal control over financial reporting A Management of FingerMotion, Inc. is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f). The Companya€™ s internal control over financial reporting (&€eICFRa€) is designed under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer,
acting in the capacity of principal executive officer, and our Chief Financial Officer, acting in the capacity of principal financial officer, and effected
by our board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. The
Companya€™s ICFR includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Companya€™s assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that the Companya€™s receipts and expenditures are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of the Companya€™s management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Companya€™s assets that could have a material effect on the



financial statements. A Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. A Our management, including our principal
financial officer, assessed the effectiveness of the Companya€™s internal control over financial reporting as of November 30, 2024 in accordance
with the framework inA Internal Control 4€“ Integrated FrameworkA issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the 40 COSO Frameworka€). A 48 A A Based on this assessment, Management concluded that certain aspects of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of November 30, 2024, were not effective. A A material weakness, as defined in standards established
pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal controls over financial reporting such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement for our annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis. A The ineffectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting was due to the following material weakness, which also existed as
of February 29, 2024: A A A- We have limited segregation of duties and oversight of work performed as well as lack of compensating controls in the
Companya€™s finance and accounting functions due to limited personnel. As a result, segregation of all conflicting duties may not always be possible
and may not be economically feasible. Furthermore, we cannot provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with management and director authorization. However, to the extent possible, the initiation of transactions, the custody of assets and the
recording of transactions should be performed by separate individuals. A Managementa€™ s Plan to Remediate the Material Weaknesses: A
Management has taken significant steps towards remediation of these material weaknesses in 2023, including implementing measures designed to
address the control deficiencies. While progress has been made in designing and implementing these controls, testing and validating their
effectiveness has yet to commence.A The remediation actions include: A A A- Management has documented a complete set of controls incorporating
segregation of duties, separate individuals performing and reviewing controls, and proper authorization and segregation of duties around payments
and expenditures in 2023. While significant progress has been made in implementing most of these controls, the process is not yet complete.
Management continues to work on finalizing the implementation and expects to complete it throughout 2025.A A A A- Management has
implemented corporate governance policies and charters that will further align the Companya€™s governance procedures with the requirements
noted in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including a Codes of Business Conduct and Ethics, which reflects the overall corporate principles, policies and
values that provides overall guidance for our control procedures. A Notwithstanding the assessment that our ICFR was not effective as of November
30, 2024 and that there is a material weaknesses as identified herein, we believe that our consolidated financial statements contained in this
Quarterly Report fairly present our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the period covered thereby in all material respects. We
are committed to continuing to improve our internal control processes and we are undertaking measures to remediate the material weakness we
have identified and generally strengthen our internal control over financial reporting. We will also continue to further review, optimize, and enhance
our financial reporting controls and procedures. This material weakness will not be considered remediated until the applicable remediated controls
operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively. A Changes in
internal control over financial reporting A Except for the remediation procedures being implemented by the Company as described above, there have
been no other changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that
occurred during our fiscal quarter ended November 30, 2024, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting. A 49 A A PART II 4€“ OTHER INFORMATION A ITEM 1 4€“ LEGAL PROCEEDINGS A The Company is not a party
to any pending legal proceeding. We are not aware of any pending legal proceeding to which any of our officers, directors, affiliates or any beneficial
holders of 5% or more of our voting securities are adverse to us or have a material interest adverse to us. A ITEM 1A 4€“ RISK FACTORS A In
addition to the information contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024, and this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, we have identified the following material risks and uncertainties which reflect our outlook and conditions known to us as of the date of
this Quarterly Report. These material risks and uncertainties should be carefully reviewed by our stockholders and any potential investors in
evaluating the Company, our business and the market value of our common stock. Furthermore, any one of these material risks and uncertainties has
the potential to cause actual results, performance, achievements or events to be materially different from any future results, performance,
achievements or events implied, suggested or expressed by any forward-looking statements made by us or by persons acting on our behalf. Refer to
d€meCautionary Note Regarding Forward-looking Statementsa€ as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February
29, 2024. A There is no assurance that we will be successful in preventing the material adverse effects that any one or more of the following material
risks and uncertainties may cause on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results, which may result in a significant decrease in
the market price of our common stock. Furthermore, there is no assurance that these material risks and uncertainties represent a complete list of the
material risks and uncertainties facing us. There may be additional risks and uncertainties of a material nature that, as of the date of this Quarterly
Report, we are unaware of or that we consider immaterial that may become material in the future, any one or more of which may result in a material
adverse effect on us. You could lose all or a significant portion of your investment due to any one of these material risks and uncertainties. A Risks
Related to the Business A We have a limited operating history and, as a result, our past results may not be indicative of future operating
performance. A We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to forecast our future results. You should not rely on our past results of
operations as indicators of future performance. You should consider and evaluate our prospects in light of the risks and uncertainty frequently
encountered by companies like ours. A If we fail to address the risks and difficulties that we face, including those described elsewhere in this
d€meRisk Factorsa€ section, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. Further, because we have limited
historical financial data and operate in an evolving market, any predictions about our future revenue and expenses may not be as accurate as they
would be if we had a longer operating history or operated in a more predictable market. We have encountered in the past, and will encounter in the
future, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies with limited operating histories in rapidly changing industries. If our
assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties are incorrect or change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our results of
operations could differ materially from our expectations and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. A
We have a history of net losses and we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability in the future. A For all annual periods of our operating
history we have experienced net losses. We generated a net loss of approximately $5.0 million during the nine-month period ended November 30,
2024 and net losses of approximately $3.8 million, $7.5 million and $4.9 million for the years ended February 29, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
At November 30, 2024 and February 29, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $33.5 million and $28.4 million, respectively. We have
not achieved profitability, and we may not realize sufficient revenue to achieve profitability in future periods. Our expenses will likely increase in the
future as we develop and launch new offerings and platform features, expand in existing and new markets, increase our sales and marketing efforts
and continue to invest in our platform. These efforts may be more costly than we expect and may not result in increased revenue or growth in our
business. If we are unable to generate adequate revenue growth and manage our expenses, we may continue to incur significant losses in the future
and may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability. A 50 A A If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected. A We are currently experiencing growth in our business. This expansion increases the complexity
of our business and has placed, and will continue to place, strain on our management, personnel, operations, systems, technical performance,
financial resources and internal financial control and reporting functions. Our ability to manage our growth effectively and to integrate new
employees, technologies and acquisitions into our existing business will require us to continue to expand our operational and financial infrastructure
and to continue to retain, attract, train, motivate and manage employees. Continued growth could strain our ability to develop and improve our
operational, financial and management controls, enhance our reporting systems and procedures, recruit, train and retain highly skilled personnel and
maintain user satisfaction. Additionally, if we do not effectively manage the growth of our business and operations, the quality of our offerings could
suffer, which could negatively affect our reputation and brand, business, financial condition and results of operations. A We depend on our key
personnel and other highly skilled personnel, and if we fail to attract, retain, motivate or integrate our personnel, our business, financial condition
and results of operations could be adversely affected. A Our success depends in part on the continued service of our founders, senior management
team, key technical employees and other highly skilled personnel and on our ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate, retain and integrate highly
qualified personnel for all areas of our organization. We may not be successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel to fulfil our current or
future needs. Our competitors may be successful in recruiting and hiring members of our management team or other key employees, and it may be
difficult for us to find suitable replacements on a timely basis, on competitive terms or at all. If we are unable to attract and retain the necessary
personnel, particularly in critical areas of our business, we may not achieve our strategic goals. A Our concentration of earnings from two
telecommunications companies may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. A We currently derive a
substantial amount of our total revenue through contracts secured with China Unicom and China Mobile. If we were to lose the business of one or
both of these mobile telecommunications companies, if either were to fail to fulfil its obligations to us, if either were to experience difficulty in paying
rebates to us on a timely basis, if either negotiated lower pricing terms, or if either increased the number of licensed payment portals it permits to
process its payments, it could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows. Additionally, we cannot guarantee that the volume of revenue we earn from China Unicom and China Mobile will remain consistent going
forward. Any substantial change in our relationships with either China Unicom or China Mobile, or both, whether due to actions by our competitors,
regulatory authorities, industry factors or otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. A Any actual or perceived security or privacy breach could interrupt our operations, harm our brand and adversely affect our reputation,



brand, business, financial condition and results of operations. A Our business involves the processing and transmission of our usersd€™ personal and
other sensitive data. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to or to sabotage information systems change frequently and may not be
known until launched against us, we may be unable to anticipate or prevent these attacks. Unauthorized parties may in the future gain access to our
systems or facilities through various means, including gaining unauthorized access into our systems or facilities or those of our service providers,
partners or users on our platform, or attempting to fraudulently induce our employees, service providers, partners, users or others into disclosing
names, passwords, payment information or other sensitive information, which may in turn be used to access our information technology systems, or
attempting to fraudulently induce our employees, partners or others into manipulating payment information, resulting in the fraudulent transfer of
funds to criminal actors. In addition, users on our platform could have vulnerabilities on their own mobile devices that are entirely unrelated to our
systems and platform but could mistakenly attribute their own vulnerabilities to us. Further, breaches experienced by other companies may also be
leveraged against us. For example, credential stuffing attacks are becoming increasingly common and sophisticated actors can mask their attacks,
making them increasingly difficult to identify and prevent. Certain efforts may be state-sponsored or supported by significant financial and
technological resources, making them even more difficult to detect. A 51 A A Although we have developed systems and processes that are designed
to protect our usersa€™ data, prevent data loss and prevent other security breaches, these security measures cannot guarantee security. Our
information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to cyberattacks or security breaches; also, employee error, malfeasance or other errors
in the storage, use or transmission of personal information could result in an actual or perceived privacy or security breach or other security incident.
A Any actual or perceived breach of privacy or security could interrupt our operations, result in our platform being unavailable, result in loss or
improper disclosure of data, result in fraudulent transfer of funds, harm our reputation and brand, damage our relationships with third-party
partners, result in significant legal, regulatory and financial exposure and lead to loss of confidence in, or decreased use of, our platform, any of
which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Any breach of privacy or security impacting any entities with
which we share or disclose data (including, for example, our third-party providers) could have similar effects. A Additionally, defending against
claims or litigation based on any security breach or incident, regardless of their merit, could be costly and divert managementa€™ s attention. We
cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for data handling or data security liabilities actually incurred, that insurance will
continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The
successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance
policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have an adverse effect on our
reputation, brand, business, financial condition and results of operations. A Systems failures and resulting interruptions in the availability of our
platform or offerings could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. A Our systems, or those of third parties upon
which we rely, may experience service interruptions or degradation because of hardware and software defects or malfunctions, distributed denial-of-
service and other cyberattacks, human error, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, natural disasters, power losses, disruptions in
telecommunications services, fraud, military or political conflicts, terrorist attacks, computer viruses, ransomware, malware or other events. Our
systems also may be subject to break-ins, sabotage, theft and intentional acts of vandalism, including by our own employees. Some of our systems are
not fully redundant and our disaster recovery planning may not be sufficient for all eventualities. Our business interruption insurance may not be
sufficient to cover all of our losses that may result from interruptions in our service as a result of systems failures and similar events. A We have not
experienced any system failures or other events or conditions that have interrupted the availability or reduced or effected the speed or functionality
of our offerings. These events, were they to occur in the future, could adversely affect our business, reputation, results of operations and financial
condition. A The successful operation of our business depends upon the performance and reliability of Internet, mobile, and other infrastructures
that are not under our control. A Our business depends on the performance and reliability of Internet, mobile and other infrastructures that are not
under our control. Disruptions in Internet infrastructure or the failure of telecommunications network operators to provide us with the bandwidth we
need to provide our services and offerings could interfere with the speed and availability of our platform. If our platform is unavailable when platform
users attempt to access it, or if our platform does not load as quickly as platform users expect, platform users may not return to our platform as often
in the future, or at all, and may use our competitorsa€™ products or offerings more often. In addition, we have no control over the costs of the
services provided by national telecommunications operators. If mobile Internet access fees or other charges to Internet users increase, consumer
traffic may decrease, which may in turn cause our revenue to significantly decrease. A 52 A A Our business depends on the efficient and
uninterrupted operation of mobile communications systems. The occurrence of an unanticipated problem, such as a power outage,
telecommunications delay or failure, security breach or computer virus could result in delays or interruptions to our services, offerings and platform,
as well as business interruptions for us and platform users. Furthermore, foreign governments may leverage their ability to shut down directed
services, and local governments may shut down our platform at the routing level. Any of these events could damage our reputation, significantly
disrupt our operations, and subject us to liability, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results. We have
invested significant resources to develop new products to mitigate the impact of potential interruptions to mobile communications systems, which
can be used by consumers in territories where mobile communications systems are less efficient. However, these products may ultimately be
unsuccessful. A We may be subject to claims, lawsuits, government investigations and other proceedings that may adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations. A We may be subject to claims, lawsuits, arbitration proceedings, government investigations and other
legal and regulatory proceedings as our business grows and as we deploy new offerings, including proceedings related to our products or our
acquisitions, securities issuances or business practices. The results of any such claims, lawsuits, arbitration proceedings, government investigations
or other legal or regulatory proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty. Any claims against us, whether meritorious or not, could be time-
consuming, result in costly litigation, be harmful to our reputation, require significant management attention and divert significant resources.
Determining reserves for litigation is a complex and fact-intensive process that requires significant subjective judgment and speculation. It is possible
that such proceedings could result in substantial damages, settlement costs, fines and penalties that could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations. These proceedings could also result in harm to our reputation and brand, sanctions, consent decrees, injunctions
or other orders requiring a change in our business practices. Any of these consequences could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations. Furthermore, under certain circumstances, we have contractual and other legal obligations to indemnify and to incur legal
expenses on behalf of our business and commercial partners and current and former directors and officers. A We will require additional funding to
support our business growth. A To grow our business, FingerMotion currently looks to take advantage of the immense growth in the total variety of
mobile services provided in China. On February 1, 2022, the Xinhua News Agency reported that the combined business revenue in the telecom sector
rose 8% year on year to about USD232.43 billion in 2021, with the growth rate up 4.1 percentage points from 2020, according to the PRC Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology. For the Company to continue to grow, the deposit with the Telecoms needs to increase, as most of the revenue
we process is dependent on the size of the deposit we have with each Telecom. We will need to raise additional capital to materially increase the
amounts of these deposits with the Telecoms and to support the rollour of our Command & Communications business. If we raise additional funds
through the issuance of equity, equity-linked or debt securities, those securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of our
common stock, and our existing stockholders may experience dilution. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve restrictive
covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain
additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available to us on favorable terms, or at
all. If we are unable to obtain adequate funding or funding on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to continue to support our
business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited, and our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be adversely affected. A Claims by others that we infringed their proprietary technology or other intellectual property rights could harm our
business. A Companies in the Internet and technology industries are frequently subject to litigation based on allegations of infringement or other
violations of intellectual property rights. In addition, certain companies and rights holders seek to enforce and monetize patents or other intellectual
property rights they own, have purchased or otherwise obtained. As we gain a public profile and the number of competitors in our market increases,
the possibility of intellectual property rights claims against us grows. From time to time, third parties may assert claims of infringement of
intellectual property rights against us. Many potential litigants, including some of our competitors and patent-holding companies, have the ability to
dedicate substantial resources to assert their intellectual property rights. Any claim of infringement by a third party, even those without merit, could
cause us to incur substantial costs defending against the claim, could distract our management from our business and could require us to cease use
of such intellectual property. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation,
we risk compromising our confidential information during this type of litigation. We may be required to pay substantial damages, royalties or other
fees in connection with a claimant securing a judgment against us, we may be subject to an injunction or other restrictions that prevent us from using
or distributing our intellectual property, or we may agree to a settlement that prevents us from distributing our offerings or a portion thereof, which
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. A 53 A A With respect to any intellectual property rights claim, we
may have to seek out a license to continue operations found to be in violation of such rights, which may not be available on favorable or commercially
reasonable terms and may significantly increase our operating expenses. Some licenses may be non-exclusive, and therefore our competitors may
have access to the same technology licensed to us. If a third party does not offer us a license to its intellectual property on reasonable terms, or at all,
we may be required to develop alternative, non-infringing technology, which could require significant time (during which we would be unable to
continue to offer our affected offerings), effort and expense and may ultimately not be successful. Any of these events could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. A Risks Related to Our Securities A Our stockA has limited liquidity. A Our common stock



began trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market on December 28, 2021, and before that it traded on the OTCQX operated by OTC Markets Group Inc.
Trading volume in our shares may be sporadic and the price could experience volatility. If adverse market conditions exist, you may have difficulty
selling your shares. A The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, some of which are beyond
our control, including the following: A A 4— actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatlng results; A A A A 4— changes in financial estimates
by securities analysts or our failure to perform in line with such estimates; A A A A 4— changes in market valuations of other companies,
particularly those that market services such as ours; A A A A 4— announcements by us or our competitors of significant innovations, acquisitions,
strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments; A A A A 4— introduction of product enhancements that reduce the need for our
products; A A A A 4— departure of key personnel; and A A A A 4— changes in overall global market sentiments and economy trends A We do not
intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future. A We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend
to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business, and we do not expect to declare or pay any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. As a result, stockholders must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation as the only way to realize any future
gains on their investment. A 54 A A If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about
our business, the market price and trading volume of our common stock could decline. A The trading market for our common stock may depend in
part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us, our business, our market or our competition. The analystsa€™
estimates are based upon their own opinions and are often different from our estimates or expectations. If one or more of the analysts who cover us
downgrade our common stock, provide a more favorable recommendation about our competitors or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about
our business, the price of our securities would likely decline. If few securities analysts commence coverage of us, or if one or more of these analysts
cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our securities could decrease, which might cause the price and trading
volume of our common stock to decline. A The continued sale of our equity securities will dilute the ownership percentage of our existing
shareholders and may decrease the market price for our Common Shares. A Our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, authorize the issuance of
up to 200,000,000 Common Shares and up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock (a€cePreferred Sharesa€). Our Board of Directors has the authority
to issue additional shares of our capital stock to provide additional financing in the future and designate the rights of the preferred shares, which
may include voting, dividend, distribution or other rights that are preferential to those held by the common stockholders. The issuance of any such
common or preferred shares may result in a reduction of the book value or market price of our outstanding common shares. To grow our business
substantially, we will likely have to issue additional equity securities to obtain working capital to deposit with the telecommunications companies for
which we process mobile recharge payments. Our efforts to fund our intended business plans will therefore result in dilution to our existing
stockholders. If we do issue any such additional common shares, such issuance also will cause a reduction in the proportionate ownership and voting
power of all other stockholders. As a result of such dilution, if you acquire common shares your proportionate ownership interest and voting power
could be decreased. Furthermore, any such issuances could result in a change of control or a reduction in the market price for our common shares.
A A If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and
accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired. A As a public company, we are subject to the reporting
requirements of the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the 4€0eSOAa€). The SOA requires, among other things, that we maintain
effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure
controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we will file with the SEC
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that information required to be
disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and financial officers. We are also
continuing to improve our internal control over financial reporting. We have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend, significant
resources in order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting.
A Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in the conditions in our business. Further,
weaknesses in our disclosure controls or our internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or
maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could harm our results of operations or cause us
to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and
maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could also adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual
independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that we
will eventually be required to include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would
likely adversely affect the market price of our common stock. A 55 A A Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (4€ceFINRAA€) sales practice
requirements may also limit a stockholdera€™s ability to buy and sell our shares of common stock, which could depress the price of our shares of
common stock. A FINRA rules require broker-dealers to have reasonable grounds for believing that the investment is suitable for a customer before
recommending that investment to the customer. Prior to recommending speculative low-priced securities to their non-institutional customers, broker-
dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information about the customera€™s financial status, tax status, investment objectives, and other
information. Under interpretations of these rules, FINRA believes that there is a high probability that speculative low-priced securities will not be
suitable for at least some customers. Thus, if our shares of common stock become speculative low-priced securities, the FINRA requirements make it
more difficult for broker-dealers to recommend that their customers buy our shares of common stock, which may limit your ability to buy and sell our
shares of common stock, have an adverse effect on the market for our shares of common stock, and thereby depress our price per share of common
stock. A Our shares of common stock have been thinly traded, and you may be unable to sell at or near ask prices or at all if you need to sell your
shares of common stock to raise money or otherwise desire to liquidate your shares. A Until December 28, 2021, our shares of common stock were
quoted on the OTCQB/QX where they were &€cethinly-tradeda€, meaning that the number of persons interested in purchasing our shares of common
stock at or near bid prices at any given time was relatively small or non-existent. Since we listed on Nasdaq on December 28, 2021, the volume of our
shares of common stock traded has increased, but that volume could decrease until we are thinly-traded again. That could occur due to a number of
factors, including that we are relatively unknown to stock analysts, stock brokers, institutional investors and others in the investment community that
generate or influence sales volume, and that even if we came to the attention of such persons, they tend to be risk-averse and might be reluctant to
follow an unproven company such as ours or purchase or recommend the purchase of our shares of common stock until such time as we became
more seasoned. As a consequence, there may be periods of several days or more when trading activity in our shares of common stock is minimal or
non-existent, as compared to a seasoned issuer which has a large and steady volume of trading activity that will generally support continuous sales
without an adverse effect on share price. Broad or active public trading market for our shares of common stock may not develop or be sustained. A A
Risks Related to the VIE Agreements A The PRC government may determine that the VIE Agreements are not in compliance with applicable PRC
laws, rules and regulations. A JiuGe Management manages and operates the mobile data business through JiuGe Technology pursuant to the rights
its holds under the VIE Agreements. Almost all economic benefits and risks arising from JiuGe Technologya€™s operations are transferred to JiuGe
Management under these agreements. A There are risks involved with the operation of our business in reliance on the VIE Agreements, including
the risk that the VIE Agreements may be determined by PRC regulators or courts to be unenforceable. Our PRC counsel has advised us that the VIE
Agreements are binding and enforceable under PRC law, but has further advised that if the VIE Agreements were for any reason determined to be in
breach of any existing or future PRC laws or regulations, the relevant regulatory authorities would have broad discretion in dealing with such breach,
including: A A a— 1mp051ng economic penalties; A A A A a— discontinuing or restricting the operations of JiuGe Technology or JiuGe
Management; A A A A 4— imposing conditions or requlrements in respect of the VIE Agreements with which JiuGe Technology or JiuGe
Management may not be able to comply; A A A A 4— requiring our company to restructure the relevant ownership structure or operations; A 56 A
A A a— taking other regulatory or enforcement actions that could adversely affect our companya€™s business; and A A A A 4— revoking the
business licenses and/or the licenses or certificates of JiuGe Management, and/or voiding the VIE Agreements. A Any of these actions could
adversely affect our ability to manage, operate and gain the financial benefits of JiuGe Technology, which would have a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, if the PRC government determines that the contractual arrangements
constituting part of our VIE structure do not comply with PRC regulations, or if regulations change or are interpreted differently in the future, we
may be unable to assert our contractual rights over the assets of our VIE, and our Common Shares may decline in value or become worthless. A Our
ability to manage and operate JiuGe Technology under the VIE Agreements may not be as effective as direct ownership. A We conduct our mobile
data business in the PRC and generate virtually all of our revenues through the VIE Agreements. Our plans for future growth are based substantially
on growing the operations of JiuGe Technology. However, the VIE Agreements may not be as effective in providing us with control over JiuGe
Technology as direct ownership. Under the current VIE arrangements, as a legal matter, if JiuGe Technology fails to perform its obligations under
these contractual arrangements, we may have to (i) incur substantial costs and resources to enforce such arrangements, and (ii) rely on legal
remedies under PRC law, which we cannot be sure would be effective. Therefore, if we are unable to effectively control JiuGe Technology, it may
have an adverse effect on our ability to achieve our business objectives and grow our revenues. A The VIE Agreements have never been challenged
or recognized in court for the time being, the PRC government may determine that the VIE Agreements are not in compliance with applicable PRC
laws, rules and regulations. A The VIE Agreements are governed by the PRC law and provide for the resolution of disputes through arbitral
proceedings pursuant to PRC law. If JiuGe Technology or its shareholders fail to perform the obligations under the VIE Agreements, we would be
required to resort to legal remedies available under PRC law, including seeking specific performance or injunctive relief, or claiming damages. We



cannot be sure that such remedies would provide us with effective means of causing JiuGe Technology to meet its obligations or recovering any losses
or damages as a result of non-performance. Further, the legal environment in China is not as developed as in other jurisdictions. Uncertainties in the
application of various laws, rules, regulations or policies in PRC legal system could limit our liability to enforce the VIE Agreements and protect our
interests. A A The payment arrangement under the VIE Agreements may be challenged by the PRC tax authorities. A We generate our revenues
through the payments we receive pursuant to the VIE Agreements. We could face adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax authorities determine that
the VIE Agreements were not entered into based on arma€™s length negotiations. For example, PRC tax authorities may adjust our income and
expenses for PRC tax purposes which could result in our being subject to higher tax liability or cause other adverse financial consequences. A
Shareholders of JiuGe Technology have potential conflicts of interest with our Company which may adversely affect our business. A Li Li is the legal
representative and general manager, and also a shareholder of JiuGe Technology. There could be conflicts that arise from time to time between our
interests and the interests of Ms. Li. There could also be conflicts that arise between us and JiuGe Technology that would require our shareholders
and JiuGe Technologya€™s shareholders to vote on corporate actions necessary to resolve the conflict. There can be no assurance in any such
circumstances that Ms. Li will vote her shares in our best interest or otherwise act in the best interests of our company. If Ms. Li fails to act in our
best interests, our operating performance and future growth could be adversely affected. A 57 A A We rely on the approval certificates and
business license held by JiuGe Management and any deterioration of the relationship between JiuGe Management and JiuGe Technology could
materially and adversely affect our business operations. A We operate our mobile data business in China on the basis of the approval certificates,
business license and other requisite licenses held by JiuGe Management and JiuGe Technology. There is no assurance that JiuGe Management and
JiuGe Technology will be able to renew their licenses or certificates when their terms expire with substantially similar terms as the ones they
currently hold. A Further, our relationship with JiuGe Technology is governed by the VIE Agreements that are intended to provide us with effective
control over the business operations of JiuGe Technology. However, the VIE Agreements may not be effective in providing control over the
application for and maintenance of the licenses required for our business operations. JiuGe Technology could violate the VIE Agreements, go
bankrupt, suffer from difficulties in its business or otherwise become unable to perform its obligations under the VIE Agreements and, as a result, our
operations, reputations and business could be severely harmed. A If JiuGe Management exercises the purchase option it holds over JiuGe
Technologya€™s share capital pursuant to the VIE Agreements, the payment of the purchase price could materially and adversely affect our financial
position. A Under the VIE Agreements, JiuGe Technologya€™s shareholders have granted JiuGe Management an option for the maximum period of
time permitted by law to purchase all of the equity interest in JiuGe Technology at a price equal to one dollar or the lowest applicable price allowable
by PRC laws and regulations. As JiuGe Technology is already our contractually controlled affiliate, JiuGe Managementa€™s exercising of the option
would not bring immediate benefits to our company, and payment of the purchase prices could adversely affect our financial position. A Risks
Related to Doing Business in China A Changes in China&€™s political or economic situation could harm us and our operating results. A Economic
reforms adopted by the Chinese government have had a positive effect on the economic development of the country, but the government could
change these economic reforms or any of the legal systems at any time. This could either benefit or damage our operatlons and profitability. Some of
the thmgs that could have this effect are: A A 4— Level of government involvement in the ' economy; A A A A a— Control of foreign exchange; A A
A A 4— Methods of allocating resources; A A A A 4— Balance of payments position; A A A A 4— International trade restrictions; and A A A A
a— International conflict. A The Chinese economy differs from the economies of most countries belonging to the Organization for Economic
Cooperation and Development (the 4€@OECDA€), in many ways. For example, state-owned enterprises still constitute a large portion of the Chinese
economy and weak corporate governance and a lack of flexible currency exchange policy still prevail in China. As a result of these differences, we
may not develop in the same way or at the same rate as might be expected if the Chinese economy was similar to those of the OECD member
countries. A 58 A A Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could limit the legal protections available to you and us. A We conduct
substantially all of our business through our operating subsidiary and affiliate in the PRC. Our principal operating subsidiary and affiliate, JiuGe
Management and JiuGe Technology, are subject to laws and regulations applicable to foreign investments in China and, in particular, laws applicable
to foreign-invested enterprises. The PRC legal system is based on written statutes, and prior court decisions may be cited for reference but have
limited precedential value. Since 1979, a series of new PRC laws and regulations have significantly enhanced the protections afforded to various
forms of foreign investments in China. However, since the PRC legal system continues to evolve rapidly, the interpretations of many laws, regulations
and rules are not always uniform and enforcement of these laws, regulations and rules involves uncertainties, which may limit legal protections
available to you and us. In addition, any litigation in China may be protracted and result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and
management attention. In addition, most of our executive officers and all of our directors are not residents of the United States, and substantially all
the assets of these persons are located outside the United States. As a result, it could be difficult for investors to effect service of process in the
United States or to enforce a judgment obtained in the United States against our Chinese operations, subsidiary and affiliate. A The current tensions
in international trade and rising political tensions, particularly between the United States and China, may adversely impact our business, financial
condition, and results of operations. A Recently there have been heightened tensions in international economic relations, such as the one between
the United States and China. Political tensions between the United States and China have escalated due to, among other things, trade disputes, the
COVID-19 outbreak, sanctions imposed by the U.S. Department of Treasury on certain officials of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and
the PRC central government and the executive orders issued by the U.S. government in November 2020 that prohibit certain transactions with
certain China-based companies and their respective subsidiaries. Rising political tensions could reduce levels of trade, investments, technological
exchanges, and other economic activities between the two major economies. Such tensions between the United States and China, and any escalation
thereof, may have a negative impact on the general, economic, political, and social conditions in China and, in turn, adversely impacting our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. Regulations were introduced which includes but not limited to Article 177 of the PRC Securities Law
which states that overseas securities regulatory authorities shall not carry out an investigation and evidence collection activities directly in China
without the consent of the securities regulatory authority of the State Council and the relevant State Council department(s). It further defines that no
organization or individual shall provide the documents and materials relating to securities business activities to overseas parties arbitrarily. With this
regulation in force, it may result in delays by the Company to fulfil any request to provide relevant documents or materials by the regulatory
authorities or in the worst-case scenario that the Company would not be able to fulfil the request if the approval from the regulatory authority of the
State Council and the relevant State Council department(s) were rejected. A A You may have difficulty enforcing judgments against us. A We are a
Delaware holding company, but Finger Motion (CN) Limited is a Hong Kong company, and our principal operating affiliate and subsidiary, JiuGe
Technology and JiuGe Management, are located in the PRC. Most of our assets are located outside the United States and most of our current
operations are conducted in the PRC. In addition, all of our directors and officers are nationals and residents of countries other than the United
States. A substantial portion of the assets of these persons is located outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for you to effect service
of process within the United States upon these persons. It may also be difficult for you to enforce in U.S. courts judgments predicated on the civil
liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws against us and our officers and directors, all of whom are not residents in the United States and
the substantial majority of whose assets are located outside the United States. In addition, there is uncertainty as to whether the courts of the PRC
would recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts. The recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments are provided for under the PRC Civil
Procedures Law. Courts in China may recognize and enforce foreign judgments in accordance with the requirements of the PRC Civil Procedures Law
based on treaties between China and the country where the judgment is made or on reciprocity between jurisdictions. China does not have any
treaties or other arrangements that provide for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments with the United States. In addition,
according to the PRC Civil Procedures Law, courts in the PRC will not enforce a foreign judgment against us or our directors and officers if they
decide that the judgment violates basic principles of PRC law or national sovereignty, security or the public interest. Therefore, it is uncertain
whether a PRC court would enforce a judgment rendered by a court in the United States. A 59 A A The PRC government exerts substantial
influence over the manner in which we must conduct our business activities. A The PRC government has exercised and continues to exercise
substantial control over virtually every sector of the Chinese economy through regulation and state ownership. Our ability to operate in China may be
harmed by changes in its laws and regulations, including those relating to taxation, import and export tariffs, environmental regulations, land use
rights, property and other matters. We believe that our operations in China are in material compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory
requirements. However, the central or local governments of the jurisdictions in which we operate may impose new, stricter regulations or
interpretations of existing regulations that would require additional expenditures and efforts on our part to ensure our compliance with such
regulations or interpretations. A Accordingly, government actions in the future, including any decision not to continue to support recent economic
reforms and to return to a more centrally planned economy or regional or local variations in the implementation of economic policies, could have a
significant effect on economic conditions in China or particular regions thereof and could require us to divest ourselves of any interest we then hold
in Chinese properties or joint ventures. A The PRC government may exert more oversight and control over offerings that are conducted overseas
and/or foreign investment in China-based issuers. A Recent statements by the PRC government indicate an intent to take actions to exert more
oversight and control over offerings that are conducted overseas and/or foreign investment in China-based issuers. On February 17, 2023, the CSRC
promulgated Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies (the &€eOverseas Listing Trial
Measuresa€) and five relevant guidelines, which became effective on March 31, 2023. The Overseas Listing Trial Measures regulate both direct and
indirect overseas offering and listing of PRC domestic companiesa€™ securities by adopting a filing-based regulatory regime. According to the
Overseas Listing Trial Measures, if the issuer meets both the following conditions, the overseas securities offering and listing conducted by such
issuer will be determined as indirect overseas offering, which shall be subject to the filing procedure set forth under the Overseas Listing Trial



Measures: (i) 50% or more of the issuera€™s operating revenue, total profit, total assets or net assets as documented in its audited consolidated
financial statements for the most recent accounting year is accounted for by domestic companies; and (ii) the main parts of the issuera€™s business
activities are conducted in mainland China, or its main places of business are located in mainland China, or the senior managers in charge of its
business operations and management are mostly Chinese citizens or domiciled in mainland China. Where an abovementioned issuer submits an
application for an initial public offering to competent overseas regulators, such issuer shall file with the CSRC within three business days after such
application is submitted. Where a domestic company fails to fulfil filing procedure or in violation of the provisions as stipulated above, in respect of
its overseas offering and listing, the CSRC shall order rectification, issue warnings to such domestic company, and impose a fine ranging from
RMB1,000,000 to RMB10,000,000. Also the directly liable persons and actual controllers of the domestic company that organize or instruct the
aforementioned violations shall be warned and/or imposed fines. A Also on February 17, 2023, the CSRC also held a press conference for the release
of the Overseas Listing Trial Measures and issued the Notice on Administration for the Filing of Overseas Offering and Listing by Domestic
Companies, which, among others, clarifies that the domestic companies that have already been listed overseas on or before the effective date of the
Overseas Listing Trial Measures (March 31, 2023) shall be deemed as &€cestock enterprisesa€. Stock enterprises are not required to complete the
filling procedures immediately, and they shall be required to file with the CSRC when subsequent matters such as refinancing are involved. A A If we
offer new securities in the future, we will be required to file with the CSRC, which could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer or
continue to offer securities to investors and could cause the value of our securities to significantly decline or be worthless. A 60 A A Future inflation
in China may inhibit our ability to conduct business in China. A In recent years, the Chinese economy has experienced periods of rapid expansion
and highly fluctuating rates of inflation. During the past ten years, the rate of inflation in China has been as high as 4.5% and as low as 0.2%. These
factors have led to the adoption by the Chinese government, from time to time, of various corrective measures designed to restrict the availability of
credit or regulate growth and contain inflation. High inflation may in the future cause the Chinese government to impose controls on credit and/or
prices, or to take other action, which could inhibit economic activity in China, and thereby harm the market for our products and our company. A
Capital outflow policies in the PRC may hamper our ability to remit income to the United States. A The PRC has adopted currency and capital
transfer regulations. These regulations may require that we comply with complex regulations for the movement of capital and as a result we may not
be able to remit all income earned and proceeds received in connection with our operations or from the sale of one of our operating subsidiaries to
the U.S. or to our shareholders. A Adverse regulatory developments in China may subject us to additional regulatory review, and additional
disclosure requirements and regulatory scrutiny to be adopted by the SEC in response to risks related to recent regulatory developments in China
may impose additional compliance requirements for companies like us with significant China-based operations, all of which could increase our
compliance costs, subject us to additional disclosure requirements. A The recent regulatory developments in China, in particular with respect to
restrictions on China-based companies raising capital offshore, may lead to additional regulatory review in China over our financing and capital
raising activities in the United States. In addition, we may be subject to industry-wide regulations that may be adopted by the relevant PRC
authorities, which may have the effect of limiting our service offerings, restricting the scope of our operations in China, or causing the suspension or
termination of our business operations in China entirely, all of which will materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations. We may have to adjust, modify, or completely change our business operations in response to adverse regulatory changes or policy
developments, and we cannot assure you that any remedial action adopted by us can be completed in a timely, cost-efficient, or liability-free manner
or at all. A On July 30, 2021, in response to the recent regulatory developments in China and actions adopted by the PRC government, the Chairman
of the SEC issued a statement asking the SEC staff to seek additional disclosures from offshore issuers associated with China-based operating
companies before their registration statements will be declared effective. On August 1, 2021, the CSRC stated in a statement that it had taken note of
the new disclosure requirements announced by the SEC regarding the listings of Chinese companies and the recent regulatory development in China,
and that both countries should strengthen communications on regulating China-related issuers. We cannot guarantee that we will not be subject to
tightened regulatory review and we could be exposed to government interference in China. A Compliance with Chinad€™s new Data Security Law,
Measures on Cybersecurity Review (revised draft for public consultation), Personal Information Protection Law (second draft for consultation),
regulations and guidelines relating to the multi-level protection scheme and any other future laws and regulations may entail significant expenses
and could materially affect our business. A China has implemented or will implement rules and is considering a number of additional proposals
relating to data protection. Chinaa€™s new Data Security Law promulgated by the Standing Committee of the National Peoplea€™s Congress of
China in June 2021, or the Data Security Law, took effect in September 2021. The Data Security Law provides that the data processing activities
must be conducted based on &€cedata classification and hierarchical protection systeméa€ for the purpose of data protection and prohibits entities in
China from transferring data stored in China to foreign law enforcement agencies or judicial authorities without prior approval by the Chinese
government. As a result of the new Data Security Law, we may need to make adjustments to our data processing practices to comply with this law.
A A Additionally, Chinad€™s Cyber Security Law, requires companies to take certain organizational, technical and administrative measures and
other necessary measures to ensure the security of their networks and data stored on their networks. Specifically, the Cyber Security Law provides
that China adopt a multi-level protection scheme (MLPS), under which network operators are required to perform obligations of security protection
to ensure that the network is free from interference, disruption or unauthorized access, and prevent network data from being disclosed, stolen or
tampered. Under the MLPS, entities operating information systems must have a thorough assessment of the risks and the conditions of their
information and network systems to determine the level to which the entitya€™s information and network systems belong-from the lowest Level 1 to
the highest Level 5 pursuant to the Measures for the Graded Protection and the Guidelines for Grading of Classified Protection of Cyber Security. The
grading result will determine the set of security protection obligations that entities must comply with. Entities classified as Level 2 or above should
report the grade to the relevant government authority for examination and approval. A 61 A A Recently, the Cyberspace Administration of China
(the 4€eCACa€) has taken action against several Chinese internet companies in connection with their initial public offerings on U.S. securities
exchanges, for alleged national security risks and improper collection and use of the personal information of Chinese data subjects. According to the
official announcement, the action was initiated based on the National Security Law, the Cyber Security Law and the Measures on Cybersecurity
Review, which are aimed at a€cepreventing national data security risks, maintaining national security and safeguarding public interests.&€ On July
10, 2021, the CAC published a revised draft of the Measures on Cybersecurity Review, expanding the cybersecurity review to data processing
operators in possession of personal information of over 1 million users if the operators intend to list their securities in a foreign country. A It is
unclear at the present time how widespread the cybersecurity review requirement and the enforcement action will be and what effect they will have
on the telecommunications sector generally and the Company in particular. Chinaa€™s regulators may impose penalties for non-compliance ranging
from fines or suspension of operations, and this could lead to us delisting from the U.S. stock market. A Also, on November 20, 2021, the National
Peoplea€™s Congress passed the Personal Information Protection Law, which was implemented on November 1, 2021. The law creates a
comprehensive set of data privacy and protection requirements that apply to the processing of personal information and expands data protection
compliance obligations to cover the processing of personal information of persons by organizations and individuals in China, and the processing of
personal information of persons in China outside of China if such processing is for purposes of providing products and services to, or analyzing and
evaluating the behavior of, persons in China. The law also proposes that critical information infrastructure operators and personal information
processing entities who process personal information meeting a volume threshold to-be-set by Chinese cyberspace regulators are also required to
store in China personal information generated or collected in China, and to pass a security assessment administered by Chinese cyberspace
regulators for any export of such personal information. Lastly, the draft contains proposals for significant fines for serious violations of up to RMB 50
million or 5% of annual revenues from the prior year. A Interpretation, application and enforcement of these laws, rules and regulations evolve from
time to time and their scope may continually change, through new legislation, amendments to existing legislation and changes in enforcement.
Compliance with the Cyber Security Law and the Data Security Law could significantly increase the cost to us of providing our service offerings,
require significant changes to our operations or even prevent us from providing certain service offerings in jurisdictions in which we currently
operate or in which we may operate in the future. Despite our efforts to comply with applicable laws, regulations and other obligations relating to
privacy, data protection and information security, it is possible that our practices, offerings or platform could fail to meet all of the requirements
imposed on us by the Cyber Security Law, the Data Security Law and/or related implementing regulations. Any failure on our part to comply with
such law or regulations or any other obligations relating to privacy, data protection or information security, or any compromise of security that
results in unauthorized access, use or release of personally identifiable information or other data, or the perception or allegation that any of the
foregoing types of failure or compromise has occurred, could damage our reputation, discourage new and existing counterparties from contracting
with us or result in investigations, fines, suspension or other penalties by Chinese government authorities and private claims or litigation, any of
which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if our practices are not subject to legal
challenge, the perception of privacy concerns, whether or not valid, may harm our reputation and brand and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Moreover, the legal uncertainty created by the Data Security Law and the recent Chinese government actions
could materially adversely affect our ability, on favorable terms, to raise capital, including engaging in follow-on offerings of our securities in the U.S.
market. A 62 A A Restrictions on currency exchange may limit our ability to receive and use our revenues effectively. A The majority of our
revenues will be settled in Chinese Renminbi (RMB), and any future restrictions on currency exchanges may limit our ability to use revenue
generated in RMB to fund any future business activities outside China or to make dividend or other payments in U.S. dollars. Although the Chinese
government introduced regulations in 1996 to allow greater convertibility of the RMB for current account transactions, significant restrictions still
remain, including primarily the restriction that foreign-invested enterprises may only buy, sell or remit foreign currencies after providing valid



commercial documents, at those banks in China authorized to conduct foreign exchange business. In addition, conversion of RMB for capital account
items, including direct investment and loans, is subject to governmental approval in China, and companies are required to open and maintain
separate foreign exchange accounts for capital account items. We cannot be certain that the Chinese regulatory authorities will not impose more
stringent restrictions on the convertibility of the RMB. A Fluctuations in exchange rates could adversely affect our business and the value of our
securities. A The value of our common stock will be indirectly affected by the foreign exchange rate between U.S. dollars and RMB and between
those currencies and other currencies in which our sales may be denominated. Appreciation or depreciation in the value of the RMB relative to the
U.S. dollar would affect our financial results reported in U.S. dollar terms without giving effect to any underlying change in our business or results of
operations. Fluctuations in the exchange rate will also affect the relative value of any dividend we issue that will be exchanged into U.S. dollars as
well as earnings from, and the value of, any U.S. dollar-denominated investments we make in the future. A Since July 2005, the RMB is no longer
pegged to the U.S. dollar. Although the Peoplea€™ s Bank of China regularly intervenes in the foreign exchange market to prevent significant short-
term fluctuations in the exchange rate, the RMB may appreciate or depreciate significantly in value against the U.S. dollar in the medium to long
term. Moreover, it is possible that in the future PRC authorities may lift restrictions on fluctuations in the RMB exchange rate and lessen intervention
in the foreign exchange market. A Very limited hedging transactions are available in China to reduce our exposure to exchange rate fluctuations. To
date, we have not entered into any hedging transactions. While we may enter into hedging transactions in the future, the availability and
effectiveness of these transactions may be limited, and we may not be able to successfully hedge our exposure at all. In addition, our foreign currency
exchange losses may be magnified by PRC exchange control regulations that restrict our ability to convert RMB into foreign currencies. A
Restrictions under PRC law on our PRC subsidiarya€™s ability to make dividends and other distributions could materially and adversely affect our
ability to grow, make investments or acquisitions that could benefit our business, pay dividends to our shareholders, and otherwise fund and conduct
our businesses. A Substantially all of our revenue is earned by JiuGe Management, our PRC subsidiary. PRC regulations restrict the ability of our
PRC subsidiary to make dividends and other payments to its offshore parent company. PRC legal restrictions permit payments of dividends by our
PRC subsidiary only out of its accumulated after-tax profits, if any, determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. Our
PRC subsidiary is also required under PRC laws and regulations to allocate at least 10% of our annual after-tax profits determined in accordance with
PRC GAAP to a statutory general reserve fund until the amounts in said fund reaches 50% of our registered capital. Allocations to these statutory
reserve funds can only be used for specific purposes and are not transferable to us in the form of loans, advances or cash dividends. Any limitations
on the ability of our PRC subsidiary to transfer funds to us could materially and adversely limit our ability to grow, make investments or acquisitions
that could be beneficial to our business, pay dividends and otherwise fund and conduct our business. A PRC regulation of loans and direct
investment by offshore holding companies to PRC entities may delay or prevent us from making loans or additional capital contributions to our PRC
subsidiary and affiliated entities, which could harm our liquidity and our ability to fund and expand our business. A As an offshore holding company
of our PRC subsidiary, we may (i) make loans to our PRC subsidiary and affiliated entities, (ii) make additional capital contributions to our PRC
subsidiary, (iii) establish new PRC subsidiaries and make capital contributions to these new PRC subsidiaries, and (iv) acquire offshore entities with
business operations in China in an offshore transaction. However, most of these uses are subject to PRC regulations and approvals. For example: A
63 A A A 4— loans by us to our wholly-owned subsidiary in China, which is a foreign-invested enterprise, cannot exceed statutory limits and must be
registered with the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC (the 4€0eSAFEA€) or its local counterparts; AA A 4— loans by us to our
affiliated entities, which are domestic PRC entities, over a certain threshold must be approved by the relevant government authorities and must also
be registered with the SAFE or its local counterparts; and A A 4— capital contributions to our wholly-owned subsidiary must file a record with the
PRC Ministry of Commerce (64€ceMOFCOMAa€) or its local counterparts and shall also be limited to the difference between the registered capital and
the total investment amount. A We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain these government registrations or filings on a timely basis, or at
all. If we fail to finish such registrations or filings, our ability to capitalize our PRC subsidiarya€™s operations may be adversely affected, which could
adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to fund and expand our business. A On March 30, 2015, the SAFE promulgated a notice relating to the
administration of foreign invested company of its capital contribution in foreign currency into RMB (Hui Fa [2015]19) (&€ceCircular 19a€). Although
Circular 19 has fastened the administration relating to the settlement of exchange of foreign-investment, allows the foreign-invested company to
settle the exchange on a voluntary basis, it still requires that the bank review the authenticity and compliance of a foreign-invested companya€™s
settlement of exchange in previous time, and the settled in RMB converted from foreign currencies shall deposit on the foreign exchange settlement
account, and shall not be used for several purposes as listed in the 4€cenegative lista€. As a result, the notice may limit our ability to transfer funds to
our operations in China through our PRC subsidiary, which may affect our ability to expand our business. Meanwhile, the foreign exchange policy is
unpredictable in China, it shall be various with the nationwide economic pattern, the strict foreign exchange policy may have an adverse impact in
our capital cash and may limit our business expansion. A Failure to comply with PRC regulations relating to the establishment of offshore special
purpose companies by PRC residents may subject our PRC resident shareholders to personal liability, limit our ability to acquire PRC companies or to
inject capital into our PRC subsidiary or affiliate, limit our PRC subsidiarya€™s and affiliatea€™ s ability to distribute profits to us or otherwise
materially adversely affect us. A In October 2005, the SAFE, issued the Notice on Relevant Issues in the Foreign Exchange Control over Financing
and Return Investment Through Special Purpose Companies by Residents Inside China, generally referred to as Circular 75, which required PRC
residents to register with the competent local SAFE branch before establishing or acquiring control over an offshore special purpose company
(&€eSPVa€), for the purpose of engaging in an equity financing outside of China on the strength of domestic PRC assets originally held by those
residents. Internal implementing guidelines issued by the SAFE, which became public in June 2007 (a€ceNotice 106a€), expanded the reach of
Circular 75 by (1) purporting to cover the establishment or acquisition of control by PRC residents of offshore entities which merely acquire
d€mecontrola€ over domestic companies or assets, even in the absence of legal ownership; (2) adding requirements relating to the source of the PRC
residenta€™ s funds used to establish or acquire the offshore entity; covering the use of existing offshore entities for offshore financings; (3)
purporting to cover situations in which an offshore SPV establishes a new subsidiary in China or acquires an unrelated company or unrelated assets
in China; and (4) making the domestic affiliate of the SPV responsible for the accuracy of certain documents which must be filed in connection with
any such registration, notably, the business plan which describes the overseas financing and the use of proceeds. Amendments to registrations made
under Circular 75 are required in connection with any increase or decrease of capital, transfer of shares, mergers and acquisitions, equity investment
or creation of any security interest in any assets located in China to guarantee offshore obligations and Notice 106 makes the offshore SPV jointly
responsible for these filings. In the case of an SPV which was established, and which acquired a related domestic company or assets, before the
implementation date of Circular 75, a retroactive SAFE registration was required to have been completed before March 30, 2006; this date was
subsequently extended indefinitely by Notice 106, which also required that the registrant establish that all foreign exchange transactions undertaken
by the SPV and its affiliates were in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Failure to comply with the requirements of Circular 75, as
applied by the SAFE in accordance with Notice 106, may result in fines and other penalties under PRC laws for evasion of applicable foreign
exchange restrictions. Any such failure could also result in the SPVa€™s affiliates being impeded or prevented from distributing their profits and the
proceeds from any reduction in capital, share transfer or liquidation to the SPV, or from engaging in other transfers of funds into or out of China. A
64 A A We have advised our shareholders who are PRC residents, as defined in Circular 75, to register with the relevant branch of SAFE, as
currently required, in connection with their equity interests in us and our acquisitions of equity interests in our PRC subsidiary and affiliate.
However, we cannot provide any assurances that their existing registrations have fully complied with, and they have made all necessary amendments
to their registration to fully comply with, all applicable registrations or approvals required by Circular 75. Moreover, because of uncertainty over how
Circular 75 will be interpreted and implemented, and how or whether the SAFE will apply it to us, we cannot predict how it will affect our business
operations or future strategies. For example, our present and prospective PRC subsidiarya€™s and affiliatea€™ s ability to conduct foreign exchange
activities, such as the remittance of dividends and foreign currency-denominated borrowings, may be subject to compliance with Circular 75 by our
PRC resident beneficial holders. In addition, such PRC residents may not always be able to complete the necessary registration procedures required
by Circular 75. We also have little control over either our present or prospective direct or indirect shareholders or the outcome of such registration
procedures. A failure by our PRC resident beneficial holders or future PRC resident shareholders to comply with Circular 75, if the SAFE requires it,
could subject these PRC resident beneficial holders to fines or legal sanctions, restrict our overseas or cross-border investment activities, limit our
subsidiarya€™s and affiliatea€™s ability to make distributions or pay dividends or affect our ownership structure, which could adversely affect our
business and prospects. A A We may be subject to fines and legal sanctions by the SAFE or other PRC government authorities if we or our employees
who are PRC citizens fail to comply with PRC regulations relating to employee stock options granted by offshore listed companies to PRC citizens. A
On March 28, 2007, the SAFE promulgated the Operating Procedures for Foreign Exchange Administration of Domestic Individuals Participating in
Employee Stock Ownership Plans and Stock Option Plans of Offshore Listed Companies (&€ceCircular 78a€). Under Circular 78, Chinese citizens who
are granted share options by an offshore listed company are required, through a Chinese agent or Chinese subsidiary of the offshore listed company,
to register with SAFE and complete certain other procedures, including applications for foreign exchange purchase quotas and opening special bank
accounts. We and our Chinese employees who have been granted share options are subject to Circular 78. Failure to comply with these regulations
may subject us or our Chinese employees to fines and legal sanctions imposed by the SAFE or other PRC government authorities and may prevent us
from further granting options under our share incentive plans to our employees. Such events could adversely affect our business operations. A Under
the New EIT Law, we may be classified as a a€ceresident enterprisea€ of China. Such classification will likely result in unfavorable tax consequences
to us and our non-PRC shareholders. A Under the New EIT Law effective on January 1, 2008, an enterprise established outside China with 4€cede
facto management bodiesa€ within China is considered a &€ceresident enterprise,a€ meaning that it can be treated in a manner similar to a Chinese



enterprise for enterprise income tax purposes. The implementing rules of the New EIT Law define de facto management as a€cesubstantial and
overall management and control over the production and operations, personnel, accounting, and propertiesa€ of the enterprise. A On April 22, 2009,
the State Administration of Taxation issued the Notice Concerning Relevant Issues Regarding Cognizance of Chinese Investment Controlled
Enterprises Incorporated Offshore as Resident Enterprises pursuant to Criteria of de facto Management Bodies (the a€ceNoticea€), further
interpreting the application of the New EIT Law and its implementation non-Chinese enterprise or group controlled offshore entities. Pursuant to the
Notice, an enterprise incorporated in an offshore jurisdiction and controlled by a Chinese enterprise or group will be classified as a 4€cenon-
domestically incorporated resident enterprisea€ if (i) its senior management in charge of daily operations reside or perform their duties mainly in
China; (ii) its financial or personnel decisions are made or approved by bodies or persons in China; (iii) its substantial assets and properties,
accounting books, corporate chops, board and shareholder minutes are kept in China; and (iv) at least half of its directors with voting rights or senior
management often resident in China. A resident enterprise would be subject to an enterprise income tax rate of 25% on its worldwide income and
must pay a withholding tax at a rate of 10% when paying dividends to its non-PRC shareholders. However, it remains unclear as to whether the
Notice is applicable to an offshore enterprise incorporated by a Chinese natural person. Nor are detailed measures on imposition of tax from non-
domestically incorporated resident enterprises are available. Therefore, it is unclear how tax authorities will determine tax residency based on the
facts of each case. A 65 A A Given the above conditions, although unlikely, we may be deemed to be a resident enterprise by Chinese tax
authorities. If the PRC tax authorities determine that we are a a€ceresident enterprisea€ for PRC enterprise income tax purposes, a number of
unfavorable PRC tax consequences could follow. First, we may be subject to the enterprise income tax at a rate of 25% on our worldwide taxable
income as well as PRC enterprise income tax reporting obligations. In our case, this would mean that income such as interest on financing proceeds
and non-China source income would be subject to PRC enterprise income tax at a rate of 25%. Second, although under the New EIT Law and its
implementing rules dividends paid to us from our PRC subsidiary would qualify as a€cetax-exempt income,a€ we cannot guarantee that such
dividends will not be subject to a 10% withholding tax, as the PRC foreign exchange control authorities, which enforce the withholding tax, have not
yet issued guidance with respect to the processing of outbound remittances to entities that are treated as resident enterprises for PRC enterprise
income tax purposes. Finally, it is possible that future guidance issued with respect to the new a€ceresident enterprisea€ classification could result in
a situation in which a 10% withholding tax is imposed on dividends we pay to our non-PRC shareholders and with respect to gains derived by our non-
PRC shareholders from transferring our shares. We are actively monitoring the possibility of A€ceresident enterprisea€ treatment. A If we were
treated as a a€ceresident enterprisea€ by PRC tax authorities, we would be subject to taxation in both the U.S. and China, and our PRC tax may not
be creditable against our U.S. tax. AA We may be exposed to liabilities under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the 4€eFCPA&€) and Chinese anti-
corruption laws, and any determination that we violated these laws could have a material adverse effect on our business. A We are subject to the
FCPA and other laws that prohibit improper payments or offers of payments to foreign governments and their officials and political parties by U.S.
persons and issuers as defined by the statute, for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. We have operations, agreements with third parties
and we earn the majority of our revenue in China. PRC also strictly prohibits bribery of government officials. Our activities in China create the risk of
unauthorized payments or offers of payments by our executive officers, employees, consultants, sales agents or other representatives of our
Company, even though they may not always be subject to our control. It is our policy to implement safeguards to discourage these practices by our
employees. However, our existing safeguards and any future improvements may prove to be less than effective, and the executive officers,
employees, consultants, sales agents or other representatives of our Company may engage in conduct for which we might be held responsible.
Violations of the FCPA or Chinese anti-corruption laws may result in severe criminal or civil sanctions, and we may be subject to other liabilities,
which could negatively affect our business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, the U.S. government may seek to hold our Company
liable for successor liability FCPA violations committed by companies in which we invest or that we acquire. A Because our business is located in the
PRC, we may have difficulty establishing adequate management, legal and financial controls, which we are required to do in order to comply with
U.S. securities laws. A PRC companies have historically not adopted a Western style of management and financial reporting concepts and practices,
which includes strong corporate governance, internal controls and computer, financial and other control systems. Some of our staff is not educated
and trained in the Western system, and we may have difficulty hiring new employees in the PRC with such training. As a result of these factors, we
may experience difficulty in establishing management, legal and financial controls, collecting financial data and preparing financial statements,
books of account and corporate records and instituting business practices that meet Western standards. Therefore, we may, in turn, experience
difficulties in implementing and maintaining adequate internal controls as required under Section 404 of the SOA. This may result in significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses in our internal controls, which could impact the reliability of our financial statements and prevent us from
complying with Commission rules and regulations and the requirements of the SOA. Any such deficiencies, weaknesses or lack of compliance could
have a materially adverse effect on our business. A 66 A A The disclosures in our reports and other filings with the SEC and our other public
announcements are not subject to the scrutiny of any regulatory bodies in the PRC. Accordingly, our public disclosure should be reviewed in light of
the fact that no governmental agency that is located in the PRC, where part of our operations and business are located, has conducted any due
diligence on our operations or reviewed or cleared any of our disclosure. A We are regulated by the SEC and our reports and other filings with the
SEC are subject to SEC review in accordance with the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act.
Unlike public reporting companies whose operations are located primarily in the United States, however, substantially all of our operations are
located in the PRC and Hong Kong. Since substantially all of our operations and business takes place outside of United States, it may be more
difficult for the staff of the SEC to overcome the geographic and cultural obstacles that are present when reviewing our disclosure. These same
obstacles are not present for similar companies whose operations or business take place entirely or primarily in the United States. Furthermore, our
SEC reports and other disclosure and public announcements are not subject to the review or scrutiny of any PRC regulatory authority. For example,
the disclosure in our SEC reports and other filings are not subject to the review of the CSRC. Accordingly, you should review our SEC reports, filings
and our other public announcements with the understanding that no local regulator has done any due diligence on our Company and with the
understanding that none of our SEC reports, other filings or any of our other public announcements has been reviewed or otherwise been scrutinized
by any local regulator. A Certain PRC regulations, including those relating to mergers and acquisitions and national security, may require a
complicated review and approval process which could make it more difficult for us to pursue growth through acquisitions in China. A The
Regulations on Mergers and Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investors (the &€eM&A Rulesa€), which became effective in September
2006 and were further amended in June 2009, requires that if an overseas company is established or controlled by PRC domestic companies or
citizens intends to acquire equity interests or assets of any other PRC domestic company affiliated with the PRC domestic companies or citizens, such
acquisition must be submitted to the MOFCOM, rather than local regulators, for approval. In addition, the M&A Rules requires that an overseas
company controlled directly or indirectly by PRC companies or citizens and holding equity interests of PRC domestic companies needs to obtain the
approval of the China Securities Regulatory Commission, or CSRC, prior to listing its securities on an overseas stock exchange. On September 21,
2006, the CSRC published a notice on its official website specifying the documents and materials required to be submitted by overseas special
purpose companies seeking the CSRCA€™ s approval of their overseas listings. A The M&A Rules established additional procedures and
requirements that could make merger and acquisition activities in China by foreign investors more time-consuming and complex. For example, the
MOFCOM must be notified in the event a foreign investor takes control of a PRC domestic enterprise. In addition, certain acquisitions of domestic
companies by offshore companies that are related to or affiliated with the same entities or individuals of the domestic companies, are subject to
approval by the MOFCOM. In addition, the Implementing Rules Concerning Security Review on Mergers and Acquisitions by Foreign Investors of
Domestic Enterprises, issued by the MOFCOM in November 2011, require that mergers and acquisitions by foreign investors in a€ceany industry
with national security concernsa€ be subject to national security review by the MOFCOM. In addition, any activities attempting to circumvent such
review process, including structuring the transaction through a proxy or contractual control arrangement, are strictly prohibited. A There is
significant uncertainty regarding the interpretation and implementation of these regulations relating to merger and acquisition activities in China. In
addition, complying with these requirements could be time-consuming, and the required notification, review or approval process may materially delay
or affect our ability to complete merger and acquisition transactions in China. As a result, our ability to seek growth through acquisitions may be
materially and adversely affected. In addition, if the MOFCOM determines that we should have obtained its approval for our entry into contractual
arrangements with our affiliated entities, we may be required to file for remedial approvals. There is no assurance that we would be able to obtain
such approval from the MOFCOM. A A 67 A A If the MOFCOM, the CSRC and/or other PRC regulatory agencies subsequently determine that the
approvals from the MOFCOM and/or CSRC and/or other PRC regulatory agencies were required, our PRC business could be challenged, and we may
need to apply for a remedial approval and may be subject to certain administrative punishments or other sanctions from PRC regulatory agencies.
The regulatory agencies may impose fines and penalties on our operations in the PRC, limit our operating privileges in the PRC, delay or restrict the
conversion and remittance of our funds in foreign currencies into the PRC, or take other actions that could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations, reputation and prospects, as well as the trading price of our common stock. A As substantially all
of our operations are conducted through the VIE in China, our ability to pay dividends is primarily dependent on receiving distributions of funds from
the VIE. However, the PRC government might exert more oversight and control over offerings that are conducted overseas and/or foreign investment
in China-based issuers, which would likely result in a material change in our operations, even significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to
offer or continue to offer securities or dividends to investors, and the value of our common stock may depreciate significantly or become worthless. A
On July 6, 2021, the General Office of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and the General Office of the State Council jointly
issued the Opinions on Strictly Cracking Down on Illegal Securities Activities in Accordance with the Law (the 4€ceCracking Down on Illegal



Securities Activities Opinionsa€). The Cracking Down on Illegal Securities Activities Opinions emphasized the need to strengthen the administration
over illegal securities activities and the supervision over overseas listings by China-based companies, and proposed to take measures, including
promoting the construction of relevant regulatory systems to control the risks and deal with the incidents faced by China-based overseas-listed
companies. A A In addition, on December 24, 2021, the CSRC issued the draft Administration Provisions of the State Council on the Administration
of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies (the d€ceDraft Administration Provisionsa€) and the draft Administrative
Measures for the Filing of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies (the &€ceDraft Administrative Measuresa€), for public
comments. The Draft Administration Provisions and the Draft Administrative Measures regulate overseas securities offering and listing by domestic
companies in direct or indirect form. The Draft Administration Provisions specify the responsibilities of the CSRC to regulate the activities of
overseas securities offering and listing by domestic companies and establish a filing-based regime. As a supporting measure to the Draft
Administration Provisions, the Draft Administrative Measures, detail the determination criteria for indirect overseas listing in overseas markets.
Specifically, an offering and listing shall be considered as an indirect overseas offering and listing by a domestic company if the issuer meets the
following conditions: (i) the operating income, gross profit, total assets, or net assets of the domestic enterprise in the most recent fiscal year was
more than 50% of the relevant line item in the issuera€™s audited consolidated financial statement for that year; and (ii) senior management
personnel responsible for business operations and management are mostly PRC citizens or are ordinarily resident in the PRC, or the main place of
business is in the PRC or carried out in the PRC. In accordance with the Draft Administrative Measures, the issuer or its designated material
domestic company, shall file with the CSRC and report the relevant information for its initial public offering. A On February 17, 2023, the CSRC
promulgated the Overseas Listing Trial Measures and five relevant guidelines, which became effective on March 31, 2023. The Overseas Listing Trial
Measures regulate both direct and indirect overseas offering and listing of PRC domestic companiesa€™ securities by adopting a filing-based
regulatory regime. According to the Overseas Listing Trial Measures, if the issuer meets both the following conditions, the overseas securities
offering and listing conducted by such issuer will be determined as indirect overseas offering, which shall be subject to the filing procedure set forth
under the Overseas Listing Trial Measures: (i) 50% or more of the issuera€™s operating revenue, total profit, total assets or net assets as
documented in its audited consolidated financial statements for the most recent accounting year is accounted for by domestic companies; and (ii) the
main parts of the issuera€™s business activities are conducted in mainland China, or its main places of business are located in mainland China, or
the senior managers in charge of its business operations and management are mostly Chinese citizens or domiciled in mainland China. Where an
abovementioned issuer submits an application for an initial public offering to competent overseas regulators, such issuer shall file with the CSRC
within three business days after such application is submitted. Where a domestic company fails to fulfil filing procedure or in violation of the
provisions as stipulated above, in respect of its overseas offering and listing, the CSRC shall order rectification, issue warnings to such domestic
company, and impose a fine ranging from RMB1,000,000 to RMB10,000,000. Also the directly liable persons and actual controllers of the domestic
company that organize or instruct the aforementioned violations shall be warned and/or imposed fines. A 68 A A Also on February 17, 2023, the
CSRC also held a press conference for the release of the Overseas Listing Trial Measures and issued the Notice on Administration for the Filing of
Overseas Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies, which, among others, clarifies that the domestic companies that have already been listed
overseas on or before the effective date of the Overseas Listing Trial Measures (March 31, 2023) shall be deemed as a€cestock enterprisesa€. Stock
enterprises are not required to complete the filling procedures immediately, and they shall be required to file with the CSRC when subsequent
matters such as refinancing are involved. A Due to the Overseas Listing Trial Measures, we will be required to file with the CSRC with respect to an
offering of new securities, which may subject us to additional compliance requirements in the future and we cannot assure you that we will be able to
get the clearance from the CSRC for any offering of new securities on a timely manner. Any failure of us to comply with the new Overseas Listing
Trial Measures may significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer our securities, cause significant disruption to our
business operations, and severely damage our reputation. A Furthermore, it is uncertain when and whether we will be able to obtain permission or
approval from the CSRC or the PRC government to offer securities to list on U.S. exchanges or the execution of a VIE Agreement in the future.
However, our operations are conducted through the VIE in PRC, and our ability to pay dividends is primarily dependent on receiving distributions of
funds from the VIE, if we do not obtain or maintain any of the permissions or approvals which may be required in the future by the PRC government
for the operation of the VIE or the execution of VIE Agreements, our operations and financial conditions could be adversely effected, even
significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer securities or dividends to investors and cause the value of our
securities to significantly decline or become worthless. A Although the audit report included in our Annual Report for the fiscal year ended February
29, 2024 was prepared by an auditor who has been recently inspected by the PCAOB, if it is later determined that the PCAOB is unable to inspect or
investigate our auditor completely, we could be delisted if we are unable to meet the PCAOB inspection requirements established by the HFCAA. A
As a public company with securities listed on Nasdaq, we are required to have our financial statements audited by an independent registered public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB. A requirement of being registered with the PCAOB is that if requested by the SEC or PCAOB, such
accounting firm is required to make its audits and related audit work papers be subject to regular inspections to assess its compliance with the
applicable professional standards. Since our auditor is located in Hong Kong and PRC, a jurisdiction where the PCAOB has previously been unable to
conduct inspections without the approval of the PRC authorities due to various state secrecy laws and the revised Securities Law, the PCAOB did not
have free access to inspect the work of our auditor. This lack of access to the PCAOB inspection in the PRC prevents the PCAOB from fully evaluating
audits and quality control procedures of our auditor based in the PRC. As a result, the investors may be deprived of the benefits of such PCAOB
inspections. The inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of auditors in the PRC makes it more difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of these
accounting firmsa€™ audit procedures or quality control procedures as compared to auditors outside of the PRC that are subject to the PCAOB
inspections. A On December 18, 2020, the HFCAA was enacted. In essence, the act requires the SEC to prohibit securities of any foreign companies
from being listed on U.S. securities exchanges or traded d€oeover-the-countera€ if a company retains a foreign accounting firm that cannot be
inspected by the PCAOB for three consecutive years, beginning in 2021. Our independent registered public accounting firm is located in and
organized under the laws of Hong Kong and the PRC, a jurisdiction where the PCAOB is currently unable to conduct inspections without the approval
of the PRC authorities, and therefore our auditors are not currently inspected by the PCAOB. A On March 24, 2021, the SEC adopted interim final
amendments, which will become effective 30 days after publication in the Federal Register, relating to the implementation of certain disclosure and
documentation requirements of the HFCAA. The interim final amendments will apply to registrants that the SEC identifies as having filed an annual
report with an audit report issued by a registered public accounting firm that is located in a foreign jurisdiction and that the PCAOB has determined
it is unable to inspect or investigate completely because of a position taken by an authority in that jurisdiction. Before any registrant will be required
to comply with the interim final amendments, the SEC must implement a process for identifying such registrants. Consistent with the HFCAA, the
amendments will require any identified registrant to submit documentation to the SEC establishing that the registrant is not owned or controlled by a
government entity in that jurisdiction, and will also require, among other things, disclosure in the registranta€™s annual report regarding the audit
arrangements of, and government influence on, such registrant. A 69 A A On June 22, 2021, the U.S. Senate passed the AHFCAA wh1ch if enacted,
would decrease the number of non-inspection years from three years to two, thus reducing the time period before the Companya€™s securities may
be delisted or prohibited from trading. A On November 5, 2021, the SEC approved PCAOB Rule 6100, Board Determination Under the Holding
Foreign Companies Accountability Act, effective immediately. The rule establishes &€cea framework for the PCAOB&€™s determinations under the
HFCAA that the PCAOB is unable to inspect or investigate completely registered public accounting firms located in a foreign jurisdiction because of a
position taken by an authority in that jurisdiction.A€ A On December 2, 2021, SEC has announced the adoption of amendments to finalize rules
implementing the submission and disclosure requirements in the HFCAA. The rules apply to registrants the SEC identifies as having filed an annual
report with an audit report issued by a registered public accounting firm that is located in a foreign jurisdiction and that the PCAOB is unable to
inspect or investigate (&€ceCommission-Identified Issuersa€). The final amendments require Commission-Identified Issuers to submit documentation
to the SEC establishing that, if true, it is not owned or controlled by a governmental entity in the public accounting firma€™ s foreign jurisdiction. The
amendments also require that a Commission-Identified Issuer that is a &€oeforeign issuer,a€ as defined in Exchange Act Rule 3b-4, provide certain
additional disclosures in its annual report for itself and any of its consolidated foreign operating entities. Further, the adopting release provides
notice regarding the procedures the SEC has established to identify issuers and to impose trading prohibitions on the securities of certain
Commission-Identified Issuers, as required by the HFCAA. The SEC will identify Commission-Identified Issuers for fiscal years beginning after
December 18, 2020. A Commission-Identified Issuer will be required to comply with the submission and disclosure requirements in the annual report
for each year in which it was identified. If a registrant is identified as a Commission-Identified Issuer based on its annual report for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2021, the registrant will be required to comply with the submission or disclosure requirements in its annual report filing
covering the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. AA On December 16, 2021, PCAOB issued a report on its determinations that PCAOB is unable to
inspect or investigate completely PCAOB-registered public accounting firms headquartered in mainland China and in Hong Kong, a Special
Administrative Region of the PRC, because of positions taken by PRC authorities in those jurisdictions. The PCAOB made these determinations
pursuant to PCAOB Rule 6100, which provides a framework for how the PCAOB fulfils its responsibilities under the HFCAA. The report further listed
in its Appendix A and Appendix B, Registered Public Accounting Firms Subject to the Mainland China Determination and Registered Public
Accounting Firms Subject to the Hong Kong Determination, respectively. The audit report included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the years
ended February 28, 2023 and 2022, was issued by Centurion ZD CPA & Co., an audit firm headquartered in Hong Kong, a jurisdiction that the
PCAOB previously determined that the PCAOB is unable to conduct inspections or investigate auditors. However, on December 15, 2022, the PCAOB
determined that the PCAOB was able to secure complete access to inspect and investigate registered public accounting firms headquartered in



mainland China and Hong Kong and voted to vacate its previous determinations. Should the PRC authorities obstruct or otherwise fail to facilitate the
PCAOBA4£™s access in the future, the PCAOB will consider the need to issue a new determination. A In June 2022, we were identified as a
Commission-Identified Issuer on the SEC&€™s d€aeConclusive list of issuers identified under the HFCAA&€ (available atA https://www.sec.gov/hfcaa),
however, on September 10, 2024 we changed our auditor to CT International LLP based in San Francisco, CA, and, as a result, we do not expect to be
required to comply with the submission or disclosure requirements in our annual report covering the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025. As noted
above, on December 15, 2022, the PCAOB vacated its previous determinations that it is unable to inspect and investigate completely PCAOB-
registered public accounting firms headquartered in mainland China and Hong Kong. A 70 A A Under the HFCAA (as amended by the Consolidated
Appropriations Act, 2023), our securities may be prohibited from trading on the U.S. stock exchanges or in the over the counter trading market in the
U.S. if our auditor is not inspected by the PCAOB for two consecutive years, and this ultimately could result in our common stock being delisted. On
June 22, 2021, the U.S. Senate passed the AHFCAA, which was enacted under the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023, as further described below.
A On August 26, 2022, the PCAOB signed a Statement of Protocol with the China Securities Regulatory Commission and the Ministry of Finance of
the PRC, taking the first step toward opening access for the PCAOB to inspect and investigate registered public accounting firms headquartered in
mainland China and Hong Kong. The Statement of Protocol gives the PCAOB sole discretion to select the firms, audit engagements and potential
violations it inspects and investigates and put in place procedures for PCAOB inspectors and investigators to view complete audit work papers with
all information included and for the PCAOB to retain information as needed. In addition, the Statement of Protocol grants the PCAOB direct access to
interview and take testimony from all personnel associated with the audits the PCAOB inspects or investigates. While significant, the Statement of
Protocol is only a first step. Uncertainties still exist as to whether and how this new Statement of Protocol will be implemented. Notwithstanding the
signing of the Statement of Protocol, if the PCAOB cannot make a determination that it is able to inspect and investigate completely registered public
accounting firms headquartered in mainland China and Hong Kong, trading of our securities will still be prohibited under the HFCAA and Nasdaq
will determine to delist our securities. Therefore, there is no assurance that the Statement of Protocol will relieve us from the delisting risk under the
HFCAA. A On December 29, 2022, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023, was signed into law, which amended the HFCAA (i) to reduce the
number of consecutive years that would trigger delisting from three years to two years, and (ii) so that any foreign jurisdiction could be the reason
why the PCAOB does not to have complete access to inspect or investigate a companya€™s auditors. As it was originally enacted, the HFCAA applied
only if the PCAOB&€™ s inability to inspect or investigate because of a position taken by an authority in the foreign jurisdiction where the relevant
public accounting firm is located. As a result of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023, the HFCAA now also applies if the PCAOBa€™ s inability
to inspect or investigate the relevant accounting firm is due to a position taken by an authority in any foreign jurisdiction. The denying jurisdiction
does not need to be where the accounting firm is located. A The SEC may propose additional rules or guidance that could impact us if our auditor is
not subject to PCAOB inspection. For example, on November 6, 2020, the Presidenta€™s Working Group on Financial Markets issued the Report on
Protecting United States Investors from Significant Risks from Chinese Companies to the then President of the United States. This report
recommended that the SEC implement five recommendations to address companies from jurisdictions that do not provide the PCAOB with sufficient
access to fulfil its statutory mandate. Some of the concepts of these recommendations were implemented with the enactment of the HFCAA.
However, some of the recommendations were more stringent than the HFCAA. For example, if a company was not subject to PCAOB inspection, the
report recommended that the transition period before a company would be delisted would end on January 1, 2022. A The enactment of the HFCAA
and the implications of any additional rulemaking efforts to increase U.S. regulatory access to audit information in PRC could cause investor
uncertainty for affected SEC registrants, including us, and the market price of our common stock could be materially adversely affected. Additionally,
whether the PCAOB will be able to conduct inspections of our auditor in the next two years, or at all, is subject to substantial uncertainty and
depends on a number of factors out of our control. If we are unable to meet the PCAOB inspection requirement in time, our stock will not be
permitted for trading on Nasdaq Capital Market either. Such a delisting would substantially impair your ability to sell or purchase our stock when
you wish to do so, and the risk and uncertainty associated with delisting would have a negative impact on the price of our stock. Also, such a delisting
would significantly affect our ability to raise capital on terms acceptable to us, or at all, which would have a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition and prospects. A 71 A A ITEM 2 4€“ UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS A On October
11, 2024, we issued an aggregate of 1,095,000 shares of common stock at a price of $1.50 per share to 15 individuals due to the closing of our
private placement at $1.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,642,500. We relied upon the exemption from registration under the United
States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the &€eU.S. Securities Acta€), provided by Rule 903 of Regulation S promulgated under the U.S.
Securities Act for the issuance of the shares to the 15 individuals who were non-U.S. persons as the securities were issued to the individuals through
offshore transactions where were negotiated and consummated outside the United States. A In connection with the closing of the private placement,
we paid cash findera€™s fees of an aggregate of $158,000 to three individuals. A ITEM 3 4€“ DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES A None A
ITEM 4 4€“ MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES A Not applicable A ITEM 5 4€“ OTHER INFORMATION A A During our fiscal quarter ended November
30, 2024, none of our directors or executive officers adopted, modified or terminated any contract, instruction or written plan for the purchase or
sale of our securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) or any a€cenon-Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangementa€ as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K. A 72 A A ITEM 6 4€“ EXHIBITS A The following exhibits are included with this
Quarterly Report: A Exhibit Description of Exhibit A A 31.1(% Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 Rule 13a- 14(a) or 15d-14(a). A A 31.2(*) Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-14(a)
or 15d-14(a). A A 32.1(**) Certifications pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. A A 101.INS(*) XBRL Instance Document A A 101.SCH(*) XBRL Taxonomy
Extension Schema Document A A 101. CAL(*) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document A A 101. DEF(*) XBRL Taxonomy
Extension Definitions Linkbase Document A A 101.LAB(*) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document A A 101.PRE(*) XBRL Taxonomy
Extension Presentation Linkbase Document A A 104(*) Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101
attachments) A Notes: (*) Filed herewith (*¥) Furnished herewith A 73 A A SIGNATURES A Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized. A A FINGERMOTION, INC. A A Dated:A A January 14, 2025 By:A A /s/ Martin J. ShenA AA A Martin J. Shen, President, Chief
Executive Officer A (Principal Executive Officer) and Director A 74 A EX-31 2 fngr-20241130 10gex31z1.htm EX-31 Exhibit 31.1 A
CERTIFICATION A I, Martin J. Shen, certify that: A 1. I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of FingerMotion, Inc.; A 2. Based on my knowledge, this
report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; A 3. Based on my
knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; A 4. The registrant's other
certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a&€“15(e) and 15da€“15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a&€“15(f) and 15da€“15(f)) for the
registrant and have: A (a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; A (b)Designed such internal control over financial
reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; A (c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and A (d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and A 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s)
and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): A (a)All significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and A (b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. A Date: January 14, 2025 A /s/ Martin J.
Shen A Martin J. Shen, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) A A A EX-31 3 fngr-20241130 10gex31z2.htm EX-31 Exhibit 31.2 A
CERTIFICATION A I, Yew Hon Lee, certify that: A 1. I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of FingerMotion, Inc.; A 2. Based on my knowledge, this report
does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; A 3. Based on my
knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; A 4. The registrant's other
certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a&€“15(e) and 15da€“15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a&€“15(f) and 15da€“15(f)) for the
registrant and have: A (a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed



under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; A (b)Designed such internal control over financial
reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; A (c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and A (d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and A 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s)
and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): A (a)All significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and A (b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. A Date: January 14, 2025 A /s/ Yew Hon Lee
A Yew Hon Lee, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) A A A EX-32 4 fngr-20241130_10qex32z1.htm
EX-32 Exhibit 32.1 A CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002 A The undersigned, Martin Shen, the Chief Executive Officer of FingerMotion, Inc., and Yew Hon Lee, the Chief Financial
Officer of FingerMotion, Inc., each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that, to their knowledge, the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of FingerMotion, Inc. for the quarterly period ended November 30, 2024
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and that the information contained in the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of FingerMotion, Inc. A Date:
January 14, 2025 A /s/ Martin J. Shen A Martin J. Shen, Chief Executive Officer A (Principal Executive Officer) A A A /s/ Yew Hon Lee A Yew Hon
Lee, Chief Financial Officer A (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) A A A signed original of this written statement required
by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the
electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to FingerMotion, Inc. and will be retained by FingerMotion,
Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. A A A EX-101.SCH 5 fngr-20241130.xsd XBRL SCHEMA
FILE 00000001 - Document - Cover link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 00000002 - Statement - Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets (Unaudited) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 00000003 - Statement - Condensed Consolidated Balance
Sheets (Unaudited) (Parenthetical) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 00000004 - Statement - Unaudited Condensed
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Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 00000006 - Statement - Unaudited
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995512 - Disclosure - Nature of
Business and basis of Presentation link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995513 - Disclosure - Summary of Principal
Accounting Policies link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995514 - Disclosure - Going Concern link:presentationLink
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Disclosure - Earnings Per Share link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995524 - Disclosure - Income Taxes
link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995525 - Disclosure - Commitments and Contingencies link:presentationLink
link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995526 - Disclosure - Loan Payable - shareholders link:presentationLink link:calculationLink
link:definitionLink 995527 - Disclosure - Subsequent Events link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995528 - Disclosure -
Summary of Principal Accounting Policies (Policies) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995529 - Disclosure - Summary of
Principal Accounting Policies (Tables) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995530 - Disclosure - Revenue (Tables)
link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995531 - Disclosure - Equipment (Tables) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink
link:definitionLink 995532 - Disclosure - Intangible Assets (Tables) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995533 - Disclosure -
Prepayment and Deposit (Tables) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995534 - Disclosure - Other Receivables (Tables)
link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995535 - Disclosure - Right-of-use Asset and Lease Liability (Tables)
link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995536 - Disclosure - Common Stock (Tables) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink
link:definitionLink 995537 - Disclosure - Earnings Per Share (Tables) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995538 -
Disclosure - Income Taxes (Tables) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995539 - Disclosure - Nature of Business and basis of
Presentation (Details Narrative) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995540 - Disclosure - Summary of Principal Accounting
Policies (Details) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995541 - Disclosure - Summary of Principal Accounting Policies
(Details Narrative) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995542 - Disclosure - Going Concern (Details Narrative)
link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995543 - Disclosure - Revenue (Details) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink
link:definitionLink 995544 - Disclosure - Revenue (Details Narrative) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995545 -
Disclosure - Equipment (Details) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995546 - Disclosure - Equipment (Details Narrative)
link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995547 - Disclosure - Intangible Assets (Details) link:presentationLink
link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995548 - Disclosure - Intangible Assets (Details Narrative) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink
link:definitionLink 995549 - Disclosure - Prepayment and Deposit (Details) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995550 -
Disclosure - Other Receivables (Details) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995551 - Disclosure - Right-of-use Asset and
Lease Liability (Details) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995552 - Disclosure - Right-of-use Asset and Lease Liability
(Details 1) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995553 - Disclosure - Convertible Note Payable (Details Narrative)
link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995554 - Disclosure - Common Stock (Details) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink
link:definitionLink 995555 - Disclosure - Common Stock (Details 1) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995556 - Disclosure -
Common Stock (Details 2) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995557 - Disclosure - Common Stock (Details 3)
link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995558 - Disclosure - Common Stock (Details 4) link:presentationLink
link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995559 - Disclosure - Common Stock (Details 5) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink
995560 - Disclosure - Common Stock (Details 6) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995561 - Disclosure - Common Stock
(Details 7) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995562 - Disclosure - Common Stock (Details Narrative)
link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995563 - Disclosure - Earnings Per Share (Details) link:presentationLink
link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995564 - Disclosure - Income Taxes (Details) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink
995565 - Disclosure - Income Taxes (Details 1) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995566 - Disclosure - Income Taxes
(Details Narrative) link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995567 - Disclosure - Loan Payable - shareholders (Details Narrative)
link:presentationLink link:calculationLink link:definitionLink 995568 - Disclosure - Subsequent Events (Details Narrative) link:presentationLink
link:calculationLink link:definitionLink EX-101.CAL 6 fngr-20241130_cal.xml XBRL CALCULATION FILE EX-101.DEF 7 fngr-20241130_def.xml XBRL
DEFINITION FILE EX-101.LAB 8 fngr-20241130 lab.xml XBRL LABEL FILE Equity Components [Axis] Common Stock [Member] Additional Paid-in
Capital [Member] Additional Paidin Capital Stock [Member] Retained Earnings [Member] AOCI Attributable to Parent [Member] Stockholders Equity
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Company Report Document Shell Company Event Date Document Period Start Date Document Period End Date Document Fiscal Period Focus
Document Fiscal Year Focus Current Fiscal Year End Date Entity File Number Entity Registrant Name Entity Central Index Key Entity Primary SIC
Number Entity Tax Identification Number Entity Incorporation, State or Country Code Entity Address, Address Line One Entity Address, Address
Line Two Entity Address, Address Line Three Entity Address, City or Town Entity Address, State or Province Entity Address, Country Entity Address,
Postal Zip Code Country Region City Area Code Local Phone Number Extension Written Communications Soliciting Material Pre-commencement
Tender Offer Pre-commencement Issuer Tender Offer Title of 12(b) Security No Trading Symbol Flag Trading Symbol Security Exchange Name Title
of 12(g) Security Security Reporting Obligation Annual Information Form Audited Annual Financial Statements Entity Well-known Seasoned Issuer
Entity Voluntary Filers Entity Current Reporting Status Entity Interactive Data Current Entity Filer Category Entity Small Business Entity Emerging
Growth Company Elected Not To Use the Extended Transition Period Document Accounting Standard Other Reporting Standard Item Number Entity
Shell Company Entity Public Float Entity Bankruptcy Proceedings, Reporting Current Entity Common Stock, Shares Outstanding Documents
Incorporated by Reference [Text Block] Statement of Financial Position [Abstract] ASSETS Current Assets Cash and cash equivalents Accounts
receivable Inventories Prepayment and deposit Other receivables A Total Current Assets Non-current Assets Equipment Intangible assets Right-of-
use asset A Total Non-Current Assets TOTAL ASSETS LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERA€™ S DEFICIT Current Liabilities Accounts payable Accrual
and other payables Loan payable - shareholders Lease liability, current portion TotalA Current Liabilities Non-current Liabilities Lease liability, non-
current portion TotalA Non-Current Liabilities TOTAL LIABILITIES SHAREHOLDERSA€™ EQUITY Preferred stock, par value $.0001 per share;
Authorized 1,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding -0- shares. Common Stock, par value $.0001 per share; Authorized 200,000,000 shares; issued
and outstanding 53,807,850 shares and 52,545,350 issued and outstanding at November 30, 2024A and February 29, 2024 respectively Additional
paid-in capital Additional paid-in capital - stock options Accumulated deficit Accumulated other comprehensive income Stockholdersa€™ equity
before non-controlling interests Non-controlling interests TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS&€™ EQUITY TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS&€™
EQUITY Preferred stock, par value Preferred stock, shares authorized Preferred stock, shares issued Preferred stock, shares outstanding Common
stock, par value Common stock, shares authorized Common stock, shares issued Common stock, shares outstanding Income Statement [Abstract]
Revenue Cost of revenue Gross profit Amortization & depreciation General & administrative expenses Marketing cost Research & development Stock
compensation expenses Total operating expenses Net loss from operations Other income (expense): Interest income Interest expense Exchange gain
(loss) Other income Total other income (expense) Net loss before income tax Income tax expenses Net loss Less: Net profit (loss) attributable to the
non-controlling interest Net loss attributable to the Companya€™s shareholders Other comprehensive income: Foreign currency translation
adjustments Comprehensive loss Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest Comprehensive loss attributable to the Company
NET PROFIT (LOSS) PER SHARE Loss Per Share - Basic Loss Per Share - Diluted NET PROFIT (LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
COMPANY Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding - Basic Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding - Diluted Statement [Table]
Statement [Line Items] Beginning balance, value Beginning balance, shares Common stock issued for cash Common stock issued for cash, shares
Common stock issued for professional service Common stock issued for professional service, shares Deemed net-stock exercise of options Deemed
net-stock exercise of options, shares Cashless exercise of warrants Cashless exercise of warrants, shares Execution of convertible notes Execution of
convertible notes, shares Additional paid-in capital 4€“ stock options Accumulated other comprehensive income Net loss Balance at November, 2023
Ending balance, shares Statement of Cash Flows [Abstract] Net loss Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities: Share based compensation expenses Amortization and depreciation Change in operating assets and liabilities: (Increase) decrease in
accounts receivable (Increase) decrease in prepayment and deposit (Increase) decrease in other receivables (Increase) decrease in inventories
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable Increase (decrease) in accrual and other payables Increase (decrease) in due to lease liability Net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities Cash flows from investing activities Purchase of equipment Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities Cash flows from financing activities Proceed from loan payable Repayment of convertible note Common stock issued for cash Net cash
provided by (used in) financing activities Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents Net change in cash Cash at beginning of period Cash
at end of period Major non-cash transactions: Conversion of loan payables to shares Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information: Interest paid
Taxes paid Pay vs Performance Disclosure [Table] Executive Category [Axis] Individual [Axis] Adjustment to Compensation [Axis] Measure [Axis] Pay
vs Performance Disclosure, Table Company Selected Measure Name Named Executive Officers, Footnote Peer Group Issuers, Footnote Changed Peer
Group, Footnote PEO Total Compensation Amount PEO Actually Paid Compensation Amount Adjustment To PEO Compensation, Footnote Non-PEO
NEO Average Total Compensation Amount Non-PEO NEO Average Compensation Actually Paid Amount Adjustment to Non-PEO NEO Compensation
Footnote Equity Valuation Assumption Difference, Footnote Compensation Actually Paid vs. Total Shareholder Return Compensation Actually Paid vs.
Net Income Compensation Actually Paid vs. Company Selected Measure Total Shareholder Return Vs Peer Group Compensation Actually Paid vs.
Other Measure Tabular List, Table Total Shareholder Return Amount Peer Group Total Shareholder Return Amount Net Income (Loss) Company
Selected Measure Amount Other Performance Measure, Amount Adjustment to Compensation, Amount PEO Name Name Non-GAAP Measure
Description Additional 402(v) Disclosure Pension Benefits Adjustments, Footnote Erroneously Awarded Compensation Recovery [Table] Restatement
Determination Date [Axis] Restatement Determination Date Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Amount Erroneous Compensation Analysis Stock
Price or TSR Estimation Method Outstanding Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Amount Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Not Yet Determined
Name Forgone Recovery due to Expense of Enforcement, Amount Forgone Recovery due to Violation of Home Country Law, Amount Forgone
Recovery due to Disqualification of Tax Benefits, Amount Forgone Recovery, Explanation of Impracticability Name Compensation Amount
Restatement does not require Recovery Awards Close in Time to MNPI Disclosures [Table] Award Timing MNPI Disclosure Award Timing Method
Award Timing Predetermined Award Timing MNPI Considered Award Timing, How MNPI Considered MNPI Disclosure Timed for Compensation
Value Awards Close in Time to MNPI Disclosures, Table Name Underlying Securities Exercise Price Fair Value as of Grant Date Underlying Security
Market Price Change Insider Trading Arrangements [Line Items] Material Terms of Trading Arrangement Name Title Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement
Adopted Non-Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Adopted Adoption Date Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Terminated Non-Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Terminated
Termination Date Expiration Date Arrangement Duration Insider Trading Policies and Procedures [Line Items] Insider Trading Policies and
Procedures Adopted Insider Trading Policies and Procedures Not Adopted Organization, Consolidation and Presentation of Financial Statements
[Abstract] Nature of Business and basis of Presentation Accounting Policies [Abstract] Summary of Principal Accounting Policies Going Concern
Revenue from Contract with Customer [Abstract] Revenue Property, Plant and Equipment [Abstract] Equipment Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Disclosure [Abstract] Intangible Assets Prepayment And Deposit Prepayment and Deposit Other Receivables Other Receivables Right-of-use Asset
And Lease Liability Right-of-use Asset and Lease Liability Debt Disclosure [Abstract] Convertible Note Payable Equity [Abstract] Common Stock
Earnings Per Share [Abstract] Earnings Per Share Income Tax Disclosure [Abstract] Income Taxes Commitments and Contingencies Disclosure
[Abstract] Commitments and Contingencies Loan Payable - Shareholders Loan Payable - shareholders Subsequent Events [Abstract] Subsequent
Events Principles of Consolidation and Presentation Variable interest entity Use of Estimates Certain Risks and Uncertainties Identifiable Intangible
Assets Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Risk Lease Cash and Cash Equivalents Property and Equipment
Earnings Per Share Revenue Recognition Income Taxes Non-controlling interest Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Schedule of variable
interest entity Schedule of revenue Schedule of property, plant and equipment Schedule of intangible assets Schedule of prepaid expense Schedule of
other receivables Schedule of operating leases assets and liabilities Schedule of future minimum lease payments due Schedule of outstanding share
purchase warrants Schedule of share purchase warrants outstanding and exercisable Schedule of valuation assumptions Schedule of stock option
activity Schedule of number of issued shares and cash received upon exercise of stock options Schedule of unvested restricted stock Schedule of
stock options Schedule of basic and diluted earnings per common share Schedule of effective income tax rate reconciliation Schedule of deferred tax
assets and liabilities Restructuring Cost [Table] Restructuring Cost and Reserve [Line Items] Shares issued Current assets Non-current assets Total
assets Current liabilities Non-current liabilities Total liabilities Revenue Gross profit Amortization and depreciation General and administrative
expenses Total operating expenses Net profit (loss) from operations Total other income Tax expense Net profit (loss) Property, Plant and Equipment
[Table] Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items] Identifiable intangible assets, useful life Accumulated Deficit Net Loss Disaggregation of Revenue
[Table] Disaggregation of Revenue [Line Items] Revenues Equipment Less: accumulated depreciation Net equipment Depreciation Gross intangible
assets Less: accumulated amortization Impairment of intangible assets Net intangible assets Amortization expense Deposit Prepayment Advances to
suppliers Security deposit Others Other receivablesA Right-of-use asset, net Current lease liability Non-current lease liability Total lease liability
Weighted-average remaining lease term Weighted-average discount rate 2024 Thereafter Less: imputed interest Operating Lease, Liability
Convertible note payable Accruing interest, percentage Conversion rate Common Stock per share Repayment of notes payable Offsetting Assets
[Table] Offsetting Assets [Line Items] Number of warrants outstanding, beginning balance Weighted average exercise price, beginning balance
Number of warrants exercised Weighted average exercise price, warrant exercised Number of warrants outstanding, expired Weighted average
exercise price, expired Number of warrants exercised Weighted average exercise price, warrant exercised Number of warrants, expired Weighted
average exercise price, expired Number of warrants cashless exercised Weighted Average exercise price, number of cashless exercised Number of
warrants expired Weighted average exercise price, expired Number of warrants outstanding, ending balance Weighted average exercise price,
ending balance Exercise Price Number of warrants outstanding Remaining contractual term Warrant expiry date Expected Risk Free Interest Rate
Expected Volatility Expected Life in Years Expected Dividend Yield Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair Value Number of stock options, beginning
balance Stock options exercise Price, beginning balance Number of stock options, cancelled/forfeited Stock options exercise Price, cancelled/forfeited
Number of stock options, ending balance Stock options exercise price, ending balance Number of Options Exercised on Forfeiture Basis Number of
Options Exercised on Cash Basis Total Number of Options Exercised Number of Shares Issued on Cash Exercise Number of Shares Issued on



Forfeiture Basis Total Number of Shares Issued Upon Exercise of Options Cash Received from Exercise of Stock Options Total Intrinsic Value of
Options Exercised Number of unvested stock option, beginning balance Unvested stock option,weighted average exercise price, beginning balance
Number of unvested stock option, vested Unvested stock option, weighted average exercise price, vested Number of unvested stock option, ending
balance Unvested stock option,weighted average exercise price, ending balance Number of options outstanding, range of exercise prices Number of
options outstanding Number of options outstanding, exercise prices Number of options outstanding, weighted average remaining contractual term
Number of options exercisable Number of options exercisable, exercise prices Number of options exercisable, weighted average remaining
contractual term Share price Converted amount Stock options, exercised Common Stock, Shares Issued Stock options, forfeiture Number of share
purchased Gross proceeds from private placement Cash finder's fees Common Stock, Shares Outstanding Stock purchase warrant Proceeds from
warrants Warrant on the cashless exercise basis Stock option, granted Stock option exercise price, granted Intrinsic value of outstanding stock
options granted Net Loss Weighted average number of common shares outstanding &€”basic Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding &€”diluted Loss per common share &€” basic Loss per common share a€” diluted U.S. statutory tax rate Foreign income not registered in
the U.S. PRC profit tax rate Changes in valuation allowance and others Effective tax rate Deferred tax asset from operating losses carry-forwards
Valuation allowance Deferred tax asset, net Effective Income Tax Rate Reconciliation [Table] Effective Income Tax Rate Reconciliation [Line Items]
Deferred tax asset Valuation allowance Loan agreement description Purchase agreement description Exercise price Placement agency agreement
Net proceeds from offering Equity, Attributable to Parent Equity, Including Portion Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest Liabilities and Equity Cost
of Revenue Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization, Nonproduction General and Administrative Expense MarketingCost Research and
Development Expense Employee Benefits and Share-Based Compensation Interest Expense, Nonoperating Nonoperating Income (Expense) Income
(Loss) from Continuing Operations before Income Taxes, Noncontrolling Interest Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Tax Comprehensive Income
(Loss), Net of Tax, Attributable to Parent Shares, Outstanding Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax, Portion Attributable to Parent
Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Receivable Increase (Decrease) in Prepaid Expense Increase (Decrease) in Other Receivables Increase (Decrease) in
Inventories Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities Payments to Acquire Property, Plant, and Equipment Net Cash Provided by (Used in)
Investing Activities Repayments of Convertible Debt Proceeds from Issuance of Common Stock Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents, Period Increase (Decrease), Including Exchange Rate Effect Cash, Cash
Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents Forgone Recovery, Individual Name Outstanding Recovery, Individual Name Awards
Close in Time to MNPI Disclosures, Individual Name Trading Arrangement, Individual Name Revenue from Contract with Customer [Text Block]
Property, Plant and Equipment Disclosure [Text Block] OtherReceivablesTextBlock Earnings Per Share, Policy [Policy Text Block] Income Tax, Policy
[Policy Text Block] Revenue from Contract with Customer, Including Assessed Tax Property, Plant and Equipment, Gross Accumulated Depreciation,
Depletion and Amortization, Property, Plant, and Equipment Impairment of Intangible Assets (Excluding Goodwill) Other Receivables [Default Label]
Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Forfeited in Period
WeightedAverageExercisePriceWarrantExercised WeightedAverageExercisePriceExpired WeightedAverageExercisesPriceExpired Share-Based
Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding, Number Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-
Based Payment Award, Options, Nonvested, Number of Shares Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Option,
Nonvested, Weighted Average Exercise Price Deferred Tax Assets, Net of Valuation Allowance EX-101.PRE 9 fngr-20241130 pre.xml XBRL
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